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2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 

The Issuer was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on May 4, 2011 

under the name “Asante Gold Corporation”. 

 

The Issuer’s head office is located at 206 - 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia., V6C 2T5, 

and it’s registered and records office is located at 10th Floor, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, British 

Columbia, V6C 2T5. 

 

The Issuer has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Asante Gold Corporation (GH) Limited  (“Asante Barbados”), 

incorporated in Barbados, which in turn has a wholly-owned subsidiary, ASG Mining Limited (“ASG”), 

incorporated in the Republic of Ghana. 
 

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

Property Acquisitions  

 

Since its incorporation, the Issuer has focused on acquiring prospecting and mining rights in the Ashanti 

and Central Regions in the Republic of Ghana, West Africa, and a royalty interest in a property in British 

Columbia, Canada. 

Initial TSXV Listing Property – Fahiakoba Concession 

On June 15, 2011, the Issuer negotiated an option to acquire a 100% legal and beneficial ownership 

interest in a prospecting licence in a concession near Fahiakoba, in the Amansie Central District of the 

Ashanti Region and the Upper Denkyira East District of the Central Region, in the Republic of Ghana (the 

“Fahiakoba Concession”), pursuant to the terms of a Purchase Agreement between the Issuer and Goknet 

Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) of Accra, Ghana. The rights under the prospecting licence are 

limited to the exploration of gold. To purchase the Fahiakoba Concession from Goknet, the Issuer paid 

Goknet the aggregate sum of $50,630 representing Goknet’s prior expenditures on the Fahiakoba 

Concession and agreed to incur exploration expenditures of US$200,000 per year for a period of five 

years from June 15, 2011. The Issuer has earned its interest in the Fahiakoba Concession by spending the 

required funds as of the date of this Listing Statement.  The Issuer also granted Goknet a 3% net smelter 

return royalty on production from the Fahiakoba Concession. Net smelter returns means the actual 

proceeds received by the Issuer from a smelter or other place of sale or treatment in respect of all ore 

produced by the Issuer from the Fahiakoba Concession as evidenced by its returns or settlement sheets 

after deducting from the said proceeds all freight or other transportation costs from the Fahiakoba 

Concession, to the smelter or other place of sale or treatment, but without any other deduction whatsoever. 

Goknet is non arm’s length to the Issuer: Douglas MacQuarrie, the President, Chief Executive Officer and 

a director of the Issuer, is a director of Goknet; MIA Investments Ltd., a company owned by the 

MacQuarrie Family Trust, owns 21.5% of the shares of Goknet; the trustees of the MacQuarrie Family 

Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and Roberta MacQuarrie; Roberta MacQuarrie owns 0.06% of the shares 

of Goknet.  Refer to “Risk Factors” in this Listing Statement. 

The Fahiakoba Concession is also subject to a 5% royalty payable to the Republic of Ghana. 

Royalty Acquisition – NSS Resources Inc. - Seneca Property 

On June 10, 2014 the Issuer announced the acquisition of a 2% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”) on the 

Seneca 1 to 9 claims located near Harrison Mills, British Columbia, Canada.  The royalty was obtained 
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from NSS Resources Inc., a public company trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) 

symbol “NSS”.  The royalty was paid to the Issuer as a finders’ fee for introducing the acquisition of the 

Seneca claims to NSS.  The Issuer and NSS have two common directors. 

Option Agreement – Kubi Gold Project, Ghana 

On March 3
rd

, 2015 the Issuer announced that effective February 28th, 2015 it had entered into a 

Definitive Option Agreement with Goknet to earn up to 100% of Goknets’ interest in the Kubi Gold 

Project in Ghana.  Conditional TSX Venture Exchange approval for the transaction was received on 

February 4, 2015. 

Closing has not yet occurred. Closing means a date within five business days after final acceptance of the 

Option Agreement by the TSX Venture Exchange or in the event the Issuer’s shares cease to be listed on 

the TSX Venture Exchange prior to the acceptance of the Option Agreement by the TSX Venture 

Exchange such date as the Issuer may elect.  In the event final acceptance of the Option Agreement is not 

received by April 30, 2015, or extended, either the Issuer or Goknet may terminate the Option Agreement. 

 

The Issuer and Goknet plan on jointly developing Kubi as a custom milling and direct shipping operation 

as it is located near major mining and milling infrastructure between AngloGold Ashanti’s 60 million 

ounce* Obuasi Gold Mine and Perseus Mining Limited’s 6.6 million ounce* Edikan Gold Mine (* pre-

mining resource, source: company annual reports). 

The terms of the Definitive Option Agreement are:  

• to earn a 50% interest in Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited  (“KGBL”) a corporation incorporated 

under the laws of Barbados and owned by Goknet, and which through KGBL’s Ghana registered 

branch owns the Kubi Mining Leases, by issuing to Goknet 2 million shares in the capital stock of 

the Issuer; 

• the Issuer to fund KGBL with US$ 2 million within 4 months of closing;  and provide total 

funding of US$ 15 million within 2 years of closing; 

• the Issuer retains the option for one year to increase its interest to 75% of KGBL by issuing to 

Goknet either 10 million shares in the capital stock of the Issuer or paying the greater of  US$10 

million or the cash value of 8,000 troy ounces of gold; 

• the Issuer retains a second option for a further year to increase to 100% of KGBL by issuing to 

Goknet an additional 5 million shares in the capital stock of the Issuer and by granting to Goknet 

a 2% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”), with annual advance NSR payments of US$50,000 

(deductible against future NSR payments); 

• Royal Gold, Inc. of Denver, USA, holds a 3% Net Proceeds of Production royalty, and the Ghana 

Government a statutory 10% free carried equity and 5% NSR royalty interests; 

• The property, in addition to the Kubi Mining Leases, include Goknets rights to ~39 sq km of 

additional adjacent property consisting of the Gyimigya and Dunkwa-Gyimigya prospecting 

licenses which are currently in the process of being transferred to Goknet from a third party, 

subject to the consent of the Minister of Lands, Forestry and Mines; 

• Goknet is non arm’s length to the Issuer: Douglas MacQuarrie, the President, Chief Executive 

Officer and a director of the Issuer, is a director of Goknet; MIA Investments Ltd., a company 

owned by the MacQuarrie Family Trust, owns 21.5% of the shares of Goknet; the trustees of the 

MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and Roberta MacQuarrie; Roberta 

MacQuarrie owns 0.06% of the shares of Goknet.  Refer to “Risk Factors” in this Listing 
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Statement. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 

The Issuer is a mineral exploration company. Its principal activities consist of evaluating, acquiring, 

exploring and developing mining properties in the Republic of Ghana. The Issuer has conducted 

exploration programs on the Fahiakoba Concession in the Ashanti and Central Regions of Ghana. 

Exploration consisted of 5,000 metres of dominantly diamond drilling, concentrated on conductive shear 

zones, anomalous soil and auger geochemical and ground geophysical results on the Fahiakoba 

Concession. 

 

PRINCIPAL PROJECT: Kubi Gold Project, Ghana, West Africa (“Kubi” or the “Project”)  

The Issuer entered into a Definitive Option Agreement with Goknet, to further develop Goknets Kubi 

Gold Project.  Goknet owns 100% of the share capital of Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited (“KGBL”), a 

Barbados incorporated company, which in turn through its Ghana registered branch Kubi Gold 

(Barbados) Limited (“KGBL GH”, formerly known as Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Limited),  owns the 

Kubi Mining Lease. 

The Kubi mining lease covers an area of 19.16 sq km and expires in September 2028, unless extended 

under the terms of the lease.  The leases are subject to a 5% net smelter returns royalty (“NSR”) to the 

Government of Ghana, and a 3% net proceeds of production (“NPP”) royalty to Royal Gold, Inc. of 

Denver.  

Kubi will be developed jointly by Asante and Goknet as shareholders of KGBL, which will operate the 

Project.  Subject to final closing and Asante providing the funding detailed in item 2 of this Listing 

Statement,  Asante will own 50% of the shares of KGBL, and through options, may increase its 

ownership in KGBL to 100%. In the event Asantes options are fully executed, Goknets interest would 

drop to a 2% NSR royalty interest. 

The Project is located a 15 minute drive north of the town of Dunkwa, a main regional supply centre, and 

15 km south and along strike from AngloGold Ashanti’s 60 million ounce* Obuasi Gold Mine, one of the 

World’s greatest orebodies and a major mining centre for more than 115 years.  Kubi also lies 23 km to 

the northeast of Perseus Mining Limited’s 6.6 million ounce* Edikan Gold Mine (* pre-mining, source: 

company annual reports).  In addition to the Kubi Mining Lease, the Project also include two adjoining 

prospecting licenses totaling 39 sq km which are currently being transferred to Goknet from a third party, 

subject to the consent of the Minister of Lands, Forestry and Mines.  

Asante estimates that over US$30million in exploration and development work has occurred at Kubi since 

the mid 1980’s, with 197,857 metres of drilling in 7,063 drill holes completed: 

  

 first worked by artisanal miners driving adits on high grade quartz reefs in the 1920’s; 

 BHP (now BHP Billiton) in 1988 completed major regional soil sampling and drilled 12 

discovery DDH holes on artisanal workings, totalling 1,695 metres;  

 optioned to Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Nevsun Resources 

Ltd. of Canada) in 1993, and by 1998 completed 68,339 metres of drilling in 218 DDH holes, 

19,274 metres of RC drilling in 229 holes, and 14,296 metres of RAB drilling in 499 holes, 

outlining the Kubi Main deposit and several other showings;  

 leased to and mined by Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited (now AngloGold Ashanti) to 2006 

recovering 58,696 ounces of gold at 3.65g/t from two small open pits. Ashanti completed 46,263 

metres of grade control drilling in 3,266 holes, and 2,017 metres in 29 RC holes;  
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 the open cut pits were partially backfilled (a US$1.5 million provision for future site 

rehabilitation has been provided for in the 30 June 2014 KGBL GH financial statements), and 

mining leases returned to KGBL (formerly Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Limited). The property 

was then sold to PMI Gold Corporation (“PMI Gold”) in 2007 who completed preliminary 

scoping studies, air and ground geophysics and 11,174 metres of DDH in 77 holes, 24,779 metres 

in 549 aircore holes, and 10,021 metres in 2,184 auger holes. In 2009 the “513 zone” was 

discovered 1.2 kilometre west of the Kubi Main deposit;  

 acquired 100% by Goknet in September 2014 as part of an arbitration settlement with PMI Gold. 

 

A NI 43-101 mineral resource estimate for the Kubi Main gold deposit, commissioned by Goknet and 

dated October 20, 2014 was completed by SEMS Exploration Services Ltd. of Accra, Ghana, (“SEMS”) 

and is filed on SEDAR: Measured Resources 0.66 million tonnes @ 5.30g/t for 112,000 ounces; Indicated 

Resources 0.66 million tonnes @ 5.65g/t for 121,000 ounces; and Inferred Resources 0.67 million tonnes 

@ 5.31g/t for 115,000 ounces. 

KGBL GH will focus over the next year on permitting, engineering, portal construction and driving a 4 x 

5 metre exploration decline to circa the -180 metre level for resource definition drilling, bulk sampling 

and test mining. In particular, high grade (+8g/t gold) steeply plunging gold mineralized shoots indicated 

from previous drilling will be targeted for early development. Current plans are to develop Kubi as a 

direct shipping and toll milling operation. 

In order to earn its’ initial 50% Asante must issue to Goknet 2 million shares in the capital stock of 

Asante and fund KGBL with US$ 2 million within 4 months of closing, and provide total funding of US$ 

15 million within 2 years.  Any shares issued by Asante for property will be subject to a 4 month and one 

day hold period. 

After Asante has earned 50% of KGBL, it retains the option for one year to increase its interest to 75% by 

issuing to Goknet 10 million shares of the capital stock of Asante or the greater of either US$10 million 

(or the cash value of 8,000 troy ounces of gold); and after earning 75%, the option for a further year to 

increase to 100% by issuing to Goknet an additional 5 million shares in the capital stock of Asante and by 

granting to Goknet a 2% NSR royalty. 

Asante is currently sourcing the required funding primarily through project debt financing.  

Mineral exploration and development of mining properties and royalties are anticipated to constitute the 

principal business of the Issuer for the coming years. In the course of realizing its objectives, it is 

expected the Issuer will enter into various agreements specific to the mining industry, such as purchase or 

option agreements to purchase mining claims and joint venture agreements. 

 

Significant Events or Milestones 

 

In order to achieve the foregoing business objectives, the milestones that the Issuer must achieve and 

expected timelines and preliminary estimated costs to achieve them are as follows: 
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Milestone Timing Estimated Cost to 

Complete ($CAD) 

Enter into a toll milling contract for Kubi 2
nd

 Qtr 2015 NA 

Complete a working capital $2 million and $24 

million funding for Kubi development including 

financing fees and pre-paid expenses 

2
nd

 Qtr 2015 $1,000,000 

Complete Pre-Feasibility Study, obtain permits for 

Portal and Exploration Decline, mill testwork 

3
rd

 Qtr 2015 $1,000,000 

EPA Reclamation Bond  2
nd

 Qtr 2015 $600,000 

Complete Portal, commence decline construction 3
rd

 Qtr 2015 $1,000,000 

Commence surface works, road rehab, mine 

support buildings, water supply, mains power, 

social licence expenditures 

3
rd

 Qtr 2015 $2,000,000 

Complete decline, drill bays, ventilation raises 3
rd

 Qtr 2016 $10,000,000 

Underground resource and reserve upgrade drilling 3
rd

 Qtr 2016 $2,000,000 

Underground development, stope preparation 4
th
 Qtr 2016 $2,000,000 

Complete surface works, coarse ore bin, 2 stage 

crushing, materials handling, sampling and truck 

loading facility 

4
th
 Qtr 2016 $1,500,000 

Contingency @10%  $2,100,000 

Total  $23,200,000 

 

 

Total Funds Available, Breakdown of Funds and Principal Purposes of Use 

As at October 31, 2014, the Issuer had a working capital deficit of $1,589,309 and a cash balance of 

$12,945. This deficit was principally made up of amounts due to related parties which were subsequently 

converted to long term loans. As at the date of this listing statement, approximately $1.8m is held in long 

term loans and working capital is $50,000. 

As detailed below, the Company intends to secure through project financing and an equity raise the 

capital required to exercise an option to acquire an interest in the Kubi Gold project and to advance Kubi 

to production. 

 

Principal Purposes 

 

Following are estimates of cash usage for a 12-month period as of the date of this Listing Statement: 

 

Description: ($) 

Professional, regulatory, transfer agent and shareholder fees  $100,000 

Office, rent and administration, travel and promotional expenses  $175,000 

Consulting and management fees $360,000 
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Mineral exploration expenditures $16,000,000 

Legal, accounting (audit) $80,000 

CSE Maintenance Fees $6,000 

Operation of the mineral exploration, utilities, security, insurance, 

labour. 

$400,000 

Total $17,121,000 

 

The Issuer plans to raise up to an additional $2,000,000 through the sale of new common shares, and up 

to $24,000,000 through a project secured line of credit or debt facility, subject to the filing of this Listing 

Statement. There cannot be any assurances that the Issuer will be able to raise such additional capital at 

all, or on terms that are satisfactory to management. 

 

MINERAL PROJECTS 

 

Principal Project 

 

The Issuer’s principal project is the Kubi Gold underground mine development project in the Republic of 

Ghana. 

 

The following project description is derived from the t echnical Report on the Kubi  mining leases 

and the Dunkwa Gyimigya and Gyimigya Concessions, entitled “Kubi Gold Project, Ashanti 

Region, Ghana, West Africa, NI 43-101 Technical Report, October 20
th
 2014, by SEMS Exploration 

Services”. The Technical Report was prepared by Simon Meadows Smith, IMMM, who is a qualified 

person for the purpose of National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. The 

Technical Report is available for review under Asante's profile on the SEDAR website at 

www.sedar.com. The entire Technical Report is incorporated by reference into this listing statement. 

The following sections are derived from the Technical Report, updated to the date of this listing 

statement. Readers are encouraged to review the Technical Report. 

 

“The Republic of Ghana, formerly known as the Gold Coast, is located in West Africa immediately north 

of the equator and on the Greenwich meridian. Ghana shares borders with Côte d’Ivoire to the west, 

Togo to the east and Burkina Faso (Burkina, formerly Upper Volta) to the north. To the south are the 

Gulf of Guinea and the Atlantic Ocean. The Republic of Ghana has a total land area of approximately 

239,540 sq km or approximately 23,954,000 hectares. Ghana’s capital city, Accra, is located along the 

south-eastern coast. 

 

In 1957, Ghana was the first country in sub-Saharan Africa to gain independence from the United 

Kingdom. Following a national referendum in July, 1960, Ghana became a republic. Ghana has a 

population of approximately 24 million people, most of whom are English-speaking. 

 

Mineral Rights and Mining in Ghana 

 

The right to explore for minerals and to develop a mine are regulated by the Minister of Lands Forestry 

and Mines (the “Minister”) through the Ghana Minerals Commission (“Mincom”), a governmental 

organization designed to regulate and manage the development of Ghana’s minerals in accordance with 

the Ghana Constitution and the Mining Act (Ghana). 

 

In Ghana, all minerals occurring in the natural state are the property of the Government of Ghana. 

Obtaining a mining lease does not transfer ownership of the mineral estate, but creates a temporary right 

http://www.sedar.com/
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to explore and benefit from minerals in exchange for royalty payments so long as the mining title remains 

in good standing. 

  

Under the laws of Ghana, mining may only be carried out by bodies corporate or partnerships registered 

or established under the laws of Ghana. There are three types of mineral rights in Ghana that are granted 

and registered by the Government of Ghana, being reconnaissance licenses; prospecting licenses (to 

carry out exploration work); and mining leases. These rights are acquired by making an application to 

the Minister through Mincom.  Under the Mining Act (Ghana), the grant of these rights is discretionary, 

however, in practice applications are generally considered on a first-come-first-serve basis. 

 

The holder of a reconnaissance license has the exclusive right to carry out reconnaissance for the 

minerals specified in the license and to conduct other ancillary or incidental activity within the area 

covered by the license. The holder of a reconnaissance license also has the right to install camps and 

temporary buildings, but is not permitted to engage in drilling or excavation. 

 

A prospecting license grants the exclusive right to explore for a particular mineral in a selected area for 

an initial period not exceeding three years (“Prospecting License”). A Prospecting License may be 

renewed for a further period of up to three years at a time, subject to the requirement of 50% shed-off or 

surrender of the licensed area at the time of each renewal/extension until such time as a minimum of 125 

blocks (26 sq km) remains. There is no statutory limit on the number of times a Prospecting License may 

be renewed/extended.  

 

The holder of a Prospecting License (“PL Holder”) has the right to make boreholes and excavations, 

install camps and conduct other incidental activities. The PL Holder also has the right to conduct such 

geographic and geophysical investigations in the licensed area as it considers necessary to confirm the 

existence of an adequate quantity of geologically proven and mineable reserve of precious metals. The 

holder of a Prospecting License is required to commence prospecting activities within three months of 

issue of the license. The terms and conditions of a Prospecting License include marking out the 

prospecting area in a prescribed manner, advising Mincom of any discovery within 30 days of the date of 

discovery, expending the amount specified in the license and submitting reports as and when specified, 

repairing any damage caused by its activities (including removing camps), and employing and training 

Ghanaian personnel. 

 

The rights granted by a Prospecting License are subject to certain restrictions imposed by land owner 

rights including cattle grazing and land cultivation. The PL Holder must not hinder or prevent members 

of the local population from exercising customary rights and privileges in or over a licensed area 

(including hunting, gathering firewood and collecting snails). The PL Holder may however make 

arrangements with the local landowners for a waiver of these rights, which may include compensation. 

The compensation may be for deprivation of the use of the land, loss or damage to immoveable properties 

and loss of expected income (if the land is cultivated), but may not include compensation for access to the 

land, the value of any mineral derived therefrom or loss or damage that is not capable of being assessed 

according to applicable legal principles. 

 

The PL Holder must obtain the prior consent of the Minister prior to conducting any operations within 20 

metres of any building, installation, reservoir, dam, public road, railway or any area appropriated for a 

railway and in any area occupied by a market, burial ground, cemetery or within a town or village or an 

area set aside for, used, appropriated or dedicated to a public purpose. 

 

 

The PL Holder must surrender, upon renewal, not less than 50% of the area covered by the license, 
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provided that any such surrender would not leave the PL Holder with less than 125 blocks (with one block 

representing 21 hectares of land). However, a PL Holder may apply to the Minister for relief from the 

obligation to surrender land and the Minister may exempt that holder from the requirements of the 

applicable section of the Mining Act (Ghana) for a maximum period up to twelve months only. 

 

Prospecting Licenses may be converted into mining leases upon application and the applicant is required 

to provide evidence that a mineral exists in commercial quantities. The area covered by a mining lease 

shall not be less than 21 hectares representing one block and not more than 300 contiguous blocks. 

 

A mining lease confers upon its holder (“ML Holder”) the right to mine for the specified mineral and 

undertake any operations that are directly or indirectly necessary or incidental thereto. A mining lease is 

granted for an initial term of up to 30 years and may be renewed for a further period of 30 years. Upon 

ministerial approval, the ML Holder may suspend operations for a period not exceeding 12 months. 

 

The ML Holder is not required to meet minimum exploration expenditures but is required to implement an 

approved mining plan and submit quarterly, semi-annual and annual reports of the results of its activities 

and pay ground rent. 

 

The Minister may enter into a stability agreement with the ML Holder to ensure that, for a period of 15 

years, the ML Holder will not be adversely affected by any new enactment, regulation or order (including 

those relating to the payment of customs duties, royalties and taxes). A mineral right may be cancelled if 

the holder fails to make payments when due, becomes insolvent or bankrupt, makes a false statement or 

becomes ineligible to apply for a mineral right. 
 

Government Free Carried Interest 
 

The Government of Ghana is granted a 10% free carried interest in all mining leases in Ghana, with no 

capital contribution. This interest is granted when a Prospecting License is converted to a mining lease 

upon completion of an application to Mincom. This 10% carried interest entitles the Government of 

Ghana to a pro-rata share of future dividends. The Government of Ghana also has the right to purchase 

up to a further 20% interest in the capital of the Ghanaian operating subsidiary, which will operate a 

mine in Ghana, if and when incorporated, upon such terms as may be agreed where any minerals are 

discovered in commercial quantities. The right of the Government of Ghana to purchase a further 20% 

interest is contingent on it obtaining the consent of the holder of the mining right. To date, the Issuer is 

not aware of any circumstances where the Government of Ghana has made such a request of any ML 

Holder. See “Risk Factors – Increase in Ownership Interest by the Government of Ghana”. 

 

Royalty Requirements 
 

Under the Mining Act (Ghana), an ML Holder is required to pay a flat royalty of 5% on total mining 

revenues. 
 

Environmental Regulations 
 

All environmental matters in Ghana, including those related to mining, are regulated by the 

Environmental Protection Agency Act, 1994 and the Environmental Assessment Regulations, 1999 LI 16 

which are administered by the Ghana Environmental Protection Agency (the “Ghana EPA”) and govern 

environmental impact statements, mine operations and mine closures and reclamation. 

 

Persons proposing to undertake the mining and processing of minerals are required to register 
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their activities with the Ghana EPA and obtain an environmental permit prior to commencing such 

activities. Additionally, no person may commence activities in respect of an undertaking, which in the 

opinion of the Ghana EPA, has, or is likely to have an adverse effect on the environment or public 

health unless, prior to the commencement thereof, the undertaking has been registered with the 

Ghana EPA and an environmental permit has been issued by the Ghana EPA in respect of the 

undertaking. 

 

1.0 SUMMARY 

1.1 Overview of the Republic of Ghana 

 

The Republic of Ghana (“Ghana”) is located in West Africa on the Gulf of Guinea (Figure 1) and shares 

borders with Côte d'Ivoire to the west, Togo to the east and Burkina Faso to the north. To the south are 

the Gulf of Guinea and the Atlantic Ocean.   Ghana has a total land area of Approximately 239,540 sq 

km, (“sq km”), or (approximately, 23,954,000 hectares (“ha”), and is about the size of Britain. Ghana’s 

capital city Accra is located along the south eastern coast. 

 

In March 1957, Ghana was the first country in sub-Saharan Africa to gain independence from Britain.  

Following a national referendum in July 1960, Ghana became a republic.  Ghana has a population of 

approximately 24 million people, most of whom are English-speaking.”  

 

“1.2 Property Description and Location 

The Kubi Gold Project comprises two Mining Leases, the Kubi Mining Lease and the Kubi Forest 

Reserve Mining Lease, which cover a combined area of 19.16 km², and one Prospecting Licence referred 

to as the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence which covers an area of 28.26 km².  The Kubi Mining 

Leases are in good standing having been renewed in 2008 for a period of twenty years. However, the 

Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence has expired and is in the process of being renewed by the 

Minerals Commission of Ghana. 

  

The two Mining Leases are located in the Adansi South District of the Ashanti Region.   The Dunkwa 

Gyimigya Prospecting Licence falls within both the Adansi South District and the Upper Denkyira East 

Municipality of the Central Region (Figure 2). 

  

The Kubi Gold Project lies on the western margin of the Ashanti Gold Belt and is bordered to the north, 

by AngloGold Ashanti’s Obuasi Mining Lease and to the southwest by Perseus Mining Limited’s Edikan 

Gold Mine at Ayanfuri. 

 

Dunkwa is the closest major town to the Project, falling within the southern portion of the Dunkwa 

Gyimigya Prospecting Licence. The Supuma Shelter Belt Forest Reserve traverses the northern end of 

the Kubi Mining Lease and covers approximately 10% of the total Kubi Gold Project landholding 

(Figure 2).  
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Figure 2:  Kubi Gold Project, showing both Mining Leases and the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting 

Licence UTM 30N, WGS84, SEMS 2014  

 

1.3 Ownership 

1.3.1   The Kubi Mining Leases  

The Kubi Mining Leases are held by Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Limited (“Nevsun Ghana”), the Ghana 

registered Branch of Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited (formerly PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc.) a 

Barbados incorporated company, for the exploitation of gold only.   The Leases will expire on September 

17, 2028 having been granted to Nevsun Ghana for a twenty (20) year duration in 2008. 

  

Pursuant to the settlement of arbitration between PMI Gold Corporation (“PMI, Gold”) of Vancouver 

and Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) of Accra on August 15, 2014, the terms of which were 

confidential, the ownership of 100% of the shares of PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc. were transferred to 

Goknet. 

  

Royal Gold Inc. of Denver, Colorado, USA holds a 3% NPP (Net Proceeds of Production) royalty 

interest on gold mined from the Kubi Mining Leases…”  

 

1.3.2   The Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence  

“The Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence is held by Adansi Gold Company (Ghana) Limited (Adansi 

Gold”) for the prospecting of gold only.   The Prospecting Licence expired in August 2014 and Adansi 

Gold lodged an application for renewal of the Prospecting Licence with the Minerals Commission in 

August 2014. 

  

Pursuant to the settlement of arbitration between PMI Gold and Goknet, the terms of which were 

confidential, the ownership of 100% of the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence is currently in the 
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process of being transferred, upon receipt of Ministerial consent, from Adansi Gold to Goknet.  Goknet 

has agreed to incorporate the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence, and any other adjacent Licences 

held by Goknet, into the proposed joint venture…”.  

 

1.3.3   Nature of Asante’s Interest in the Project  

“On September 29, 2014 Goknet signed a binding term sheet to enter into a Joint Venture with Asante 

whereby Asante undertakes to fund the Kubi Gold Project with fifteen million US dollars (US$ 

15,000,000), within two years, and issue two million shares to Goknet, to earn a 50% interest in the 

shares of” KGBL, “and in the Kubi Mining Leases.” 

 

1.4 Geology  

1.4.1   Regional Geology of Ghana  

The regional geology of southern Ghana comprises thick sequences of steeply dipping metasediments, 

alternating with metavolcanic units of Proterozoic age (~2.2-2.3 Ga).   These sequences, which belong to 

the Birimian Supergroup, occur in a number of northeasterly trending belts. 

  

Syn - and post-tectonic granitoids intruded both the metasediments and metavolcanics of the Birimian 

Supergroup as a result of the Eburnean Orogeny.   The granitoids can be broadly grouped into two 

types; namely Basin and Belt types.    Basin granitoids intrude the metasedimentary basins whereas Belt 

type granitoids are normally restricted to the volcanic and volcanosedimentary assemblages.  

 

1.4.2   Property Geology  

The Kubi Project is located on the western margin of the Ashanti Belt, approximately 15km southwest of 

the Obuasi gold mine. The known deposit is situated at the intersection of a regional NE-SW trending 

shear zone, which represents a reactivated thrust fault system that forms the Birimian/Tarkwaian 

contact, and a major N-S trending basement fault. Gold mineralisation at Kubi occurs in a 1.0 to 15.0 

metre thick, garnetiferous horizon within Birimian metasediments which are contained within a north - 

northeast trending shear zone close to the Birimian/Tarkwaian contact. 

 

This garnetiferous horizon contains fine grained gold associated with minor (5-15%) pyrite and 

pyrrhotite as well as some coarser gold which is associated with relatively narrow quartz veins.  

 

1.5 Mineralisation 

A distinct, laterally persistent, rock unit located within the Kubi shear zone is characterised by a dense 

concentration of garnets. This garnet-rich zone encloses approximately 85% of the Kubi Main Zone 

Mineral Resource and also contains amphiboles, pyrrhotite, arsenopyrite and free gold within quartz 

veins.  Within the Kubi Main Zone, the garnet rich units can be traced for two km along a consistent 

020° strike, and with a steep westerly dip of 85° to 75°.  

 

1.6 Exploration 

Most exploration work within the Kubi Gold Project was completed by Nevsun Ghana between 1997 and 

1998. During this time over 66,000 metres of RAB, RC and diamond core drilling was completed and 

almost 14km of trenches excavated. 

 

PMI Gold commenced exploration activities on the Kubi Gold Project in 2009. The objective of PMI 

Gold’s work was to further assess target areas outside the limits of the defined mineral resource. 

Exploration work included ground VLF-EM and Induced Polarization surveys as well as an airborne 

magnetic and radiometric survey.  PMI Gold completed soil and auger geochemical sampling programs 

on selected parts of the Kubi Gold Project followed by 2,559 metres of diamond drilling in 22 holes. A 

total of 66,312 metres of diamond core drilling in 226 drill holes, within the Kubi Main Zone, were used 
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for the mineral resource estimate published in December 2010. 

  

Between 2011 and 2013 PMI Gold continued to explore the Kubi Gold Project completing 1,627 drill 

holes, comprising: 38 diamond core drill holes, 283 air core drill holes and 1,306 auger drill holes.  

PMI Gold also excavated three trenches and one set of channel samples.  

 

1.7 Mineral Resources 

An independent mineral resource estimate for the Kubi Gold Project was completed in November 2010 

by SEMS Exploration Services.   The modelling of gold mineralisation for this mineral resource estimate 

reflected underground mining methods suitable for a narrow, high grade, gold deposit such as Kubi.  

The 2010 mineral resource estimation, therefore, significantly reduced the tonnes of previous mineral 

resource estimates but resulted in an increased gold grade.  Table one below summarises the Mineral 

Resource Estimates at 2.0 g/t Au block cut-off grades within the Kubi Main Zone.  

 

    TONNAGE  GRADE CONT'D GOLD 

    Tonnes (million) (Au g/t)  Ounces 

Measured   0.66   5.30  112,000 

Indicated   0.66   5.65  121,000 

Measured & Indicated  1.32   5.48  233,000 

Inferred   0.67   5.31  115,000 

 

Table 1:  Identified Mineral Resource (2.0 g/t Au cut-off) November 2010 for the Kubi Gold Project 

 

1.8 Development 

As of the date of this Report, there are no declared Mineral Reserve Estimates for the Kubi Gold Project 

nor is it in the development stage.  

 

1.9 Operations 

The Kubi open pit gold mine was operated by Ashanti Goldfields and AngloGold Ashanti in two phases 

between 1999 and 2005.  The Kubi open pit produced approximately 60,000 ounces of gold from 

500,000 tonnes of oxide ore grading 3.65 g/t gold.  

 

1.10 Conclusions and Recommendations 

1.10.1  Conclusions  

SEMS Exploration Services Ltd. (“SEMS”) is of the opinion that the November 2010 mineral resource 

estimation gave appropriate consideration to the underground mining methods that may be employed by 

Asante and Goknet to exploit the Kubi Main Zone.   The 2010 mineral resource utilised a 2.0 g/t cut-off 

grade and adhered to strict ore body widths when constructing the Kubi mineral resource model. 

  

The 2010 mineral resource model, compared to previous models, produced an increased average 

mineral resource grade within the Kubi deposit and an increased confidence level to the model 

demonstrated by the inclusion of a measured category. 

 

The December 2010 Mineral Resource estimation provides a clear guide for future ore reserve 

determination and the scoping of an underground mine plan. 

  

An exploration decline ramp at 15% would provide a suitable platform for both exploratory and 

definition drilling from underground to provide information on ore body geometry for mine planning 

purposes. 
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Exploration activities undertaken by PMI since December 2010 have not materially altered the 2010 

mineral resource estimation, however they have identified significant intersections in air core drilling 

within other areas of the property that require further work.  

 

1.10.2  Recommendations  

It is recommended that Asante and Goknet undertake a Feasibility Study of an underground mining 

operation on the Kubi Gold Project as soon as possible.  

 

The Feasibility Study may require a significant number of new drill holes to better define the geometry of 

high grade shoots within the Kubi Main Zone.  This drilling would be best attempted from underground 

crosscuts off a footwall decline through the eastern wall of the historic Kubi open pit. 

 

Should the decline option be accepted then a thorough geotechnical investigation will be required on 

material from the decline’s intended portal position and drill core collected from the upper levels of the 

planned path of the decline. 

  

It is recommended that the recent LIDAR survey be used to verify the accuracy of historical campaigns 

of drillhole collar surveying. 

  

Owing to the abundance of pyrrhotite observed in drill core, it is recommended that a gold deportment 

study be carried out so as to provide a thorough understanding of the occurrence of the mineral and its 

downstream implications on the metallurgical recovery of the Kubi primary ore which would be main 

feed for the underground mining project. 

  

It is also recommended that Asante continue with exploration activities over the extensions of the Kubi 

Main Deposit, to the south of the Kubi open pit, as well as the interpreted ‘Ashanti structure’ which lies 

1.5 km to the west of the Kubi open pit.   This work should focus upon significant gold intersections 

identified in air core drilling completed by PMI Gold in 2011 and 2012.  

 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

In September 2014, Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) commissioned SEMS Exploration 

Services Ltd. (“SEMS”) to prepare an independent Technical Report (“Report”), consistent with the 

Canadian Securities Administrator’s National Instrument 43-101 guidelines for the Kubi Gold Project, 

in SW Ghana.   The Kubi Gold Project forms a significant part of Goknet’s landholding in Ghana and is 

the subject matter of this Report.  The Report has been prepared for Asante Gold Corporation 

(“Asante”) as a requirement of the binding term sheet for a Joint Venture between Goknet and Asante 

and to support Asante’s, continuous disclosure obligations under applicable Canadian securities laws.”  

  

“SEMS is an independent, West African based, firm of consulting geologists, engineers and surveyors 

that provides full-service mineral exploration and mining consulting services.   SEMS head office is 

located in Accra, Ghana at 17 Orphan Crescent, North Labone. The company’s email address is 

ghana@sems-exploration.com and the website is www.sems-exploration.com.  

 

2.1 Qualification of SEMS 

SEMS comprises professionals, offering expertise in a wide range of exploration and engineering 

disciplines.  The ownership of SEMS rests solely with its staff and its independence is ensured by the fact 

that it holds no equity in any mineral exploration or mining project.  SEMS is qualified to provide its 

clients with conflict-free and objective recommendations. 

  

SEMS offers a wide range of technical services and has demonstrated a good track record, undertaking 
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independent assessments of mineral exploration, project evaluations and audits, technical reports and 

independent mineral resource and ore reserve estimations, feasibility evaluations to bankable standards 

on behalf of exploration and mining companies and financial institutions mainly in West Africa.   SEMS 

has also worked with a number of major mining companies providing technical consultancy services. 

  

The 2010 independent mineral resource estimation and supporting report as well as the 2014 

independent Technical Report on the Kubi Gold Project presented herein was compiled by Andrew 

Netherwood, Joe Amanor and Simon Meadows Smith.   By virtue of their education, relevant work 

experience and affiliation to recognized professional associations Joe Amanor (MAusIMM CP) and 

Simon Meadows Smith (MIMMM) are independent Qualified Persons as defined by National Instrument 

43-101. Andrew Netherwood is a Member of the AusIMM. Andrew Netherwood is a Mining Engineer 

with over twenty five years of experience in open pit and underground mine design and planning.   

Andrew has also been involved in a number of mineral resource and ore reserve estimations of gold 

occurrences within the Birimian of West Africa. Joe Amanor is a consulting geologist with extensive 

experience in surface and underground exploration, as well as mineral resource evaluation, of Birimian 

hosted gold deposits in Ghana. Joe was previously Chief Geologist for AngloGold Ashanti at the Obuasi 

gold mine and, in this capacity, was a member of the technical team involved in the exploitation of the 

open cut mine at Kubi. Simon Meadows Smith is the Managing Director of SEMS and a key member of 

the geological consultancy staff.  He has over 25 years working experience in the Archaean Terrains of 

Western Australia and the Proterozoic Terrains of West Africa.  He has been working for SEMS since its 

inception in 2002.  

 

2.2 Purpose of the Report 

This Report is an accurate and current technical summary of the geology and mineral resources of the 

Kubi Gold Project.   The 2010 mineral resource estimate, which is current, takes into account Asante’s 

and Goknet’s proposal to operate an underground mining method to exploit the Kubi Main deposit. An 

underground mining method has been proposed for the Kubi Gold Project due to the ore body occurring 

partially within a forest reserve, which prohibits open pit mining, and its high grade and relatively 

narrow character. 

  

The Kubi Gold Project forms a significant part of Goknet’s landholding in Ghana and is the subject 

matter of this Report.  The Report has been prepared for Asante as a requirement of the binding term 

sheet signed in September 2014 for a Joint Venture between Goknet and Asante and to support Asante’s 

continuous disclosure obligations under applicable Canadian securities laws.  

 

2.3 Scope of Work 

The scope of work involves the preparation and compilation of an independent Technical Report for the 

Kubi Gold Project in compliance with National Instrument 43-101 guidelines.   This includes the review 

and validation of historical drilling data, the review and validation of the 2010 mineral resource 

estimate, a site visit to the historic Kubi open pit mine and inspection of exploration activities completed 

by PMI Gold in 2011 and 2012.  

 

2.4 Sources of Information and Data 

Primarily, the Report is based on data obtained from Goknet and on SEMS personnel’s geological 

expertise.  SEMS reviewed all of the relevant historical exploration conducted on the Kubi Gold Project 

which was mostly generated by Nevsun in the mid to late 1990’s and by PMI Gold in the period from 

2009 to 2012. 

  

The information contained in this Report is based on information believed to be reliable.  SEMS 

compiled the Report in Accra, Ghana during October 2014.  
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2.5 Site Visit 

SEMS personnel, including Andrew Netherwood, Simon Meadows Smith and Joe Amanor, have visited 

the Kubi mineral properties and Kubi open pit gold mine on a number of occasions since 1998. Joe 

Amanor was a part of the AngloGold Ashanti technical team that exploited the Kubi open pit mine from 

1999 to 2005.   He visited the Kubi Gold Project on 7th and 8th October 2014 as a requirement for this 

report.  

 

3.0  RELIANCE UPON OTHER EXPERTS  

SEMS’ opinion contained herein is effective as of October 20, 2014 and, throughout the course of the 

Report preparation, is based on the information provided by Goknet. 

  

SEMS has satisfied itself that Goknet has disclosed all material information pertaining to its Kubi Gold 

Project.  Asante and Goknet have agreed to indemnify SEMS from any liability arising from its reliance 

upon the information provided or from information not supplied.  A draft version of this report was 

provided to the Directors of Asante and Goknet for comment in respect of omission and factual 

accuracy.  

 

Neither SEMS nor those involved in the preparation of this report have any material interest in Asante 

nor Goknet or the mineral assets considered in this report.  SEMS is remunerated for this report by way 

of a professional fee which is not determined by the outcome of this report.  

 

4.0 PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

4.1 Location 

The Kubi Gold Project comprises two Mining Leases which collectively cover 19.16 km² and the 

Dunkwa-Gyimigya Prospecting Licence which covers 28.26 km² to give a total surface area for the Kubi 

Project of 47.42 km².  

 

The Kubi Mining Leases are located in the Adansi South District of the Ashanti Region.   The Dunkwa 

Gyimigya Prospecting Licence falls within both the Adansi South District and the Upper Denkyira East 

Municipality of the Central Region. 

  

Kubi village lies within the central portion of the Kubi Mining Lease and is located 30km south, by road, 

of the township of Obuasi, 6km north of the town of Dunkwa, and 170km, five hours by road, northwest 

of the capital city of Accra. The centre of the concession is located at approximately 6° 00’N Latitude 

and 1° 44’W longitude. 

  

The property lies on the western margin of the Ashanti Gold belt and is bordered to the north by 

AngloGold Ashanti’s Obuasi Mining Lease and to the southwest by Perseus Mining’s Central Ashanti 

Gold Mine at Ayanfuri. 

 

Villages are located at Kubi, Kubi Nkwanta, Jimiludo and Nyamebekyere within the Kubi Mining 

Leases. Dunkwa is the closest major town to the concession, lying with in the southern area of the 

Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence. The Supuma Shelter Belt Forest Reserve traverses the northern 

end of the Kubi Mining Lease and covers approximately 10% of the Kubi Gold Project.  
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4.2 Property Description and Ownership 

 

The three mineral licences form a contiguous landholding that straddles the western flank of the Ashanti 

Gold Belt, termed the Kubi Gold Project (Figure 3). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Figure 3:  Kubi Gold Project, Concession boundaries and names.  UTM 30N WGS84, SEMS 2014  

 

4.2.1   Review of Mining Leases  

The Kubi Gold Project comprises two Mining Leases: the Kubi Mining Lease and the Kubi Forest 

Reserve Mining Lease, which combined cover a total of 19.16 km².   The Kubi Forest Reserve Mining 

Lease covers a small area (0.018 km²) which encloses the portion of the Kubi open pit mine, exploited by 

AngloGold Ashanti in 1999 to 2003, that falls within the Supuma Shelter Belt Forest Reserve (Figure 4).  

The two Mining Leases were issued as one document by the Mineral Commission of Ghana and signed 

by the Minister of Lands, Forestry and Mines on September 18, 2008.  The Kubi Mining Lease is 

referred to as Area A and the Kubi Forest Reserve Mining Lease referred to as Area B. The Land 

Registry of Ghana issued a File Number of 70/2008 for this document and the Minerals Commission’s 

file number for the Mining Leases is # PL.3/30. 

  

The Mining Leases, granted in 2008, are a renewal of Mining Leases originally granted to Nevsun 

Resources (Ghana) Limited in 1998.   The terms and conditions of the two Mining Leases are identical 

and both their durations run for twenty years, expiring on September 17, 2028. 
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 Figure 4:  Kubi Mining Lease and the Kubi Forest Reserve Mining Lease boundaries.  

 UTM 30N WGS84, SEMS 2014  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5:  The Kubi Forest Reserve Mining Lease over the historic Kubi open pit.  

 UTM 30N WGS84, SEMS 2014  
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The current Kubi Mining Leases are held by Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Limited, the Ghana registered 

Branch of” Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited, formerly “PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc. a Barbados 

incorporated company, for the exploitation of gold. 

  

Pursuant to the settlement of an arbitration between PMI Gold Corporation (“PMI Gold”), of 

Vancouver and Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) of Accra on August, 15, 2014, the terms of 

which were confidential, the ownership of 100% of the shares of PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc. were 

transferred to Goknet.  

 

The known encumbrances on the Kubi Mining Leases are as follows:  

Royal Gold Inc. of Denver, Colorado, USA holds a 3% NPP (Net Proceeds of Production) royalty 

interest on gold mined from the Kubi Gold Project, termed the Pre-Existing NPP.” 

 

“The Government of Ghana will impose a 5% royalty on all gold processed from any future mining 

operations within the Kubi Mining Leases.  

 

It is expected that the Joint Venture will have to negotiate a reclamation bond with the Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA) of Ghana before commencing their underground exploration program.   Given 

that the waste rock from excavating the decline and other underground  development  will  be  used  to  

complete  the  EPA  backfilling  requirements outstanding from the AngloGold Ashanti mining program 

at Kubi, the Joint Venture does not anticipate any undue delays in acquiring the necessary approval 

from the EPA.   This has not been independently verified by SEMS.  

 

4.2.2   Review of Prospecting Licence  

The Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence is held by Adansi Gold for the prospecting of gold only.  The 

Land Registry of Ghana issued a File Number of 54/2009 for this document and the Minerals 

Commission’s file number for the Prospecting Licence is #PL3/88. 

  

The Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence consists of two areas within one Prospecting License; the 

Gyimigya Area covering 8.20 km
2
 which lies to the north of the Kubi Mining Lease and the Dunkwa Area 

covering 20.06 km² which lies to the south of the Kubi Mining Lease and encloses the Dunkwa-on-Ofin 

town. 

 

The two areas comprising the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence were granted by the Minister of 

Land, Forests and Mines on the condition that Adansi Gold allowed Small Scale Mining Lease 

applications to be granted within the Prospecting Licence boundaries.   In this situation Adansi Gold 

owns the gold rights within the Prospecting Licence except where Small Scale Mining Leases have been 

approved.  Adansi Gold retains the deep rights to all gold below an unspecified depth defined as the 

reasonable limits to small scale mining operations.  

 

The Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence expired on August 19, 2014 having been renewed on two 

previous occasions.   Adansi Gold lodged an application for a third renewal of the Prospecting Licence 

with the Minerals Commission on August 29, 2014.  

 

Pursuant to the settlement of arbitration between PMI Gold and Goknet, the terms of which were 

confidential, the ownership of 100% of the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence is currently in the 

process of being transferred, subject to Ministerial consent, from Adansi Gold to Goknet.  

 

There are no known environmental liabilities or financial encumbrances on the Dunkwa Gyimigya 

Prospecting Licence currently held by Adansi Gold.  
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4.3  Nature of Goknet’s Interest in the Kubi Gold Project  

Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Limited was the original holder of the Kubi Mining Lease. In 1999 Nevsun 

Ghana entered into contractual agreements with Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited, a subsidiary of 

AngloGold Ashanti (Ghana) Limited, wherein Nevsun Ghana assigned its property and mining rights to 

Ashanti for a period from January 1999 to August 2004 in return for certain cash and royalty interests.  

 

The Kubi Mining Leases were transferred back to Nevsun Ghana on September 19, 2007 after 

AngloGold Ashanti had completed the mining, pit backfilling and partial re-vegetation of areas affected 

by their mining activities. 

  

In 2008 PMI Gold, through its wholly owned subsidiary PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc., purchased all 

of the shares of Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Ltd. 

  

PMI Gold transferred the ownership of Nevsun Ghana to Goknet Mining Company Ltd (“Goknet”)a 

private company incorporated in Ghana in August,2014. 

  

On September 29, 2014 Goknet entered into a binding term sheet for a Joint Venture with Asante 

whereby Asante undertakes to fund the Kubi Gold Project with fifteen million US dollars (US$ 

15,000,000), within two years, and to issue to Goknet two million shares, to earn a 50% interest in the 

shares of” Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited, formerly “PMI Gold Kubi (Barbados) Inc., which holds the 

Kubi Mining Leases.” 

 

“In April through May 1997, Nevsun Ghana contracted McElhanney Consulting Services Ltd of 

Vancouver Canada, to undertake a boundary survey for the Kubi Mining Lease. They submitted a report, 

entitled, “Boundary, Determination Survey for the Kubi Mining Concessions Dunkwa, Ghana April to 

May 1997”which contains all the relevant details.  

 

 

4.5 Ownership Obligations 

4.5.1   Royalties and encumbrances  

The Kubi Mining Lease is subject to a 3 per cent net proceeds of production royalty (NPP) payable to 

BHP Minerals Ghana Ltd (BHP) which was subsequently assigned by BHP to International Royalty 

Corporation (IRC).  On 22 February 2010, International Royalty merged and became a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Royal Gold, Inc. of Denver.”  

 

“The Kubi Mining Leases are subject to Ghana legislated taxes and royalties, which may vary from time 

to time.  At the time of writing the Report, corporate tax rate is set at 35 per cent and a 5% production 

royalty is payable to the government of Ghana on all gold mined.  

 

4.5.2   Annual Mineral Right Fees  

According to section 24 of the Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703), the holder of a mineral licence 

is liable to pay an Annual Mineral Right fee to the Minerals Commission. This section of the Act was not 

implemented by the Minerals Commission until September 2013 and only applies to mineral licences that 

expire after that date.  

 

The appropriate consideration fees were paid to the Minerals Commission at the time of granting of the 

Kubi Mining Leases so the Annual Mineral Right fees are not applicable to the Kubi Mining Lease. The 

Annual Mineral Right fee replaces the application and renewal fees (termed Consideration Fees) 

charged by the Minerals Commission previously.  The fee is calculated upon a set amount per Cadastral 
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Unit covered by the mineral licence.  

 

Ghana introduced a cadastral system for new tenement applications in 2011 where the country is 

divided into Cadastral Units or “blocks” that are 15 seconds of longitude by 15 seconds of latitude 

(approximately 21 hectares or 0.21 sq km in area).  A breakdown of the fee structure is as follows:  

 

Reconnaissance Licence Annual Mineral Rights Fee:  

$16 per Cadastral Unit for first year; $20 per Cadastral Unit for second year  

 

Prospecting Licence Annual Mineral Rights Fee:  

$32 per Cadastral Unit per year for first 3 years; $50 per Cadastral Unit per year for second 3 years  

$70 per Cadastral Unit per year for third 3 years  

 

Mining Licence Annual Mineral Rights Fee:  

$700 per Cadastral Unit per year for first 2 years; $1,000 per Cadastral Block per year subsequent 

 

4.5.3   The Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703)  

The current legislation governing the mining industry of Ghana is contained in the Minerals and Mining 

Act of 2006.  Six Minerals and Mining Regulations were approved by parliament in 2012 the remaining 

regulations are being discussed by parliament.   Relevant content of the Mining Act to the Kubi Gold 

Project and this Report are presented below:  

 

 

OWNERSHIP  

By Section 1 of the Ghana mining legislation, Act 703, every mineral in its natural state in Ghana is the 

property of the Republic and is vested in the President in trust for the people of Ghana. As such, a 

person may own land in which minerals are found, yet not only do the minerals not belong to him, but he 

cannot even attempt to work on the minerals without first obtaining permission from the Government. 

Thus, Section 9(1) provides as follows: “despite a right or title which a person may have to land in, upon 

or under which minerals are situated, a person shall not conduct activities on or over land in Ghana for 

the search, reconnaissance, prospecting, exploration or mining for a mineral, unless the person has been 

granted a Mineral Right in accordance with this Act”. Hence Mineral Rights are granted in the form of 

a Reconnaissance Licence, a Prospecting Licence, or a Mining Lease. And the grant is made on behalf 

of the President by the Minister responsible for Mines through an institution known as the Minerals 

Commission.  

 

DISPOSAL  

There can be no sale, exportation nor any form of disposition of a mineral by any person unless that 

person holds a Licence granted by the Minister for that purpose, and an application for the grant of such 

licence must be made in writing in the prescribed form to the Minister, who in any event, has the right of 

pre-emption of all minerals raised, won or obtained in Ghana, and from any area covered by territorial 

waters, the exclusive economic zone or the continental shelf, and the products derived from the refining 

or treatment of these minerals.  

 

QUALIFICATION FOR THE GRANT OF A MINERAL RIGHT  

By Section 10 of the Act, a Mineral Right shall not be granted to a person unless the person is a body 

incorporated under the Companies Code 1963 (Act 179), under the Incorporated Private Partnership 

Act1962(Act 152) or under an enactment in force. And by Section 14, there can be no assignment, 

transfer, or any disposition of a mineral right nor any dealings therein, without the prior approval in 

writing of the Minister, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Basically, the 
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Reconnaissance and Prospecting Licences are for exploration operations, while the Mining Lease is for 

production operations. In a production operation, Section 43 of the Act provides for a 10 per cent free-

carried interest for the Government. This is normally held through a full 10% dividend right rather than 

the holding of 10% equity shares in the production company.  

 

FACILITATION OF CAPITAL TRANSFER.  

A holder of a Mining Lease who earns foreign exchange from mining operations is allowed by the 

Central Bank (Bank of Ghana) to retain in an account, a portion of the foreign exchange earned, for use 

in the acquisition of machinery and equipment, debt servicing and dividend payment, remittance in 

respect of quotas for expatriate personnel, and transfer of capital in the event of a sale or liquidation of 

the mining operations. An account opened and operated in this manner shall, with the consent of the 

Bank of Ghana, be held in trust by a trustee appointed by the holder of the lease (Sec 30). In addition, 

the holder of a Mining Lease is guaranteed free transferability of convertible currency through the Bank 

of Ghana, and in the case of a net foreign exchange holder through the ‘foreign exchange retention 

account as above mentioned.  

 

Apart from this facility, the holder of a Mining Lease is entitled to the capitalization of expenditure on 

reconnaissance and prospecting approved by the Minister on the advice of the Commission where the 

holder starts development of a commercial find (Section 28). In addition, the holder of a mineral right 

may be granted the following, that is to say:  

 

(a). exemption from payment of customs import duty in respect of plant, machinery, equipment and 

accessories imported specifically and exclusively for the mineral operations,  

 

(b). exemption of staff from the payment of income tax on furnished accommodation at the mine site.  

 

RENEWAL OF MINING LEASE  

By Section 44 of the Act, a holder of a Mining Lease may at any time, but not later than three months 

before the expiration of the initial term of the mining lease, or a shorter period that the Minister allows, 

apply to the Minister for an extension of the term of the lease for a further period of up to thirty years, 

such application to be accompanied with a proposed programme of mineral operations. Where a lease 

holder has made such an application, and the lease would expire during the currency of such an 

application, the lease shall continue in force in respect of the land the subject of the application until the 

application is determined.  

 

A dispute between the Minister and a holder in respect of a matter that arises in this application shall be 

resolved under the provisions of Section 27 of the Act.”  

 

“4.6 Environmental Liabilities 

On the re-transfer of the Kubi Mining Lease from AngloGold Ashanti to Nevsun Ghana, there were no 

contingent environmental liabilities. All mining on the property was completed by AngloGold Ashanti, 

and any unresolved environmental disturbances are solely to the account of AngloGold Ashanti, 

pursuant to the conditions of the Mining Leases and EPA permits between AngloGold Ashanti and the 

Government of Ghana. 

  

It is expected that the Joint Venture will have to negotiate a reclamation bond with the Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA) of Ghana before commencing their underground exploration program.   Given 

that the waste rock from excavating the decline and other underground development will be used to 

further the EPA back filling requirements outstanding from the AngloGold Ashanti mining program at 

Kubi, the Joint Venture does not anticipate any undue delays in acquiring the necessary approval for the 
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EPA.  This has not been independently verified by SEMS.  

 

5.0 ACCESSIBILITY, CLIMATE, LOCAL RESOURCES, INFRASTRUCUTRE & PHYSIOGRAPHY 

5.1 Accessibility and Infrastructure 

Kubi is well situated and favourably serviced by major road, rail and air transport routes. Road access 

to the property is good from regional airports and sea ports. 

  

The western boundary of the Kubi Mining Lease is adjacent to the main, north-south, bitumen highway 

linking the regional capital, Kumasi in the north, through Obuasi, Dunkwa and Tarkwa to the coastal 

port at Takoradi.  

 

The Kubi Main deposit can be accessed via a 5km graded, laterite road that runs eastwards from the 

Kumasi highway junction. 

  

The Kubi Main deposit is approximately 75 km north of Golden Star’s processing plant at the Bogosu 

gold mine, 15 km northeast of Perseus Mining’s processing plant at the Edikan gold mine in Ayanfuri 

and 20 km south of AngloGold Ashanti’s processing plant at the Obuasi gold mine. 

  

The main Ghana Rail line from Kumasi-Obuasi-Takoradi passes along the western margin of the 

concession with a station stop in Dunkwa. The railway requires considerable work to upgrade to useful 

status.   However, movement of materials or equipment from the port to site by truck would be straight 

forward. AngloGold Ashanti have an operating airstrip 40km to the north at Obuasi.  

 

5.2 Topography and Land Use 

Relief within the Kubi Gold Project is characterised by two major, linear, SW-NE striking ridge forms. 

In the west of the property the Ashanti trend is dominated by a regionally continuous and dissected 

range of steep to moderate sloping hills of the Southern Bekansi Range. These characteristically steep 

sided hills rise on slopes of sometimes >30 degrees to a maximum of 300m. This ridge forms a very 

distinct linear, arcuate trace on a satellite image, geologically manifesting as a result of regional 

thrusting within the Tarkwaian system. It is known as the Dampaiyau Ridge and is composed of a very 

hard, annealed, weakly weathered quartzite. Valleys which dissect these ridges generally trend E-W and 

SE-NW and are possibly related to transfer faults along this major basin boundary suture. 

  

Regionally this set of ridges is referred to as the Gold Coast Range and can be traced from Konongo in 

the north, 200km south to the coast at Takoradi. Regionally, this prominent topography hosts the 

historical deposits of the Ashanti Gold Belt. The Kubi Main deposit is straddled by these two major 

topographic features.   The Kubi Main deposit, pre-mining by AngloGold Ashanti, was situated under a 

50 metre high, moderate to steeply (25-30 degrees) sloped hill which peaked at 150m elevation. The 

Kubi Gold Project falls within the cocoa-based system of the semi-deciduous forest zone of Ghana. Land 

is owned by the Akrokerri Stool of the Ashanti Region. Both agricultural and non-agricultural land uses 

are found on the concession. Agricultural land use predominates, mainly cultivated tree crops like 

cocoa, oil palm and rubber. Other crops include basic food crops and bush fallow. The non-agricultural 

land uses include forest reserve used for commercial logging, human settlements  with  or  without  

accompanying  commercial,  educational  and  government administration facilities, undeveloped inland 

valleys with limited swamps and trunk and feeder roads.  

 

5.3 Climate 

The Kubi Gold Project falls within the wet semi-equatorial climatic zone of Ghana. It is characterised by 

an annual double maximum rainfall pattern occurring in the months of May to July and from September 

to October. The mean annual rainfall for the Kubi concession is estimated to be in the region of 1487 
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mm. This may vary significantly from year to year as suggested by the data obtained for Dunkwa and 

Obuasi. (Dunkwa, from 1981 to 1998 recorded 1071 mm to 1932 mm; Obuasi, from 1995 to 1997 

recorded 1436 mm to 1666 mm). The main rainy season occurs between March and July (peaks in 

May/June) and the minor season from September to November. The dry season is between December 

and March and a short dry spell in July/August. Maximum temperatures occur between January and 

April ranging between 25° and 35°C and minimum temperatures between May and December when 

values range between 18° to 24°C.  

 

5.4 Population Centres 

The Kubi Mining Lease lies in the Adansi South District of the Ashanti Region of Ghana. It is 

administered from the New Edubiase town. The district is bounded to the west and north by the Adansi 

North District, to the east by the Adansi East district and to the south by the Upper Denkyira East 

Municipality. 

  

The southern boundary coincides with the regional boundary of the Ashanti Region with the Offin River, 

separating it from the Central Region. The district covers a land area of about 950 sq km with an 

estimated population exceeding 250,000.  

 

The Kubi Mining Lease covers one moderate sized settlement at Kubi Nkwanta which has a population 

of 550 inhabitants. There are 5 additional smaller settlements through the south and east of Kubi 

Nkwanta. SGS counted 83 hamlets or small family farm stands scattered throughout the concession. No 

villages or settlements require relocation. Kubi Main deposit is bordering the Forest Reserve 2km north 

of Kubi Nkwanta.  

5.5 Surface Rights and Local Resources 

The farm that covers the Kubi Main Deposit has been purchased by Nevsun Ghana and as such minimal 

additional compensation may have to be paid for new mining activities. Further compensation estimates 

will have to be made once a final mine design is prepared especially with regards to sighting of waste 

dumps etc.  

 

6.0 HISTORY 

In, the, late, 1980’s, BHP, carried out stream sediment sampling, soil sampling, VLF-EM and 

magnetometer  surveys,  litho-geochemical  sampling,  trenching,  rehabilitated  old  adits, geological 

mapping, 12 diamond core drill holes, completed a preliminary mineral resource estimation and 

initiated metallurgical studies.  

 

They discerned that significant gold grades were associated with garnet-hornfels alteration, usually best 

developed in carbonaceous schists at the Kubi Main occurrence. Sulphides in the form of pyrite, 

pyrrhotite and minor arsenopyrite make up 3-15% of the altered lithology. Minor quartz veins that cut 

the zone at various angles could contain coarse, re-mobilised gold.  

 

Nevsun Ghana optioned the property from BHP in 1993 and subsequently retained a consulting firm to 

manage exploration programs on the property. Nevsun Ghana took over management of the exploration 

on the property in 1997. 

 

Ashanti, before merging with AngloGold, took ownership of the prospect in 1999 and following a further 

exploration phase undertook mining of the surficial oxide deposits, producing 58,696 oz gold from 

500,230 tons of ore. The south-west end of the deposit was mined by open pit and ceased operation in 

2005.  AngloGold Ashanti has completed re-vegetation, however the pit was not fully back filled pending 

commencement of underground mining activities. 

  



 

 

 

 
 
 
  

25 
 

No formal mining activity is presently taking place on the property, though there are a number of small 

illegal pits in the area extracting ore close to surface. It is doubtful that these will cause any 

complications to future plans for the Kubi Gold Project.  

 

7.0 GEOLOGICAL SETTING 

7.1 Regional Geology 

Birimian supra-crustal and intrusive rocks of Lower Proterozoic age underlie south western Ghana. 

These rocks form a major part of the Man Shield, which occupies the southernmost third of the West 

African Craton. Ghana lies within the eastern domain of the Man Shield, which is largely composed of 

folded and metamorphosed rocks that were intruded by granitoids during the Eburnean orogeny. Clastic 

sedimentary rocks of the Tarkwaian Group also occur and are believed to represent erosional deposits 

of earlier lithologies. In Ghana, the Birimian has been divided into lower sedimentary rocks and an 

upper series of greenstones composed mainly of metamorphosed, basic and intermediate lavas and 

pyroclastic rocks. More recent concepts on Birimian stratigraphy indicate that the sedimentary and 

volcanic rocks are synchronous, representing lateral facies equivalents. The Birimian and Tarkwaian 

series, which are commonly associated with granite intrusions, host all the major gold deposits in the 

country. The known gold deposits are found along the margins of six volcanic belts. Supra-crustal 

deformation has folded the rocks giving rise to the northeast trending gold belts, which include the Kibi-

Winneba, Ashanti, Asankrangwa, Sefwi-Bibiani and Bole-Navrongo Belts. These volcanic belts are 

bounded by steeply dipping regional faults and are separated by sedimentary basins. Dixcove granites 

are mainly biotitic and hornblende bearing and are referred to as “belt type granitoids” associated with 

Birimian volcanic and sedimentary belts. Gold mineralization is often associated with Dixcove granites. 

Younger Cape Coast granites are muscovite bearing and are generally referred to as “basin-type 

granitoids”. 

  

The Kubi concession is comprised of six major NE-SW trending, thrust bound, stratigraphic packages. 

West to east; Upper Birimian basinal sediments, Lower Birimian volcanics and derived sediments, 

Lower Tarkwaian conglomerates and grits, (a repetition of Lower Birimian volcanic derived sediments, 

and underpinning the prominent relief along the western boundary, two slices of mid to Upper 

Tarkwaian quartzites. Minor stocks, sills and dykes of gabbro, diorite porphyry and quartz feldspar 

porphyry intrude the package concordant to bedding and pre-existing structures.  
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Figure 7: Regional Geological setting of the Kubi Gold Project.   

LATITUDE & LONGITUDE, ACCRA (1929), SEMS 2014  

 

Metamorphic grade ranges from lower greenschist facies in the Birimian sediments to upper amphibolite 

within intrusives and proximal to the main Birimian - Tarkwaian thrust. Major fault orientations are N-

S, E-W and NE-SW. Early ductile folding typically isoclinal, is overprinted along ENE trends typically 

tight to isoclinal, and finally overprinted again by open north-easterly plunging, westerly dipping folds. 

Generally only north plunging anticlines are preserved.  

 

7.2 Local and Property Geology 

The Kubi Main deposit is situated at the intersection of the main NE-SW trending Birimian Tarkwaian 

thrust contact and a major N-S trending basement fault. It strikes 1.8km at 020° adjacent to the local 

grid 4000E, between lines 5200N and 7000N. As part of its exploration program Nevsun Ghana 

completed detailed geological and structural mapping and logging of trenches, access roads and drill 

pads, adits and oriented drill core to evaluate the geological complexity of the deposit and to develop an 

understanding of the three dimensional controls to gold mineralisation within the deposit (Figure 7). 

  

Observations made in the adit mapping indicate that most of the minor fold hinges have been transposed 
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and that rarely does a simple fold pair occur. Further, where kink folds are observed the eastern limb is 

always shorter than the west, indicating that fold vergence is to the east. The data would tend to indicate 

that Kubi Main deposit was formed within the core, or hinge zone, of an anti-formal fold.  

 

Faults and shears, as the major dislocation features and obvious structures which will control 

mineralisation, exhibit two distinct orientation sets. A primary strike parallel set striking 000° -020°, 

dipping 85° to the west, and a conjugate E-W set which strike 275° and dip 79° to the north. The primary 

set correlate well with the primary foliation orientation, and strike of the ore body. Within the three 

dimensional model of the Kubi geology, a brittle, non-graphitic fault is consistently observed on or close 

to the western contact of the ‘Garnet Zone’.  It can be traced the length of the deposit. Slickensides 

observed in the core indicate that the last phase of movement was strike-slip. Kinematic indicators, such 

as vein offsets and sense of shear on minor thrusts observed in the adits and trenches, indicate that the 

sense of movement was sinistral. The secondary set probably represents the E-W transfer faults which 

clearly displace the Birimian-Tarkwaian contact.  

 

Quartz vein data was compiled to determine the primary fabrics of high grade gold bearing structures. 

The rose diagram shows a spread of strike orientations between 330° to 020°, with the bulk between 

350° to 020°. Pole concentrations observed on the stereo-net indicate three preferred orientation vein 

sets are developed within Kubi Main deposit. A primary strike parallel set striking 000° and dipping 

vertical. A secondary vein set strikes approximately 338° and dips 55° to the southwest. A third set 

strikes 017°, dipping 77° to the east. There is close correlation between the primary and tertiary vein 

sets and the primary fault orientation.  

 

7.3 Mineralisation 

The Kubi deposit gold mineralization is contained within a north-northeast trending shear zone close to 

the Birimian-Tarkwaian contact. The mineralization occurs in a 1.0 to 15.0 metre thick garnetiferous 

horizon within Birimian metasediments. This garnetiferous horizon contains fine grained gold associated 

with minor (5-15%) pyrite, arsenopyrite and pyrrhotite as well as some coarser gold which is associated 

with relatively narrow quartz veins. Some mineralization occurs in quartz veins and veinlets that cross-

cut the Birimian-Tarkwaian contact, outside of the main garnetiferous horizon. The deposit is situated at 

the intersection of the main NE-SW trending Birimian-Tarkwaian thrust and a major north/south 

trending basement fault. Structurally, it appears that the prominent foliation strikes at approximately 20 

degrees and dips steeply to the east while the mineralized zone has a similar strike but dips steeply to the 

west away from the Birimian-Tarkwaian contact.” 

 

“The Kubi Main deposit is situated adjacent to the main Birimian - Tarkwaian contact between local 

grid lines 5,200N and 7,000N.  

 

Seven mineralised zones have been defined within three major generative corridors:  

 

(i) Main Garnet Zone; (ii) Birimian - Tarkwaian contact; (iii) Hangingwall and Footwall Shears. 

The ‘Garnet Zone’ constitutes 85% of the Kubi Main Resource, a distinct, laterally persistent, rock unit 

located within the major boundary shear zone and characterised by dense garnet and amphibole 

development, pyrrhotite and free gold within quartz veins. At Kubi Main, it can be traced for two km 

along a consistent 020° strike (5000N - 7000N), and with a steep dip westerly of 85° - 75°. It is still open 

at a depth of 700 metres.  ‘Garnet Zone’ equivalent has been intersected with associated grade in 

boreholes drilled at Kubi South (3400N) and at the new 513 zone discovery, 1.4 km to the south west. 

  

Contacts range from finite welded junctions to moderately sheared gradational boundaries. The core of 

the unit is generally massive but light strain fabrics do develop shear-parallel along the contacts. 
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Remnant layering fabrics are observed in some intercepts and may be interpreted as possibly 

sedimentary in origin. Welded contacts, where discernible, are acute to and cross-cut earlier shear 

fabrics. On close examination of the Garnet Zone, the contacts exhibit a ‘feathering’ of alteration 

equivalent units within the adjacent sheared sediments.  

 

These host rocks exhibit varying degrees of hornfels alteration. Garnet development is ubiquitous 

throughout the contact zone and Tarkwaian rock package. They crosscut and overprint all earlier 

fabrics. The intrusives, found adjacent to the west of the Tarkwaian contact, have been identified as 

ortho-amphibolites, and also exhibit garnet alteration. Variations in both size of individual 

porphyroblasts and density would seem to be controlled principally by host lithology and/or proximity to 

major faults. Up to 35% of the rock mass can comprise well formed, euhedral garnets. Larger, 2-5mm, 

garnets are generally more developed in association with biotite, chlorite, hornblende and minor 

pyroxenes, in a more massive microcrystalline matrix. Smaller, 1 - 2 mm, pinhead sized garnets are 

more preferentially represented within argillaceous sediments.  In the Tarkwaian, the Kawere 

conglomerate is characteristically polymictic and exhibits a mix of metamorphic assemblages, 

dominantly controlled by the chemistry of the individual cobbles. Fine, well formed, rosettes of tremolite 

and actinolite can develop in association with pinhead garnets.  

 

The preferred orientations of quartz vein sets observed at Kubi Main deposit, correlates closely with the 

predictions made within the Reidel Model for orientation of shear fractures and extension fractures in a 

brittle - ductile shear zone.  

 

The ‘Garnet Zone’, rheologically, is perceived to have reacted as a homogenous mass under sinistral 

shear. The rock package, as a whole, is not, however, a homogeneous mass, and more intimate local 

controls on mineralisation may be imposed by the presence, attitude and geometry of the Garnet Zone, 

early cross-faulting, early fabric development and/or proximity along strike or dip of the fracture to the 

main conduit. 

  

The presence of auriferous, oblique, cross-cutting extension veins should be monitored as they may 

constitute discrete high grade flares within the mass. Hangingwall flares were investigated and found 

not to be significant over a distance of 20 metres laterally away from the main conduit.  

 

Overall it can be observed that quartz veins straddle and cross-cut the ‘Garnet Zone’, feathering into the 

surrounding host rock. Detailed selective sampling of both adits and core has demonstrated that 

although higher gold grades are often associated with quartz veins and zones of appreciable silica 

flooding, gold mineralisation within the host selvage proximal to the fracturing is also of economic 

tenor.  

 

8.0 DEPOSIT TYPES 

Within the Birimian and Tarkwaian lithologies of Ghana there are three major types and one minor type 

of gold mineralization:  

 Reef, Vein or Lode gold deposits associated with regional scaled shear zones, such as Obuasi 

gold mine to north of Kubi.  

 Granitoid-hosted, mesothermal gold mineralization, such as Ayanfuri gold mine to south west of 

Kubi.  

 Auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerate deposits such as at Tarkwa and, Recent, alluvial gold 

concentrations. 

  

The Kubi deposit mineralisation style is considered to be type 1: Birimian aged, shear hosted, reef, vein 

or lode gold deposit.  
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9.0 EXPLORATION 

9.1 Historical Exploration 

In, the, late, 1980’s, BHP, carried, out, stream, sediment, sampling, soil sampling, VLF-EM and 

magnetometer  surveys,  litho-geochemical  sampling,  trenching,  rehabilitated  old  adits, geologically  

mapped,  drilled 12  diamond  drill  holes,  completed  a  preliminary  resource calculation and initiated 

metallurgical studies.  

 

Nevsun Ghana optioned the property from BHP in 1993 and explored the Kubi property for six years 

until 1999.  During that time the following work was completed:  

 

Soil Sampling:  Over 143.6 km of grid lines cleared and 5,744 samples collected. 

Ground Magnetics: A total of 179.8 km surveyed at 10 metre station intervals. 

IP survey:  Covering 110.9 km with 50 metre dipole intervals. 

Radiometric surveys: Covering 37.5 km at 10 metre station intervals. 

Trenching:  Excavation of 13.75 km to three metres depth in 137 trenches. 

Adits and shafts: Sampling and mapping of 27 old workings. 

RAB Drilling:  A total of 14,296 metres drilled in 499 holes. 

RC Drilling:  A total of 19,274 metres drilled in 229 holes. 

DD Drilling:  A total of 68,339 metres drilled in 218 holes 

 

Ashanti, before merging with AngloGold, took ownership of the prospect in 1999 and following a further 

exploration phase undertook mining of the surficial oxide deposits. AngloGold Ashanti completed the 

partial rehabilitation of the Kubi open pit in 2005.  

 

PMI Gold explored the Kubi Gold Project from 2008 to 2013. A summary of the work completed on both 

the Kubi Mining Leases and the Dunkwa Gyimigya Prospecting Licence by PMI Gold is presented in this 

Report.  

 

9.2  Exploration completed by PMI Gold (2008 - 2010)  

PMI Gold commenced exploration activities on the Kubi Gold Project in 2009. The initial focus of  

PMI Gold’s work was to further assess target areas outside the limits of the defined mineral resource.  

 

9.2.1   Geophysical Surveys Airborne Survey  

During 18th May to 28th June 2010, New Resolution Geophysics carried out a high resolution helicopter 

borne magnetic and radiometric survey for PMI Gold over the Kubi Gold Project. A total of 1,390 line 

km covering approximately 126 sq km were flown at an azimuth of 130º with an average terrain 

clearance of 30m and line separation of 100 m. Data was recorded at about 2m intervals. 
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Figure 9:  Analytical signal and total magnetic field. UTM 30N, WGS84, PMI GOLD 2009 “ 

 

“Ground Geophysical Surveys  

Very Low Frequency Electromagnetic surveys (VLF - EM)  

VLF-EM survey grids were laid out to follow up interpreted conductive zones outlined by Nevsun’s 1995 

helicopter born electromagnetic surveys (HEM).  

 

An 18.6 KHz portable Geonics Tx - 27 local source VLF - EM Transmitter was used in the data 

acquisition. An antenna line laid parallel to the dominant regional geological strike was used to 

generate and transmit the signals and the ground response was measured with a VLF receiver. Field 

strengths and dip angles were measured on 100m lines and readings were recorded at 12.5m station 

spacing. “ 

 

“Induced Polarization Surveys  

A 3.6 Kw GDD Instrumentation Tx II Induced Polarization transmitter and an Iris 10 channel Elrec Pro 

receiver were utilized to acquire the data.  Pole - dipole array, with a dipole spacing of ‘a’= 50m, and, 

‘n’ = 6, was employed. Survey lines were 200m apart and readings were recorded at 50m intervals. Raw 

resistivity and apparent chargeability data were gridded and contoured after editing. They have been 

found useful in mapping geologic boundaries, and in defining the Kubi structure.”  
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“9.2.2   Geochemical Surveys  

Soil geochemistry  

Soil sampling was conducted on the western part of the Gyimigya Prospecting Licence at 25 m intervals 

on 9 lines spaced 200 to 400 metres apart. Samples were collected with a so-so tool (a local tool with 

steel blade and wood handle) at depths of 30 to 60 cm in the B soil horizon, well below the bottom of the 

A horizon. A total of 480 soil samples plus 26 duplicates and blanks were submitted to SGS laboratory at 

Bibiani.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 14:  Soil Geochemistry - Au.  UTM 30N, WGS84, PMI GOLD 2009  

 

PMI Gold and Nevsun sample data are summarized on Figures 14 and 15. The data plot shows a 

widespread weakly (40+ ppb) to locally strongly anomalous (peaks 150 to 17000 ppb Nevsun grid; 543 

ppb PMI grid) gold values over a wide area. However, in view of the mostly subdued topography in the 

survey area, the colluvium to 4 metres thick, especially in low lying areas, intense saprolite development, 

and scattered high spot values, it is concluded that gold soil geochemistry can provide targets only in a 

very broad sense. Arsenic data is not available on all of the Nevsun grid. Arsenic at +50 ppm has a less 

dispersed distribution in soils and appears to have some use in defining shear zones, particularly the 

Kubi structure. “ 
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“Auger sampling  

A program of auger sampling was conducted after an initial phase of diamond drilling discovered the 

513 zone.  The auger drilling program was completed to prioritize ground geophysical VLF-EM targets 

prior to diamond drill testing.  Work was contracted to Kam Associates Ltd. who used a Cobra portable 

percussion drill rig. The auger holes were drilled on 12.5 metre centers and 50.0 metre line spacing 

across the four linear conductive zones delineated by local source VLF-EM surveys, named anomalies, 

A1 through A4. A total of 429 “spoon” samples collected at depths of 3 to 6 metres were submitted to 

SGS laboratories in Bibiani. Samples were placed in 1 m long wood trays which were taken to the 

Dunkwa warehouse, and then placed in cloth or plastic sample bags. Samples were treated in a similar 

manner for core samples, described below. All were analyzed for gold by 50 g Au fire assay with atomic 

absorption (AA) finish and arsenic by AA.  

 

Significantly, all 21 of the anomalous gold samples occur in a distinct linear trend from the A1 target 

Zone in the north 600 metres southerly to the center of the A3 target area, both hereinafter referred to as 

the 513 zone. No anomalous gold values were encountered in drilling on the A2 and A4 targets. 

Subsequent diamond drilling on the A3 target encountered significant gold values in holes 521 and 522.  

 

9.3 Exploration completed by PMI Gold (2011 - 2013) 

During this period, PMI Gold excavated three trenches and collected one set of channel samples. The 

trenching program did not produce any significant intersections, however, the channel sampling 

returned an intersection of 19 m at 2.07 g/t (Table 4). 

 

SampleID Hole_ID mFrom mTo Sample_Type Au_ppm 

180697 KUCH12-01 77 79 CHIPS  8.242 

180698 KUCH12-01 79 81 CHIPS  1.258 

180699 KUCH12-01 81 84 CHIPS  0.11 

180700 KUCH12-01 84 87 CHIPS  1.856 

180701 KUCH12-01 87 90 CHIPS  2.222 

180702 KUCH12-01 90 93 CHIPS  1.067 

180703 KUCH12-01 93 96 CHIPS  1.527  

  KUCH12-01 77 96 CHIPS  2.07 

Table 4: PMI channel sampling; artisanal workings close to Kubi open pit (2011 - 2013)  

 

10.0  DRILLING  

All surficial, exploration and resource drilling on the Kubi Gold Project has been undertaken by either 

diamond core drilling, RC or RAB drilling. All drillhole collars were surveyed, however, a number of 

earlier core holes were not surveyed down-hole with respect to azimuth and declination.  

 

The database provided to SEMS in 2010 for geological modeling and resource estimation comprised 

data from 226 drill holes.  Generally the drill data was in a good condition however, the accuracy of 

downhole survey data in some holes may be unreliable.   There may also be elevation inconsistencies 

between different drill hole collar survey campaigns.  

 

10.1  PMI Gold 2009-2010 drilling program  

A total of 2,559 metres of reconnaissance diamond drilling in 22 holes was conducted in two phases. 

Drilling was contracted to Burwash Drilling, who used a Longyear 38 skid mounted drill rig with HQ 

and NQ size coring.  

 

Regional strike of stratigraphy and structure is roughly 020º (north northeast) dipping near vertical. 

Drilling was conducted perpendicular to this strike at 110º or 290º, at angles of -45º to -65º, so that true 
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widths of intercepts are approximately 50 to 65% of those obtained. Drill hole coordinates were 

surveyed with hand held GPS units with precision between 5 and 8 metres horizontally. Downhole 

surveys were collected on approximately 50m downhole intervals, using a Reflex EZ-Shot®, an 

electronic single shot instrument manufactured by Reflex of Sweden.  

 

Drill collar information is presented in Table 5.  

 

Hole_id Local Grid  WGS84  Elev. Azimuth Dip Length 

  E N E N RL Deg  Deg Metres 
KV09-501 2527 4680 639069 663942 146 110  -50 100.59 

KV09-502 2646 4789 639218 664003 127 290  -50 321.78 

KV09-503 3669 2753 639475 661739 124 110  -50 102.41 

KV09-504 3585 2802 639413 661814 124 290  -50 81.08 

KV09-505 1640 1206 637037 660988 130 290  -50 101.80 

KV09-506 1471 1178 636868 661020 124 290  -50 114.00 

KV09-507 1360 1203 636773 661082 138 290  -50 88.39 

KV09-508 1092 1415 636594 661373 150 290  -50 95.71 

KV09-509 2646 4789 639218 664003 127 110  -45 106.68 

KV09-510 2646 4789 639218 664003 127 290  -65 134.72 

KV09-511 2638 4725 639187 663951 124 290  -50 112.17 

KV09-512 2619 4640 639169 663913 152 290  -50 79.25 

KV09-513 2912 4400 639351 663534 138 290  -50 84.13 

KV09-514 2200 5000 638855 664282 119 290  -50 111.25 

KV09-515 1070 1300 636540 661266 137 290  -45 104.24 

KV09-516 1719 1502 637220 661239 163 290  -45 170.99 

KV09-517 2912 4425 639359 663558 137 290  -50 100.89 

KV09-518 2913 4400 639351 663534 138 290  -65 126.49 

KV09-519 2912 4375 639343 663510 140 290  -50 89.92 

KV10-520 2950 3850 639166 663025 152 290  -50 98.45 

KV10-521 2963 3900 639198 663065 143 290  -50 107.60 

KV10-522 2963 3950 639207 663113 143 290  -60 126.49 

 

Table 5: Kubi project diamond drilling collar details 2009 - 2010  

 

Rock types encountered include greywacke, phyllite, gabbro (possibly as metabasalt), tuff and minor 

felsic intrusions. Any intervals with shearing, presence of quartz veins, sulphides and garnet were 

sampled.”  

 

“Drill holes KV09-510 to 519 were drilled on targets generated by ground and airborne geophysical 

surveys and  soil  geochemistry.  This resulted in the discovery of significant mineralization at the 513 

zone, which is hosted in garnetized metagabbro (similar to the garnet zone of the Kubi deposit). Drill 

holes KV10-520 to 522, drilled after auger sampling defined a trend to the south (the A3 auger 

geochemical target, mentioned above), also encountered significant grades, again in garnetized 

metagabbro, indicating   a potential mineralized zone at least 600 metres long.  

 

Drilling was supervised by Mr. Paul Abbot, MSc, independent consulting geologist, member of 

Geological Society of South Africa, and qualified person according to guidelines of Canadian National 

Instrument 43-101. Core recovery is typically very good with little evidence of core loss, except locally 

in the saprolite intervals at the top of the drill holes and in some shear zones.  
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10.2  PMI Gold 2011 - 2013 drilling program  

Between 2011 and 2013 PMI Gold continued to explore the Kubi Gold Project completing 1,627 drill 

holes within the Kubi Mining Lease, comprising 38 diamond core drill holes, 283 air core drill holes and 

1,306 auger drill holes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 16:  PMI Gold drilling; purple drill collars are air core holes, red collars are diamond core 

holes.  UTM 30N, WGS84, GOOGLE EARTH IMAGE, SEMS 2014  

 

 

The Diamond drill holes targeted three separate zones within the Kubi Mining Lease.   Seven holes were 

drilled under the southern extent of the historic Kubi open pit, twelve holes were drilled south of the 

Kubi village, targeting the southern extensions of the Kubi Main zone, and nineteen holes were drilled 

over the soil anomaly to the west of the Kubi mineralised trend. This zone is thought to cover the 

projection of the mineralized Ashanti Shear mined at Obuasi (Figure 16).  
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SampleIDHole_ID From To Sample_Type Auppm From To Int Au ppm 

 

125054 KV12-523 79 80 HCORE  2.246 

125055 KV12-523 80 81 HCORE  2.395 

125056 KV12-523 81 82 HCORE  1.598 

125057 KV12-523 82 83 HCORE  0.264 

125058 KV12-523 83 84 HCORE  2.039 

125059 KV12-523 84 85 HCORE  6.091 

125060 KV12-523 85 86 HCORE  1.054 79 86 7 2.24 

 

126687 KV12-538 85 86 HCORE  6.529 

126688 KV12-538 86 87 HCORE  4.476 

126689 KV12-538 87 88 HCORE  3.306 

126690 KV12-538 88 89 HCORE  1.411 

126691 KV12-538 89 90 HCORE  1.743 

126692 KV12-538 90 91 HCORE  1.872 

126693 KV12-538 91 92 HCORE  1.988 

126694 KV12-538 92 93 HCORE  1.213 

126695 KV12-538 93 94 HCORE  2.382 

126697 KV12-538 94 95 HCORE  0.226 

126698 KV12-538 95 96 HCORE  1.102 85 96 11 2.39 

 

126981 KV12-540 103 104 HCORE  3.648 

126982 KV12-540 104 105 HCORE  7.845 

126983 KV12-540 105 106 HCORE  2.03 

126984 KV12-540 106 107 HCORE  2.528 

126985 KV12-540 107 108 HCORE  1.501 103 108 5 3.51 

 

128867 KV12-549 116 117 HCORE  1.185 

128868 KV12-549 117 118 HCORE  0.926 

128869 KV12-549 118 119 HCORE  1.422 

128870 KV12-549 119 120 HCORE  2.613 

128872 KV12-549 120 121 HCORE  2.894 

128873 KV12-549 121 122 HCORE  1.827 116 122 6 1.81 

 

130252 KV12-555 260 261 HCORE  16.731 

130253 KV12-555 261 262 HCORE  1.254 260 262 2 8.99 

 

130628 KV12-556 230 231 HCORE  1.292 

130629 KV12-556 231 232 HCORE  4.227 

130631 KV12-556 232 233 HCORE  15.639 

130632 KV12-556 233 234 HCORE  3.309 230 234 4 6.12 

 

Table 7:  PMI Gold diamond core drilling; significant sections (2011 - 2012)  

 

The diamond drill holes completed by PMI Gold between 2011 and 2013 did not result in any material 

change to the 2010 mineral resource estimate.  Six of these holes recorded mineralised intersections 

within the Kubi Main zone with values above the 2 g/t cut off.  The remaining holes have not identified 

any new or continuous mineralised zone.  A list of significant intersections is presented in Table 7.  

 

An extensive program of air core and auger drilling was undertaken by PMI Gold between 2011 and 

2012 targeting the interpreted position of the ‘Ashanti Shear’ zone which lies 1.5 km to the west of the 

Kubi Main zone (Figure 16).  
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Several encouraging intersections were achieved in the air core drilling program.  With a definite  

NNE trend identified coincident with the interpreted position of the Ashanti Shear (Figure 17). “ 

 

“The PMI Gold air core drilling recorded a number of significant intersections that require further 

testing.   The fact that several intersections on adjoining drill sections line up over the interpreted 

‘Ashanti Shear’ is justification for a diamond drilling program.  Note that the PMI Gold diamond drill 

holes sited to the west of the Kubi Main zone appear to have been collared 350 metres to the east of the 

air core intersections. A list of significant air core intersections in presented in Table 8 below.  

 

SampleID Hole_ID From To Au_ppm From To Interval Au_ppm Comment 

KU62590 KUAC12-051 51 52 2.491 

KU62591 KUAC12-051 52 53 1.27 

KU62592 KUAC12-051 53 54 0.101 51 54 3 1.29 end of hole 

KU62996 KUAC12-058 49 50 1.162 

KU62997 KUAC12-058 50 51 2.128 49 51 2 1.65 end of hole 

KU65416 KUAC12-138 6 7 0.218 

KU65417 KUAC12-138 7 8 0.118 

KU65418 KUAC12-138 8 9 0.099 

KU65419 KUAC12-138 9 10 1.155 

KU65421 KUAC12-138 10 11 0.373 

KU65422 KUAC12-138 11 12 2.266 

KU65423 KUAC12-138 12 13 18.529 

KU65424 KUAC12-138 13 14 5.763 

KU65425 KUAC12-138 14 15 2.951 

KU65426 KUAC12-138 15 16 2.119 

KU65427 KUAC12-138 16 17 1.119 

KU65428 KUAC12-138 17 18 0.196 

KU65429 KUAC12-138 18 19 0.294 

KU65431 KUAC12-138 19 20 0.112 6 20 14 2.52 

KU72417 KUAC12-071 17 18 0.135 

KU72418 KUAC12-071 18 19 9.506 

KU72419 KUAC12-071 19 20 2.274 

KU72421 KUAC12-071 20 21 0.154 17 21 4 3.02 

KU73627 KUAC12-093 21 22 1.134 

KU73628 KUAC12-093 22 23 0.259 

KU73629 KUAC12-093 23 24 0.261 

KU73631 KUAC12-093 24 25 0.058 

KU73632 KUAC12-093 25 26 2.298 

KU73633 KUAC12-093 26 27 1.876 

KU73634 KUAC12-093 27 28 0.51 

KU73636 KUAC12-093 28 29 1.878 

KU73637 KUAC12-093 29 30 2.021 

KU73638 KUAC12-093 30 31 1.563 

KU73639 KUAC12-093 31 32 0.54 21 32 11 1.13 

 

Table 8: PMI Gold air core drilling; significant intersections (2011 - 2013) 
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10.3 Drill sampling approach and methodology 

The 2010 mineral resource estimation was based upon drillhole data collected by Nevsun Ghana.  

Therefore a review of Nevsun Ghana’s drill sample handling procedures was undertaken by SEMS.  

 

10.3.1  Nevsun Diamond Drill Core Sampling  

Diamond drill core was HQ size (63.5 mm diameter) in upper oxidized material (regolith) and NQ size 

(47.6 mm diameter) in the lower fresh rock portion of the hole.   Drill core obtained from diamond 

drilling is deposited directly from the core tube into core boxes.  

 

The diamond drill core was geologically and structurally logged and then saw-split lengthwise into two 

equal halves.   Half core was generally sampled in one metre lengths although some sample lengths were 

shortened to conform to geological contacts where appropriate.  

 

10.3.2  Nevsun Reverse Circulation (“RC”) Drill Sampling  

RC samples were collected in one metre intervals Bulk samples (~ 25 to 30 kg) were passed through a 

two-tier riffle splitter to produce a nominal 2 to 3 kg sample for assay.  

 

10.3.3  PMI Gold 2009-2013 Drill Core Sampling  

All sampling conducted by PMI Gold was carried out under the direct supervision of senior personnel. 

Drill core was collected after each drill shift by company technical assistants and brought, to, the, 

company’s, office, and, warehouse, site, at, nearby, town, of, Dunkwa., Core was oriented in the core 

tray and measured, and percentage recovery and Rock Quality Density (RQD) calculated and recorded 

by geological technicians. Core was then logged by Paul Abbot, who selected and marked sample 

intervals along the core axis perpendicular to foliation. Sample intervals, selected at his discretion, 

generally varied from 0.25 to 1 metre, depending on rock type or observed presence of free gold.  

 

Drill core was subsequently photographed and sawn longitudinally along the marked axis. The right 

hand side of the core was always submitted for analysis with the left side being stored in trays on site. 

Core recovery in all the above summarized intervals was 100%, except for the 8.00 metre interval in 

drill hole KV10-521, which averaged 96%.  

 

11.0  SAMPLE PREPARATION, ANALYSES AND SECURITY  

11.1 Nevsun Ghana 

The 2010 mineral resource estimation is based upon drillhole data collected by Nevsun Ghana. 

Therefore a review of Nevsun Ghana’s drill sample preparation and analysis procedures was 

undertaken by SEMS.  

 

11.1.1  Implementation and Supervision of Sample Preparation  

Core samples collected by Nevsun were routinely submitted to Rossbacher Laboratory in Vancouver and 

Intertek Testing Facility at Obuasi for preparation and analysis. The entire sample was oven dried, 

crushed to -10# using a Rhino Jaw Crusher and pulverized to 95% passing 75 micron by an LM2 puck 

pulveriser equipped with a B2000 (2.5 kg) bowl. A 50g sub-split is taken for fire assay decomposition, 

lead collection, aqua regia digest, MIBK/AAS finish.  

 

With respect to the RAB drill program all composite samples were prepared and analysed by Intertek 

Testing Services facility at Obuasi. They were oven dried, totally pulverized to 95% passing 75 micron 

using an LM2 Labtechnics puck pulveriser.  

 

Fifty gram (50g) sub-splits were taken for fire assay decomposition, MIBK - A.A.S. finish. Gravimetric 

checks were conducted on any samples grading 10 g/t Au and over. The concurrent analytical quality 
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control being conducted within the sample stream for RC was considered suffice to cover the batches of 

RAB samples being analysed at the same time. Blind duplicate submission of one metre intervals will 

provide an adequate retrospective check on analytical quality.  

 

11.1.2  Analytical Procedures and Protocols  

The entire core sample was oven dried, crushed to -10# using a Rhino Jaw Crusher and pulverized to 

95% passing 75 micron by an LM2 puck pulveriser equipped with a B2000 (2.5 kg) bowl. A 50g sub-split 

was taken for fire assay decomposition, lead collection, aqua regia digest, MIBK/AAS finish.  

 

With respect to the RC drilling program all samples were prepared and analysed by Intertek Testing 

Services facility at Obuasi. They were oven dried, totally pulverized with 95% passing 75 micron using 

an LM2 Labtechnics puck pulveriser. 50g sub-splits were taken for fire assay decomposition, MIBK - 

A.A.S. finish. Gravimetric checks were conducted on any samples grading 10g/t Au and over.  

 

11.1.3  Quality Control Measures Employed  

When Nevsun Ghana assumed control of the project from CME, considerable effort was made to review 

quality control of the prior sampling campaigns. A review by Analytical Solutions Ltd in 1998, (Report 

on Laboratory Procedures for the Kubi, Juabo, Tabakoto and Kakadian Projects of Nevsun Resources 

Ltd (1994-1996) Lynda Bloom August 1997), raised concerns about the accuracy of the CME results. A 

number of steps were taken to try and verify the quality of the work and the results. After twinning some 

holes and duplicate sampling and the lab audits, there were no red flags raised. It was concluded that 

the CME results could be relied upon.  

 

Post 1996, quality control was administrated on a number of levels throughout the program. Procedural 

quality control was devised with the assistance of RSG and the close supervision of the Nevsun Ghana 

geologists. Industry standards and procedures were implemented in each facet of the project.  

 

In order to obtain samples with the minimum of contamination a rigorous adherence to quality sampling 

measures was employed. This included the cleaning of the cyclone as frequently as possible, cleaning of 

sample splitters after processing every sample, and the application of controlled tube sampling for wet 

samples.  

 

Strict adherence to the data management protocol and the geological administrative framework 

facilitated the internal due diligence program. The standard procedures and collection formats seek to 

illustrate the quality of data handling achieved on the project i.e. information capture and subsequent 

database validation.  

 

Analytical quality control was monitored by the routine submission of commercial Standard Reference 

Materials (SRM) purchased from GEOSTATS PTY Ltd., and an internally prepared blank alternately at 

every 25th and 75th sample position.” 

 

“Field duplicates were selected for every 15, 40, 65 and 90 sample numbers in a sequence and submitted 

blind as a batch monthly.” 

  

“Assay results, provided by ITS Laboratory, Obuasi for samples submitted from the Kubi Gold Project 

in the course of the drilling program, were of acceptable standard.” 

 

“11.2 PMI Gold 2009-2013 Drilling 

All drill core samples collected by PMI Gold were submitted to the SGS Mineral Services laboratory 

based in Tarkwa. The SGS quality system is stated to follow the guidelines of ISO17025 (International 
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Organisation for Standardization accreditation). Sample procedure is as follows: 3 kg or less of sample 

is dried, and jaw crushed to 3mm. Sample is pulverised to a nominal 95% passing -75 micron using an 

LM2 pulveriser.   Two pulp samples are taken for analysis and pulp storage. Gold analysis is on a 50g 

charge, Fire Assay fusion, lead collection, Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) determination to 

0.1ppm. Arsenic is by AAS.  

 

In addition to the internal quality control (QC) provided by SGS, blanks and standards were inserted by 

PMI into the sample stream. Blanks were prepared from locally available materials with known values 

of 0.1 g/t Au or less.   Standards, which became available later in the drill program, were purchased 

from WCM Minerals, a recognized Canadian producer of standard assay materials.  

 

Duplicate samples of quarter cut samples from the remaining half were not included because of the wide 

assay variance noted in dealing with material of high nugget gold effect (e.g. samples with visible free 

gold on occasion return negligible assay values), and hence are of limited use in arriving at any 

conclusion regarding QC. 

  

All crushing and grinding is carried out at the SGS analytical laboratory. Sample pulps and coarse 

reject material were returned to PMI Gold after completion of sample analysis, and were stored at the 

Dunkwa warehouse. Some pulps may be available for further analysis, if required.”  

 

“Not enough samples have been sent to laboratories in the relatively short program conducted by PMI 

Gold at Kubi to date, to warrant a full statistical analysis. Visual inspection of standard and blank 

assays indicates that in general, the quality of results is reasonably good.  A program of re-assay along 

with submittal of samples to other laboratories will be implemented with more rigor, especially once 

drilling is beyond the reconnaissance stage. 

  

Drill core is transported from the drill site to the company’s core preparation facility by technical staff. 

Upon photographing, logging and sampling, individually bagged core samples are packed in heavy 

plastic sacks (i.e. 5 to 10 samples per), tied with heavy cord or binding wire and made ready for 

transport to the laboratory. 

  

All samples are firmly secured and locked in a designated sample room at the Dunkwa field office,  until  

pickup  by  representatives  of  SGS  laboratories.  A sample submission form accompanies each 

shipment, which is transported to the assay laboratory in trucks operated by laboratory employees or 

contractors. The company geologist, responsible for core logging and sampling, or senior personnel 

holds the only key to the room where samples are secured. He is responsible at all times for their secure 

delivery to laboratory representatives.  

 

In the author’s opinion the sample preparation, security, and analytical procedures are consistent with 

industry best practise.  

 

12.0  DATA VERIFICATION  

SEMS has not undertaken any primary data verification by way of independently sampling drill holes or 

surface expressions and assaying those samples. This is considered reasonable given that the Kubi Gold 

Project has been subject to trial mining by Anglo Gold Ashanti whose results support the overall grade 

models. 

  

SEMS has therefore relied on the assurances of the Directors of Goknet that there has been no 

deliberate misrepresentation of the data provided. 
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Verification procedures to date have only involved inspection of results of blanks and standards inserted 

by PMI Gold (the latter when standards became available), and by comparing assays with geological 

intervals and adjacent sample intervals.  Examination of these results indicates that laboratory services 

provided by SGS are acceptable. 

  

Sample preparation and laboratory submittal on the Kubi Gold Project were identical to procedures 

adopted at PMI Gold’s concurrent Obotan Project, where considerably more drilling was undertaken 

during this period. Samples from that project were selected and submitted to another laboratory by an 

independent consultant, who discusses the results of this study (Spiers, 2010).  In comparing the two 

data sets he states that “after removal of two outliers, the two datasets display a very close correlation 

with the correlation coefficient and rank correlation coefficients being 0.95 and 0.89 respectively”. His 

conclusion is “that quality control measures undertaken by PMI Gold have established that the 

historical RC and DD samples and the recent drill sampling is representative and free of any biases or 

other factors that would materially impact the reliability of the sampling, and analytical results”.  

 

 

13.0  MINERAL PROCESSING AND METALLURICAL TESTING  

BHP completed preliminary metallurgical work on both the oxide and primary mineralisation found at 

the Kubi Main zone. Oxide material from trenches and adits was subjected to bottle roll tests on 1.0 kg 

samples carried out at S.G.S. Laboratories in Ghana. Samples were pulverized to -150 mesh and bottle 

rolled for 24 hours. Recoveries from four samples varied from 60.2% to 100%. Bottle roll tests, 

performed on sulphide material taken from drill core were subjected to the same procedure as above but 

on only 500 g of material. Gold recoveries varied between 64.4% and 84.4%. BHP carried out similar 

tests on the sulphide mineralization in their own laboratory in California. Test time was extended to 48 

hours and material was pulverized to -325 mesh. Gold recoveries on three tests varied between 97.1% 

and 98.6%. It was also determined that graphite was in the crystalline state and had no effect on gold 

recoveries. The pyrrhotite and arsenopyrite had no serious affect on cyanide consumption. In 1997 

Process Research Assoc. of Canada conducted test work on the Kubi ores. Floatation test recovered 

91.6% of the gold into 7.1% of the mass. Initial cyanidation tests indicated that recoveries exceeding 

97% were readily attainable but that long leach times were required due to the presence of coarse gold. 

A work bond index of 15.8kWh/tonne was determined.  

 

In 1998 Kappes, Cassidy and Associates (Nevada) were contracted to test the static leach characteristics 

of the ore types and assess the physical and chemical attributes of the Kubi material for possible Heap 

Leach processing. The average gold recovery on oxide material from column leach tests was 90.4% at a 

crush size of -25mm. However, only 33.5% recovery was obtained on primary material at a crush size of 

-9.5mm.  

 

In 1996, Nevsun instructed CME to have preliminary metallurgical work carried out on the Kubi Main 

sulphide material. CME contracted OROCON Inc. (Vancouver). OROCON subsequently subcontracted 

the work to PROCESS RESEARCH ASSOCIATES (Vancouver) (PRA) to actually carry out the testing. 

Approximately 200kg of mineralized core was received by PRA. Various tests were conducted, 

including:  

 

•  Cyanidation tests, pulverizing 80% to -200 mesh using extraction times of 72 hours  

•   Flotation tests  

•  Amalgamation tests  

 

13.1  Bond Work Index determinations  

Additional cyanidation tests were subsequently done using various grinds and extraction times. A gravity 
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concentration test at 75% passing -200 mesh was also carried out. In addition, active graphite material 

was added to cyanidation tests to determine the effects this would have on gold recoveries. 

Amalgamation tests reported a potential gold recovery of 62.8% while gravity concentration tests 

indicated recoveries of 66%. Flotation tests reportedly recovered 91.6% of the gold into 7.1% of the 

mass. Further testing to determine possible gold recovery by leaching the flotation concentrate, and 

possibly the tailings, was recommended. Cyanidation tests indicated recoveries in the order of 97% were 

possible, but long leach times, in excess of 50 hours, were required. The presence of un-dissolved coarse 

gold seemed to be problematic. Gravity concentration in the milling circuit was suggested. The presence 

of graphite within the mineralisation indicated there may be some pregnant solution robbing. A Carbon-

in-Leach circuit was recommended. Using a mixture of Kubi mineralization and graphitic schist, 

(initially using a gravity concentrate), produced recoveries of 79.4% to 90.6%, depending on the test 

conditions and the sample head grade.  

 

Further work was recommended to optimise recoveries and test potential plant flow sheets. In April, 

1998 Nevsun Ghana contracted LAKEFIELD RESEARCH LTD. (Toronto) to conduct additional test 

work, focusing on the gravity separation and dynamic cyanide amenability of the Kubi oxide ores. As 

part of the current exploration program Nevsun Ghana have conducted a number of 1kg bottle roll tests 

on individual intervals within the resource model to assess the variation of recovery with depth and ore 

type.  

 

In August, 1998 KAPPES, CASSIDY and Associates (Reno, Nevada) were contracted to test the static 

leach characteristics of the ore types and assess the physical and chemical attributes of the Kubi 

material for possible Heap Leach processing. The test work required a 60 day column leach.   

 

In late 2010 PMI submitted a 75kg sample of Kubi sulphide ore to Gekko Systems Pty Ltd of Ballarat, 

Australia for gravity, flotation and intensive leaching amenability tests. Test work showed that at 

relatively coarse sizes (600µm) only low recoveries in both gravity and flotation were achieved. But this 

improved significantly at finer sizes (106µm) with a combination of high mass pull gravity and flotation 

concentration capable of producing a concentrate recovering 94.1% of the gold into 17.8% of the mass. 

Initial intensive leaching test work results varied from 86% to 99% but were conducted on gravity 

concentrates only, and further leach testing would be recommended corresponding to the product of the 

final downstream processing option.  

 

14.0  MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATES  

14.1 Historical Mineral Resource Estimates 

In August 2007 Golder Associates Africa (Pty) Ltd (“Golder”) undertook a review and mineral resource 

estimation of the Kubi Gold Project (Kubi Project Mineral Assets, August 2007
1
).  Their final estimate is 

presented in table seven, below: 

  

 

Category Tonnage  Grade  Contained Gold 

  Tonnes (million) (g/t Au) (oz) 

Indicated 5.13   3.66  604,000 

Inferred 5.38   1.88  315,000 

 

 Table 10:  Mineral Resource Estimation, 2007  

 

1 Qualified Persons Report on the Kubi Project Mineral Assets of Nevsun Resources (Ghana) Ltd. 

August 2007 for PMI Gold Corporation, D. Farrow - Golder Associates Africa (Pty) Ltd.  
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The Golder mineral resource estimate was based upon a geologically constrained wireframe that 

modelled a garnetiferous unit within which the bulk of the Kubi mineralisation is hosted. No cutoff grade 

was applied to the Golder mineral resource estimation.  

 

14.2  Mineral Resource Estimate, November 2010  

In November 2010 SEMS undertook a mineral resource estimate for the Main Zone of the Kubi Gold 

Project for PMI Gold, using parameters considered appropriate for a gold deposit that is likely to be 

exploited by underground mining methods. The mineral resource estimate was prepared in accordance 

with the Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves set out by the Canadian 

Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum’,(“CIM”) and was managed, reviewed, and approved by, 

and was the full responsibility of, the author. All work was carried out using Datamine software. The 

drilling data was verified in accordance with standard QA-QC procedures.  

 

The drillhole database for the resource estimate of the Kubi property consisted of a total of 226 

drillholes (219 diamond and 7 RC), of which 129 holes (38,975 m) were located in the mineral resource 

estimate area, covering a strike distance of 1,000 metres. The remaining drilling covered areas north 

and south along strike that were only sparsely mineralised. 

  

The known mineralised portion of the Kubi Main Zone covers a strike length of 2 km, but is only 

sufficiently developed for mineral resource estimation within the central 1,000 m, where depths extend to 

over 600 m. The deposit is a high grade, high nugget effect, narrow vertical sheet-like structure, 

separated into several individual lodes, which could best be exploited by underground mining. Drilling 

tested mainly fresh mineralisation, and mineral resource delineation is solely focused on fresh rock. 

Although mineralisation outcrops, most of the near surface oxidised material has either been mined out, 

or is subject to constraints due to a forest reserve.  

 

Modelling of the Kubi Main mineralised zones was achieved by sectional digitising of mineralisation 

outlines on 40 m spaced sections perpendicular to mineralisation strike. End sections were usually 

constrained by other data and were not extrapolated.  

 

The continuity of mineralisation down dip is particularly strong and modelling was extrapolated up to 

70 m down dip from drill intersections dependent on supporting sections and the strength of 

intersections. Mineralisation was generally modelled to depths of not more than 4-500 m below surface, 

with a maximum depth of 700 m in one instance.  

 

Gold grades for the reported mineral resource model were determined using Inverse Distance Squared 

interpolation.  The final open pit surface, as mined by AngloGold Ashanti, was depleted from the model.  
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Figure 19 (left): Surface plan of drill hole locations for the Kubi Property (resource estimation area 

denoted by section lines)  DATEMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

Figure 20 (right): A surface plan of interpretive sections, drill hole traces, pit outline and mineralisation 

wireframe model.  DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

14.3  Approach  

Wireframes were created from the digitised mineralisation outlines to be representative of the nature 

and structure of the Kubi Main mineralised zones. A block model was created from the wireframes  into  

which  the  various  attributes  such  as  grade,  density,  oxidation  state, classification, etc., could be 

assigned and stored.  

 

The Kubi Mineral Resource estimation was constrained within four geological domains that limit the 

influence of grade interpolation to an individual domain.  

 

The methodology of generating the Kubi Main resource model is described briefly below:  

•  Surface drillhole sample data were loaded into and validated using Datamine, which was then 

 used for Mineral Resource modelling.  

•  Modelling of the mineralisation was achieved by sectional digitising of mineralised outlines on 

 nineteen perpendicular sections, at an average 40 m spacing but varying  from 35-50 m depending 

 on drill density.  

•  A nominal 2.0 g/t Au cut-off grade was used in defining the mineralisation, but ensuring 

 continuity between sections.  A minimum width of two metres, true width, was applied to the 

 mineralised outlines.  

• The digitised mineralised outlines were used for support in the creation of mineralized 
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 wireframes. 

• Mineralised zones  were  further  separated  into 4  separate  domains, (separate structures) for 

 the purpose of preventing cross-interpolation of samples between these domains. The estimation 

 parameters were similar for each. 

• Assays within the mineralised zones were composited to constant 1.0 metre lengths before 

 undertaking statistical analyses on the gold grades per zone. Histograms were generated to 

 determine an appropriate top cut. 

• Digital topographical surfaces for topography and the mined out Kubi open pit were created. 

•  A block model of the various zones was then created within the mineralised solids, 

 depleted to the topography and mined out pit.  The blocks were assigned grades using an inverse 

 distance squared interpolation algorithm.  

•  Where the model was extended beyond available information, the distinction between 

 ‘Measured’ and ‘Indicated’ resources was made at approximately 25 and 50 metres 

 respectively from the nearest drill hole sample within areas showing geological and grade 

 continuity. In addition, areas where the interpretation is based on limited data, the areas were 

 classified as ‘Inferred’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 21: The Kubi Main Zone resource model wireframe at a 2 g/t cut off and drill hole traces.  

 DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

14.4  Data Received  

A set of files were received from PMI Gold on 12th November 2010 containing drillhole data, drill hole 

intersection data, density test results, and triangulated topographic and mined out pit surfaces.  The drill 

hole files were validated and imported into Datamine, and a final de-surveyed drill hole file created. 

Minor errors of overlapping assay intervals were detected and corrected. A total of 226 drillholes were 

received.  

 

Lithology data received included both numeric and alphanumeric lithology codes for RC and diamond 

drill logging. No specific data was received denoting oxidation surfaces, although the majority of the 

deposit is at depth and considered primary material. As per the settlement agreement between PMI Gold 

and Goknet in August 2014, Goknet acquired all the Kubi data.”  
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“14.5  Density Determinations  

Limited bulk density test work results were made available to SEMS.   However, the reported numbers 

relating to primary rock density are consistent and within expected values for Birimian lithologies such 

as those identified at Kubi.  No density data was available for the oxide portions of the mineralisation 

model so suitable density values have been assumed.  The oxide portion of the Kubi model comprises less 

than 6% of the overall mineral resource ounces so this lack of information was not considered 

significant.  

 

Table five, below presents the average density results calculated by Nevsun Ghana for the primary zone 

and density values which were assigned by SEMS for the oxide and transitional zones.   This distribution 

resulted in an average density for the entire Kubi resource model of 2.83 t/m
3
.  

 

Material Type  Depth below surface (m) Density g/cc 

Oxide, soft   25   2.0 

Oxide, hard   40   2.3 

Sulphide upper  55   2.6 

Sulphide primary Below 55   2.9 

 

Table 12:    Relative Density determination for all material types  

 

14.6  Descriptive Statistics of Assay Data  

The Kubi Main Zone drillhole data set consisted of 226 holes of which 129 holes fell within the area 

used in the resource estimate. Most of the other 97 holes had been drilled though the northern and 

southern extensions of the resource zone and these holes typically did not meet the criteria used in the 

study to generate the interpreted mineralisation outlines. Summary statistics were calculated for the 

different sample data, presented in table below. 

 

Description  Number  No. Missing Min Max Mean Var. SD CoV 

     Values  (g/t) (g/t) (g/t) (g/t) 

All drill hole data 18,871  4,610  0 98.1 0.33 5.8 2.4 7.3 

All mineral resource 9,356  2,470  0 98.1 0.6 11.5 3.4 5.7  

drill hole data  

 

Table 13:    Summary of raw drillhole statistics  

 

14.7  Geological Interpretation and Modelling  

The Kubi deposit is structurally complex, but due to the lack of structural data, interpretations of 

geological structures were not considered during modelling. Based upon observations made by SEMS 

personnel during the open pit mining by AngloGold Ashanti it was assumed that the deposit is generally 

continuous in strike extent.  

 

A three-dimensional wireframe model was constructed from the available geological and analysis data 

and then filled with blocks. Block sub-celling was to half parent size, and blocks were allowed to split on 

the E-W wireframe boundaries. The geological boundaries, such as the garnetiferous unit, were used as 

guideline to general extrapolation of grade. However, the resource wireframe was constrained by assay 

values and a strict adherence to a 2.0 g/t cut-off was followed. A small number of cases were recognised 

where narrow mineralisation intersections were expanded slightly to meet minimum width criteria. The 

resultant model comprised a relatively continuous, northerly plunging main zone and three sub - 

parallel, hanging wall, discontinuous zones.  
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Figure 22: Wireframe resource model showing main zone (red) and discontinuous hanging wall zones.  

 DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

The subdivision of a resource model into domains is based on observed continuity of mineralisation 

which were each assigned a numeric code. Attempts were made to follow the strike and plunge 

directions that exist at Kubi Main and to limit the number of mineralised zones.  

 

The bock model was defined within the following geographical limits:  

 

 

 Min  Max  Range Cell Size Cell No. 

 

East 640,740  641,090  350 5  70 

North 664,150  665,060  910 5  182 

RL -500  230  730 5  146 

 

Table 14:  Kubi block body model parameters  
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Figure 23: Cross section through 664,670 N - looking northwards DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 24: Cross section through 664,850N - looking northwards.  DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  
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14.8  Statistical Analysis of the Mineralised Data  

The mineralised wireframe model was used to select samples within the mineralised zones for analysis 

and later grade interpolation. Selected samples were composited to 1.0 metres. Summary statistics, 

histogram and log histograms, and log-probability plots were generated on the composites. An assay top 

cut of 25 g/t was determined based on these graphs. Summary statistics for the selected composited data 

are presented in table below. 

  

Description 

   Number   No. Missing  Min Max Mean  Var. SD CoV 

   Values   (g/t) (g/t) (g/t) 

Selected 1m composites      474  14 0.002 98.1 6.2 107 10.4 1.7 

Composites after top cut     474  14 0.002 25 5.1 35 5.9 1.2 

No. samples cut to 25 g/t    17  0 25.6 98.1 46.9 530 23 0.5  

 

Table 15:    Summary statistics of selected 1m composite samples “ 

 

“14.9 Grade Estimation 

An ellipsoid expanding search volume was used to select samples for block estimation. Search ellipses  

for  grade  interpolation  were  orientated  according  to  the  main  trends  of  the mineralisation, along 

strike and down dip (Table Nine). Grade interpolation was carried out using inverse distance squared. 

Only the selected one metre composites were used for the estimation.  

 

Search ellipsoids in the mineralised zone were created with 37 m x 32 m x 18 m in the down dip, strike 

and minor directions, taking into account average drillhole intersection separations and reflecting 

generally closer spaced data in the strike direction. Blocks that fell outside of the first pass ellipsoid 

were re-estimated in a second pass with a relaxed search ellipsoid, and flagged for later classification at 

a lower level. The main estimation parameters are as follows:  

 

Parameter   Value 

Assay top cut (g/t)  25 

Strike direction (deg)  20 

Dip (deg)   90 

Pass 1 Search Radius  x (m) 32 

Pass 1 Search Radius  y (m) 37 

Pass 1 Search Radius  z (m) 18 

Min No. samples  2 

Max No. samples  10 

 

Table 16: Grade estimation parameters  

 

14.10  Mineral Resource Classification  

The mineral resources were classified according to the CIM guidelines, which include the CIM 

definition standards and the best practice guidelines for estimation of mineral resources and mineral 

reserves.  

 

SEMS was satisfied that the data was sufficiently reliable and the geological modelling sufficiently 

robust to be able to apply a mineral resource classification as part of the mineral resource estimation. 

The data density, data reliability and data quality, and continuity of mineralisation and structure in 

areas where drill holes are heavily developed, determine how the mineral resource can be classified into 

areas of a particular level of confidence.  
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In this classification, mineral resources were divided into Measured, Indicated and Inferred blocks, as 

follows:  

 

• Measured Mineral Resource consists of model blocks which were interpolated by data within 25 

 metres in the plane of the structure. 

•  Indicated Mineral Resources are those blocks which were interpolated by data within 50 metres 

 in the plane of the structure and having a minimum number of points used to estimate a block 

 grade.  

• Inferred Mineral Resources are model blocks which were interpolated by data within the wire-

 framed resource but lying outside the 50 metres search distance. Geological continuity suggests 

 that additional representative drill sampling might raise much of the inferred category to be 

 comparable with the Indicated category. 

 

Classification  Search Ellipse (m) 

Measured  Within 25 x 25 x 15 

Indicated  Within 50 x 50 x 30 

Inferred  Beyond 50 x 50 x 30 

 

Table 17: Model classification parameters  

 

 

14.11  Mineral Resource Statement  

Taking into account the grade, quantity, and characteristics of the Kubi Gold Project mineral resources, 

SEMS considered there were reasonable prospects for the eventual economic extraction of the 

mineralised zones, primarily, by underground mining.  

 

Mineral resources were reported using a 2.0 g/t cut-off grade. This cut-off grade took into account the 

estimated extraction costs and parameters considered appropriate for the period. Table 9 summarises 

the mineral resource for the Kubi Main deposit at a 2.0 g/t Au cut off. Figure 13 presents the resource 

block model coloured by grade showing variations in grade throughout the mineralised body. Grade-

tonnage curves for the modelled resources, using variable Au cut-off increments, are presented in Figure 

14. It should be noted that this does not represent a mineral resource statement and is only to illustrate 

sensitivity of block model resources to block cut-off grade:  

 

 

    TONNAGE  GRADE CONT'D GOLD 

    Tonnes (million) (Au g/t)  Ounces 

Measured   0.66   5.30  112,000 

Indicated   0.66   5.65  121,000 

Measured & Indicated  1.32   5.48  233,000 

Inferred   0.67   5.31  115,000 

 

 

Table 18:  Kubi Main Mineral Resource @ 2.0 g/t Au cut-off. Effective date December 3
rd

 2010  

Note: Totals may not add exactly due to rounding  
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MATERIAL 

CLASSIFICATION  TYPE  Tonnes (million) (Au g/t)  Ounces 

 Measured & Indicated Oxide  0.04   4.37  5,000 

Measured & Indicated  Fresh Rock 1.29   5.50  228,000 

Measured & Indicated Total   1.32   5.48  233,000 

Inferred   Oxide  0.08   5.39  14,000 

Inferred   Fresh Rock 0.59   5.30  101,000 

Inferred Total     0.67   5.31  115,000 

 

Table 19:  Kubi Main Mineral Resource by Material Type @ 2.0 g/t Au cut-off. Effective date December 

3
rd

 2010  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 26:  View of the Kubi Main Zone resource block model beneath open pit - looking NNW.  

 DATAMINE MODEL, SEMS 2014  

 

 

Grade-tonnage curves for the Identified resources, using variable Au cut-off increments, are presented 

below:  
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Figure 27: Grade-tonnage curves for the modelled resources.  SEMS 2014  

 

14.12  Interpretation and Conclusions  

SEMS competent persons re-modelled the Kubi Main mineralised zone and used parameters that were 

considered appropriate for a gold deposit that is likely to be exploited by underground mining methods.  

The deposit was modelled on gold values that were greater than 2.0 g/t and displayed a continuity of 

width greater than two metres over more than one cross section.  

 

The resultant model produced an increase in the average mineral resource grade within the Kubi Main 

Zone and an increased confidence in the model as demonstrated by the inclusion of a measured 

category.  

 

The November 2010 Mineral Resource estimation produced an encouraging increase in the Kubi Main 

Zone mineral resource grade and confidence levels and provided a clear guide for future ore reserve 

estimation and the scoping of an underground mine plan. 

  

With the exception of the Supuma Shelter Belt Forest Reserve, SEMS is not aware of any external factors 

such as environmental, socio-economic, legal, etc. that could have a material effect on the mineral 

resource estimate. However the Forest Reserve itself is not considered a constriction to underground 

mining. Additionally, mine access is able to be located outside the Forest Reserve, limiting the surface 

impact to ventilation shafts. The area is an historical mine site, and eventual economic extraction, if 

warranted, would likely be by underground mining, lessening environmental impacts and potentially 

contributing to employment within the area.  

 

While it is possible that the choice of underground mining method could influence the amount and size of 

crown pillars, this is likely to be insignificant and would not have a material effect on the mineral 

resource estimate.  
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15.0  ADJACENT PROPERTIES  

Two important gold deposits occur within 25 km of the Kubi Gold Project. The AngloGold Ashanti gold 

deposits at Obuasi lie 20 km to the northeast. Obuasi produced 239,000 ounces of gold in 2013. Perseus 

Mining’s Edikan gold deposits at Ayanfuri lie about 18 km to the west south west of Kubi and produced 

208,000 ounces in 2013 (Figure 28).” The Obuasi Mine is currently shut down pending an internal 

review by AngloGold Ashanti. 

 

“The Qualified Person has reviewed the Annual Reports of the above noted companies with respect to 

their annual gold production, however this information is not necessarily indicative of the mineralisation 

on or future production from the property that is the subject of this technical report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 28: Kubi Gold Project setting in relationship to Obuasi & Edikan gold mines and the Ashanti 

Shear.  UTM 30N, WGS84, SEMS 2014  
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16.0  OTHER RELEVANT DATA AND INFORMATION  

16.1 Mining Operations 

Preliminary studies have been undertaken to consider a number of different underground mining 

techniques.  The Kubi Main Zone could be accessed via a shaft or a decline. There is no existing mine 

infrastructure which can be utilised in a potential future mining operation.  

 

16.2 Geotechnical 

No geotechnical work has been performed for underground mining of the Kubi Main Zone.  All previous 

mining at Kubi was by open pit and of the oxide zones which are friable.   A surface crown pillar of 30 

metres is recommended for any underground mine planning until such time as relevant geotechnical 

analysis has been completed.  

 

From drill core observation the overall ground conditions are considered good. The hanging wall shear 

zone will require monitoring and potential slough controlled should it cause a problem. A 

comprehensive underground geotechnical analysis is required for future feasibility studies. 

  

16.3 Site visit 

The Kubi Gold Project was visited by Joe Amanor” in the company of Neil Macfarlane, General 

Manager for KGBL, “from 7th to 8th October, 2014.  The objective of this visit was to inspect the 

condition of the historic Kubi open pit walls and view drill core obtained by PMI Gold since the 2010 

mineral resource estimate.  

 

The journey from Accra to the Kubi Gold Project was by road via Obuasi arriving at the Kubi core shed 

at 15:30. The bitumen road from Obuasi to Kubi, a distance of 30 km, was in a poor state of repair and 

took just over an hour to complete.   The gravel, feeder road from the Obuasi - Dunkwa bitumen road to 

the Kubi open pit, a distance of 5 km, is currently being used by timber trucks and in a poor state of 

repair.  This road could be easily refurbished using a grader upon the resumption of operations at Kubi.  

 

16.3.1  Drill core inspection  

During the site visit, NQ core from drillhole KV12-556, KV12-555 and KV12-538 were laid out and 

inspected.  The magnetic pencil was run over the mineralised sections of the core and the general 

observation was, that all the grade carrying core recorded the presence of pyrrhotite and perhaps, some 

other magnetic mineral.  

 

Drill hole KV12-556 sited on the now collapsed west wall of the Kubi (1999-2000) pit recorded 

intermittent quartz veining with visible gold in the interval 232-233 m.    In KV12-555, also sited on the 

collapsed west wall, the assay of 16.73g/t Au in the interval 260-261 m does not appear to be consistent 

with the intensity of mineralisation observed. “ 

 

 

“16.3.2  Kubi open pit  

Road access to the Kubi open pit was drivable by four wheel drive vehicle to about one kilometer south 

of the pit.   At this point the road deteriorated due to the extremely muddy conditions created by illegal 

artisanal miners digging the backfilled Ashanti Goldfields 1999 -2000 open pit.”  

 

“16.3.3  Drill sites  

Four of the drill holes completed by PMI Gold in 2012 were visited.  Two of the holes were sited at Kubi 

South/513 Zone and the other two within the Kubi Main zone.  The two holes at Kubi South were 

observed to be in their correct position as per the PMI Gold database.  Both collars were capped and 

preserved as short concrete pillars.  
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The two drill collars, KV12-555 and KV12-556, located within the Kubi Main zone were not found.   It is 

thought that they have been buried beneath the collapsed west wall of the Kubi (1999-2000) open pit 

owing to illegal, artisanal activities.  

 

17.0  INTERPRETATION AND CONCLUSIONS  

17.1 Mineral Resource 

SEMS, Exploration, Services, Ltd., (“SEMS”), is, of, the, opinion, that, the, November, 2010, mineral, 

resource estimation gave appropriate consideration to the underground mining methods that may be 

employed by Asante and Goknet to exploit the Kubi Main Zone.   The 2010 mineral resource utilised a 

2.0 g/t cut-off grade and adhered to strict ore body widths when constructing the Kubi mineral resource 

model.  

 

The 2010 mineral resource model, compared to previous models, produced an increased average 

mineral resource grade within the Kubi deposit and an increased confidence level to the model 

demonstrated by the inclusion of a measured category. The November 2010 Mineral Resource estimation 

provides a clear guide for future ore reserve determination and the scoping of an underground mine 

plan.  

 

17.2 Mine Planning 

An exploration decline ramp at 15% would provide a suitable platform for both exploratory and 

definition drilling from underground to provide information on ore body geometry for mine planning 

purposes.  

 

There appears to be plenty of skilled labour in terms of Mine Captains, Shift Bosses and Blast Men 

currently looking for work in the Obuasi area. Asante can take advantage the current labour market to 

exploit an underground mine plan.  

 

17.3 Exploration 

Airborne magnetic and radiometric surveys have been successful in defining regional structures, 

including the Ashanti and Kubi trends, both of which host gold mineralisation, and both of which pass 

through the Kubi Gold Project.  

 

A number of cross structures have also been identified from aerial geophysics, and their intersections 

with the Kubi and Ashanti shears are considered to be important. 

  

Potassium radiometrics show a number of anomalies. Those to the south of Dunkwa can be ascribed to 

topographic features (highs), but others could represent potassium rich alteration, or potassium rich 

granitic rocks. Considering the proximity of the Kubi Gold Project to the Edikan mine site, where the 

majority of mineralisation is associated with granitic intrusive rocks, these may be significant.  

 

Exploration activities undertaken by PMI Gold since December 2010 have not materially altered the 

2010 mineral resource estimation, however they have identified significant intersections in air core 

drilling that appear to coincide with the interpreted position of the Ashanti Shear’ within the Kubi 

Mining Lease.” 
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“18.0  RECOMMENDATIONS  

It is recommended that Asante and Goknet commence, as soon as possible, the permitting processes 

required by the Minerals Commission and EPA in Ghana to establish underground exploration 

activities.  

 

A program of pre-engineering for an underground exploration program is necessary to further define 

and upgrade the mineral resources reported herein. This will require a significant number of new drill 

holes to better define the geometry of high grade shoots within the Kubi Main Zone and enable a mineral 

reserve estimation to be attempted. Such drilling would be best attempted from underground crosscuts 

off a footwall decline through the eastern wall of the historic Kubi open pit.  

 

Should the decline option be accepted then a thorough geotechnical investigation will be required on 

material from the decline’s intended portal position and drillcore collected from the upper levels of the 

planned path of the decline. The successful conclusion of this program will lead to the commencement of 

a full Feasibility Study of an underground mining operation on the Kubi Gold Project.  

 

It is recommended that the LIDAR survey be used to verify the accuracy of historical campaigns of 

drillhole collar surveying.  

 

Owing to the abundance of pyrrhotite observed in drill core, it is recommended that a gold deportment 

study be carried out to provide a thorough understanding of the occurrence of the mineral and its 

downstream implications on the metallurgical recovery of the Kubi primary ore which would be main 

feed for the underground mining project.  

 

High gold assays obtained from the sulphide ore in PMI Gold’s diamond core hole KV12-555 should be 

verified.  It is recommended that the ¼ core be re-assayed to confirm the grade within the interval 260-

261 metres down hole.  

 

It is also recommended that Asante continue with exploration activities over the extensions of the Kubi 

Main Deposit to the south of the Kubi open pit as well as the interpreted ‘Ashanti structure’ which lies 

1.5 km to the west of the Kubi open pit.   This work should focus upon significant gold intersections 

identified in air core drilling completed by PMI Gold in 2011 and 2012.  

 

The following work program and budget are recommended to advance the Kubi Gold Project to the next 

stage, for resource upgrade and reserve conversion as well as early stage exploration activities in other 

parts of the Kubi Gold Project:  

 

Expenditure Item      6 Months 6 Mths - 2 years 

Mineral Resource Development 

Portal, Decline, Mineral Resource definition and upgrade, $50,000  $6,000,000 

Project review 

Permitting, Reclamation Bond, surface and infrastructure $200,000 $1,000,000 

Engineering, Geotechnical Studies, Pre and Full Feasibility $200,000 $   200,000 

Sub-total Mineral Resource Development   $450,000 $7,200,000 

Greenfields Exploration 

Exploration Geophysics, Auger Drilling, Geochemistry    $  100,000 

Drilling         $  300,000 

Sub-total Greenfield Exploration      $  400,000 

                                  TOTAL BUDGET   US$450,000 $7,600,000 
Table 20:    Exploration and Resource drilling budget for Kubi Gold Project  
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Exploration Project 
 

Fahiakoba Prospecting License - Property Description and Location 
 

The following project description is derived from the Technical Report on the Fahiakoba Concession, 

entitled “Technical Report on the Fahiakoba Gold Project, West Africa” by Donald G. Allen, MASc., 

PEng (B.C.), who is a qualified person for the purpose of National Instrument 43-101 Standards of 

Disclosure for Mineral Projects; and from Issuer news releases. The Technical Report is available for 

review under Asante's profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. The entire Technical Report is 

incorporated by reference into this listing statement.  The following sections are derived from the 

Technical Report, updated to the date of this listing statement . Readers are encouraged to review 

the Technical Report 

 

The Fahiakoba Prospecting Licence (“concession” or “licence” or “property”) is located in south 

west Ghana, and covers an area of 22.06 km². The project area on the north side of the Ofin River is 

located near Fahiakoba, in the Amansie Central District of the Ashanti Region, and the Upper Denkyira 

East District of the Central Region of Ghana. The concession covers a 10 km long section of the Ofin 

River valley and the adjacent low rolling hills. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Location Map – Fahiakoba Prospecting License 

 

The property lies along the western margin of the Ashanti Gold belt and along the Ashanti-Ayanfuri gold 

trend. It is bordered by concessions held by various groups including Perseus Mining Ltd.’s (“Perseus”) 

Central Ashanti Gold Project (“CAGP”, recently renamed Edikan) at Ayanfuri. It is situated 22 km 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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southwest of AngloGold Ashanti’s Obuasi mines, operated since 1897 with gold reserves and resources of 

9.52 and 35.41 million ounces respectively; 5-11 km northeast of Perseus’ Edikan Gold Project with 

4.32 million ounces reserves and resources, which initiated production in 2011; and 10 km west of 

Goknet’s Kubi Main deposit. 

 

Dunkwa-on-Ofin (Dunkwa) is the closest major town to the concession. Access to the south side of the 

concession is an easy 8 km drive from Dunkwa. Access to the north side (on north side of the Ofin River) 

is about a 1 hour drive. 

 

The Fahiakoba Concession is a 2 year renewable prospecting license for gold granted October 3, 2008 by 

the Ghana Minerals Commission, File Number LR52/2009. The license expired on September 26, 2013, 

however an application for renewal and extension has been filed with the Minerals Commission and it is 

expected to be renewed.  

 
The Fahiakoba prospecting licence is registered in Ghana with the Mineral’s Commission in the name of 

Goknet.  Pursuant to an agreement dated June 15, 2010, the Issuer purchased a 100% interest in the license 

from Goknet, subject to a 3% NSR royalty to Goknet and the completion of certain work. The issuer has 

completed the work program and has earned it interest in the Concession.  The Minerals Commission has 

approved the transfer of the title to ASG Mining Ltd., the 100% owned Ghana subsidiary of Asante, on 

payment of the appropriate filing fees. 

 

Should future results warrant, and a mining lease ultimately be granted to the Issuer, it will provide for the 

rights to exploit the mineral defined in the lease and to take surface materials required for the operations 

within the lease area. The Government of the Republic of Ghana is entitled to a free carried 10% interest 

in any mining operation in the country, and has no obligation to contribute to development or operating 

expenses and has the additional right to purchase up to a further 20% interest upon such terms as may be 

agreed where minerals are discovered in commercial quantities. The government of Ghana currently 

charges a 5% royalty on mining production. 

 

The license area has been the subject of extensive historical and current alluvial mining operations along 

the Ofin River valley. The Fahiakoba license does not reference any outstanding environmental 

liabilities. Although there are numerous legal small scale and illegal alluvial gravel washing operations 

on the concession, these are not expected to overly interfere with the future exploration or development of 

the license. 

 

On January 20, 2014, Asante announced the final results and interpretation of the exploration drilling 

completed to date on the Fahiakoba gold concession in Ghana. 

 

Drill holes were spotted to test sections of airborne geophysical (MAG/VTEM) and ground auger soil 

geochemical anomalies. Initial drill holes were spaced from 400 metres to over 1 kilometre apart and later 

tightened to 100 metre step outs where gold mineralization was noted. A total of 30 drill holes were 

completed in two phases, for 4985 metres (see collar map at: 

http://www.asantegold.com/i/pdf/nr/FAHcollarsNRJan20.pdf ). 

 

With the exception of four significant gold intersections (to 0.50 m @ 295 g/t Au), initial sampling results 

were low. VTEM conductors were found to correspond with favourable graphitic shear zones in meta-

greywacke or regional scale graphitic meta-phyllite/argillite units. Weak gold anomalies in core from 

saprolite have generally accounted for the anomalous auger soil geochemical targets tested in the 

program. 

 

http://www.asantegold.com/i/pdf/nr/FAHcollarsNRJan20.pdf
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Wide zones of moderate to strongly quartz veined meta-greywacke, and carbonate alteration were noted 

in the program.  These zones correspond with elevated to locally significant gold values, as noted in the 

table below, and are considered high priority targets for additional drilling. 

Assay results from all holes completed to date on the Fahiakoba concession are noted below: 

Drill Hole 
From 

(metres) 
To 

(metres) 
Intercept 

(metres) 

Wt. 

Avg. 
g/t Au 

(uncut) 

Other Anomalous Samples 

 >= 0.20 g/t Au @ Hole Depth(m) 

(1 to 2 m sample width) 

FAH12-001    NSA 0.32@49m; 0.51@81m; 0.28@109m 

FAH12-002    NSA 0.21@56m; 0.24@78m; 

FAH12-003 41.08 42.08 1.00 7.34 0.47@34m; 0.31@58m; 0.28@78m; 

0.85@102m; 0.25@103m; 0.26@105m; 

0.38@107m; 0.37@104m; 0.35@173m; 

0.25@199m 

FAH12-004 24.00 

37.90 

24.65 

38.45 

0.65 

0.55 

11.10 

3.24 

0.21@34m; 0.70@185m 

FAH12-005 201.50 202.00 0.50 289.50 0.20@232m; 0.22@258m; 0.20@278m 

FAH12-006    NSA 0.36@6m 

FAH12-007    NSA  

FAH12-008    NSA  

FAH12-009    NSA  

FAH12-010    NSA  

FAH12-011    NSA  

FAH12-012    NSA  

FAH12-013    NSA 0.27@241m 

FAH12-014    NSA 0.63@23.5m; 0.67@77.1m 

FAH12-015    NSA  

FAH12-016    NSA  

FAH12-017 72.83 74.23 1.40 1.97 0.40@24m 

FAH12-018    NSA 0.34 from 3 to 18m 

FAH12-019    NSA  

FAH12-020    NSA  

FAH12-021    NSA 0.37@59m; 0.59 from 73 to 77m 

FAH12-022    NSA  

FAH12-023    NSA 0.33@34m 

FAH12-024a    NSA 0.55@137m 

FAH12-025    NSA 0.30@61m; 0.89@79m; 1.0 from 138 to 140m; 

0.30@145m 

FAH12-026    NSA  

FAH12-027    NSA  

FAH12-028    NSA  

FAH12-029    NSA  

FAH12-030    NSA  

 

Table:  Drill Hole Assay Results (‘NSA’ – no significant assays) 
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Further drilling is also required along the trend to the NE of Perseus Mining Ltd’s discovery hole 

NSRC010  located ~1 km south of the Asante Fahiakoba concession boundary and which yielded 30m at 

2.2 g/t Au, including 4m at 9.0 g/t Au (Perseus Quarterly Report, December 30, 2012 – true width 

unspecified).  Subject to financing, a program of an additional 3000m of drilling is planned to test these 

new target areas. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following table summarizes quarterly results for the current and eight preceding quarters. The 

information contained in this table should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s financial statements. 

 

Summary of quarterly results: 

 
 

 
Period ending: 

 

Revenue 

$ 

 

Gain/(Loss) 

before other 

items $ 

 

Currency 

translation 

adjustment $ 

 

Comprehensive 

Gain/(Loss) $ 

 

Net loss per 

share 

October 31, 2014 Nil (169,270) 75,934 (93,336) $ 0.01 

July 31, 2014 Nil (210,314) (31,566) (241,880) $ 0.01 

April 30, 2014 Nil (185,057) (45,682) (230,739) $ 0.01 

January 31, 2014 Nil (194,940) 167,845 (27,095) $ 0.01 

October 31, 2013 Nil (175,457) 31,989 (143,468) $ 0.01 

July 31, 2013 Nil (176,755) 59,233 (117,522) $ 0.01 

April 30, 2013 Nil (243,066) (1,521) (244,587) $ 0.01 

January 31, 2013 Nil (321,823) (6,901) (328,724) $ 0.02 

October 31, 2012 Nil (227,355) (2,908) (230,263) $ 0.01 

 

 
The January quarter of 2013 reflected costs associated with a transaction to acquire a 1% NSR royalty 

interest from Goknet, which was subsequently cancelled. The quarter ended October 31, 2014 includes 

share based compensation of $44,120. 

 

Dividends 

 

There are no restrictions that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends on its Common Shares. The 

Issuer has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares and it is not contemplated that the Issuer 

will pay any dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future. It is the Issuer’s intention to use all 

available cash to finance operations and explore and develop its mineral properties. 
 

Results of Operations 
 

The Issuer’s comprehensive loss for the three months ended October 31, 2014 was $93,336 (2013: 

$143,469) or $0.01 per Common Share. The table below presents the key expenditure items for the 

quarter and for the year to date. 
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Nine Months 

ended October 

31, 

 
Three Months ended 

October 31, 

 
2014 2013 

 
2014 2013 

 
Interest and other income 

 
$ - 

 
$ (435) 

  
$ - $ - 

Expenses 

Amortization 

 
 

473 

 
 

581 

  
 

150 184 

Directors' fees (Note 11) 27,433 27,000  9,550 9,000 

Foreign exchange gain 2,008 4,406  1,444 4,395 

Share based compensation (Note 8) 44,120 -  - - 

Management and consulting fees 
(Note 11) 

148,100 164,830  29,100 52,830 

Professional services (Note 11) 135,782 123,248  59,480 35,687 

Shareholder communications (Note 

11) 

80,031 143,793  24,431 38,084 

Advertising, trade shows and 
promotions 

7,613 -  1,730 - 

Transfer agent and regulatory fees 11,762 12,271  1,233 1,395 

Travel 13,570 34,753  - 8,751 

General office 71,570 84,831  41,517 25,132 

Loss on disposal of assets 22,180 -  635 - 

Net loss for the period 564,643 595,278  169,270 175,458 

Other comprehensive loss/(income) 

Currency translation adjustment 

 

1,314 

 

(89,701) 

 
 

(75,934) (31,989) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period $ 565,957 $ 505,577  $ 93,336   $    143,469 

 

Loss per common share, basic and 

diluted (Note 13) 

 

$ 0.03 

 

$ 0.02 

  

$ 0.01   $ 0.01 

 

Among these administrative expenses for the quarter were fees for professional services of $59,480 which 

includes $22,500 in consulting fees charged by the Issuer’s Chief Financial Officer at a rate of $7,500 per 

month. Other key personnel costs comprised management fees of $37,500 charged by the Issuer’s Chief 

Executive Officer at a rate of $15,000 per month for two and a half months. As of October 15, 2014 the 

CEO has foregone a fee for his services. Corporate communication fees of $22,500 charged by a director 

at a rate of $7,500 per month are reflected in shareholder communication. 

 

The Issuer capitalizes all mineral property acquisition and exploration costs until the properties to which 

the costs are related are placed into production, sold or abandoned. The decision to abandon a property is 

largely determined by exploration results and the amount and timing of the Issuer’s writeoffs of 

capitalized mineral property costs will vary in a fiscal period from one year to the next and typically 

cannot be predicted in advance. 

 

During the three months ended October 31, 2014, mineral property acquisition and exploration costs 

totalling $40,507 were capitalized to mineral properties, as well as a Currency Translation Adjustment of 

$82.038. Expenditures are detailed in the exploration expenditure table on page 6 below. 
 

Summary of Period Results 

See “Selected Information” above. 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 
At October 31, 2014, the Issuer had a working capital deficiency of $1,589,309, inclusive of a loan of 

$223,860 which was advanced by Goknet in two amounts on April 24, 2013 and April 29, 2013 for 

working capital purposes which carries interest of 5% per annum and is unsecured. It is repayable within 

60 days upon demand. In addition key management and directors have deferred cash compensation until 
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the liquidity position improves. Expenditure obligations in terms of the acquisition of its interest in the 

Fahiakoba Concession have been met in full by the Issuer. 

 

At present, the Issuer’s operations do not generate cash flow and its financial success is dependent on 

management’s ability to discover and develop economically viable mineral deposits and to realise a 

revenue stream from its proposed royalty acquisition. The mineral exploration process can take many 

years and is subject to factors that are beyond the Issuer’s control. In order to finance the Issuer’s 

exploration programs and to cover general and administrative expenses, the Issuer raises money through 

equity issues. 

 

Many factors influence the Issuer’s ability to raise funds, including the health of the resource market, the 

climate for mineral exploration investment, the Issuer’s track record, and the experience and calibre of its 

management. Actual funding requirements may vary from those planned due to a number of factors, 

including the progress of exploration activities. Management believes it will be able to raise equity capital 

as required in the long term, but recognizes there will be risks involved that may be beyond their control. 

 

A proposed private placement announced in May 2014 has been cancelled. 
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Issuer does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 
 

Exploration expenditures from January 31, 2013 to October 31, 2014: 

Property: 

Fahiakoba 
 

Balance at January 31, 2013 2,069,709 

 

Assaying, testing and analysis 3,695 

Geology and geophysics 114,906 

Field expenses 108,456 

General and administrative (Note 11) 148,039 

Currency translation adjustment 279,745 

Balance at January 31, 2014 $   2,724,550 

 

Assaying, testing and analysis 

Geology and geophysics 

 

- 

17,570 

Field expenses 12,796 

General and administrative (Note 11) 33,577 

Currency translation adjustment (45,445) 

Balance at April 30, 2014 $   2,743,048 

 

Assaying, testing and analysis 

Geology and geophysics 

 

- 

14,720 

Field expenses 3,491 
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General and administrative (Note 11) 29,630 

Currency translation adjustment (29,687) 

Balance at July 31, 2014 $   2,761,202 

 

Assaying, testing and analysis 

Geology and geophysics 

 
 
 

8406 

Field expenses 10129 

General and administrative (Note 11) 21972 

Currency translation adjustment 82038 

Balance at October 31, 2014 $   2,883,746 

Outstanding Securities Data 

 

As at March 12, 2015, there are 22,481,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding. There are 2,000,000 

share purchase warrants outstanding, exercisable at $0.70 which expire on February 28, 2016.  In addition 

there are a total of 2,000,000 incentive options granted to directors, officers and consultants of the Issuer, 

of which 250,000 are exercisable at $0.15 and 900,000 are exercisable at $0.75 per Common Share up to 

October 24, 2016; 200,000 are exercisable up to April 3, 2017 at $0.15; 450,000 are exercisable at $0.15 

up to May 15, 2019, and 200,000 exercisable at $0.15 per Common Share up to April 11, 2019. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties 

See “Risk Factors” below. 

 

6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

 

The annual management’s discussion and analysis of the Issuer for the financial year of January 31, 2014 

and the interim management’s discussion and analysis of the Issuer for the three and nine month interim 

period of October 31, 2014 are included in this Listing Statement below..   

 

6.17 Additional Disclosures for Companies without Significant Revenue 

 

Please see the Company’s annual statements and MD&A for the year ended January 31, 2014, available at 

www.sedar.com. 

 

6.18 Description of Securities 

 

As at the date hereof, there are 22,481,000 common shares issued and outstanding.  Also, as of the date 

hereof, there are 2,000,000 warrants outstanding and 2,000,000 stock options outstanding. 

 

6.19 Provide breakdown if the Company has not had significant revenue from operations in 

either of its last two financial years. 

 

Please see the Company’s annual financial statements and MD&A for the year ended January 31, 2014, 

available at www.sedar.com.  The Company has not had significant revenue from operations in either of 

its last two financial years. 

 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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6.20 Negative cash flow 

 

The Company had a negative cash flow in its most recently completed financial year ended January 31, 

2014. 

 

The Company has very little working capital and it’s operations have been funded by long and short-term 

loans, mainly from related parties, as well as an increase in payables. 

 

6.21 Additional disclosure for Companies with significant equity investees 

 

This section does not apply as the Company does not have any equity investees. 
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Annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis – January 31, 2014 
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This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Asante Gold Corporation, (“Asante” or the “Company” 
or the “Issuer”) provides an analysis of the Company’s performance and financial condition for the year ended 
January 31, 2014. It is prepared as at May 28, 2014 and was approved by the Board of Directors on that date. 
 
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended January 31, 2014; including the related note disclosures.  The Company’s audited annual 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All 
dollar figures included therein and in the following discussion and analysis are quoted in the functional currency of 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. Additional information relevant to the Company’s activities can be 
found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or the Company’s website at www.asantegold.com. 
 
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements that are based on the Company’s expectations, estimates and 
projections regarding its business and the economic environment in which it operates. These statements speak only 
as of the date on which they are made, are not guarantees of future performance, and involve risks and uncertainties 
that are difficult to control or predict. Examples of some of the specific risks associated with the operations of the 
Company are set out below. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from those expressed in these 
forward-looking statements and readers should not place undue reliance on such statements. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual financial 
statements for the year ended January 31, 2014 and related notes thereto.  The audited financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  All 
currency amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.  

Principal Business and Corporate History 

Asante Gold Corporation is a mineral exploration company involved in the acquisition and assessment of 
mineral properties in the Republic of Ghana. The Company’s objective is to undertake mineral 
exploration on properties assessed to be of merit and to define mineral resources.  Precious metals are 
targeted with a focus on gold and gold royalties. 

The Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) of 
Accra on June 15, 2011 to acquire the Fahiakoba Concession, in the Ashanti and Central Regions in the 
Republic of Ghana. The Company acquired a 100% interest in the Fahiakoba Concession by paying 
Goknet the sum of US$51,976 (C$50,630) and by agreeing to expend US$1,000,000 over a five year 
period, which commitment has been met in full. The Company also granted Goknet a 3% net smelter 
return royalty on production from the Fahiakoba Concession.  

The Company has applied to have the concession title transferred to ASG Mining Ltd., the Company’s 
100% owned Ghana subsidiary.  

In November 2012 the Company announced its intention to acquire a 1% NSR Royalty in PMI Gold 
Corporation’s Obotan Project from Goknet. This transaction has been delayed pending the results of 
arbitration between Goknet and PMI Gold Corporation to determine the full extent of Goknet’s royalty 
interest. Arbitration scheduled for December 2013 was held over to September 2014. Due to the 
effluxion of time, final terms of the transaction will likely require renegotiation. 

The Company has announced, on May 15, 2014, a private placement to raise up to $500,000 to address 
working capital needs pending the outcome of the arbitration discussed above. 

Capital stock and financing 

Between May 4, 2011 and January 31, 2012, the Company raised gross proceeds of $23,250 through the 
issuance of 2,325,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.01 per Common Share, $391,750 through the 
issuance of 7,835,000 Units at a price of $0.05 per Unit, and $1,450,250 through the issuance of 
5,801,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.25 per Common Share.    

On February 28, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering of 4,000,000 Units at $0.50 per 
unit for cumulative gross proceeds of $2,000,000.  The Agent received at closing a cash commission of 
7.5% of the gross proceeds as well as 300,000 Agent Warrants, which is equal to 7.5% of the number of 
Offered Securities sold in the Offering. The fair value of the warrants was calculated at $78,878 using 
the Black-Scholes method as disclosed in Note 7 to the audited financial statements.  In addition, the 
Company issued to the Agent 150,000 Corporate Finance Shares. On November 22, 2012, 400,000 
warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share and on January 7, 2013, a further 1,000,000 
escrowed warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share.  On February 27, 2013 150,000 
escrowed warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share; on March 6, 2013 120,000 escrowed 
warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share; also on March 6, 2013 400,000 warrants were 
exercised at $0.25 per common share; on March 21, 2013 200,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per 
common share; and on April 24, 2013 50,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share.  On 
May 1, 2013 50,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share. On February 28, 2013 294,600 
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warrants expired unexercised, on March 14, 2013 16,000 warrants expired unexercised, and a further 
5,465,000 warrants expired unexercised on June 10, 2013. 

Pursuant to TSX-V requirements, shares and warrants held by insiders prior to the IPO became subject 
to escrow. A total of 5,285,000 shares and 2,700,000 warrants were initially placed into escrow, of 
which 3,699,500 shares and 970,000 warrants have been exercised and released to date and 1,430,000 
warrants expired unexercised on June 10, 2013. As at January 31, 2014 2,828,250 fully paid shares 
were held in escrow, and a further release of 942,750 shares from escrow took place on February 28, 
2014, leaving 1,885,500 shares for release in two equal instalments on August 29, 2014 and February 
28, 2015.  

Overall performance 

The Company has no operational revenue, and exploration activity is subject to the availability of funds 
raised through financings. Global financial and commodity markets have been volatile, and the 
Company is thus impacted by these generic industry factors which are beyond its control. The Company 
anticipates obtaining additional financing in the future primarily through further equity financing. 

The Company has completed its initial exploration program on the Fahiakoba Concession, consisting of 
4,987.5 metres of diamond drilling, ground VLF-EM geophysics and 1,200 auger drill holes. Initial results 
are considered encouraging and indicate that the targeted structures locally contain significant gold 
values. Additional reporting, ground geophysics and pit and outcrop sampling and mapping is in 
progress to determine further drill targets. 

Selected Quarterly Information 

The following table summarizes quarterly results for the current and 8 preceding quarters. The 
information contained in this table should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial 
statements. 

Summary of quarterly results

Period ending: Revenue $

Gain/(Loss) 

before other 

items $

Currency 

translation 

adjustment $

Comprehensive 

Gain/(Loss) $

Net loss per 

share

January 31, 2014 Nil (194,940)          167,845           (27,095)           0.01$              

October 31, 2013 Nil (175,457)          31,989             (143,468)          0.01$              

July 31, 2013 Nil (176,755)          59,233             (117,522)          0.01$              

April 30, 2013 Nil (243,066)          (1,521)             (244,587)          0.01$              

January 31, 2013 Nil (321,823)          (6,901)             (328,724)          0.02$              

October 31, 2012 Nil (227,355)          (2,908)             (230,263)          0.01$              

July 31, 2012 Nil (197,528)          9,783              (187,745)          0.01$              

April 30, 2012 Nil (446,724)          -                 (446,724)          0.02$              

January 31, 2012 Nil (334,319)          -                 (334,319)          0.02$              

 

 

The January and April quarters of 2012 reflected costs associated with start-up and the IPO, and the 
April 2012 quarter reflects stock based compensation of $48,000.  
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Results of Operations 

The Company’s comprehensive loss for the three months ended January 31, 2014 was $27,095 (2013: 
$328,724) or $0.01 per Common Share, and for the full year the comprehensive loss was $532,672 
(2013: $1,193,456) or $0.04 per Common Share. The table below presents the key expenditure items 
for the quarter and the year.  

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Interest and other income (435) -                -                -              

Expenses

   Amortization 755               676               174               214             

   Directors' fees 41,138           51,298           10,138           33,298         

   Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 1,115             6,900             (3,291) 93               

   Stock based compensation -                48,000           -                -              

   Management and consulting fees 246,030          247,619          81,200           57,000         

   Professional services 178,184          294,712          54,936           92,431         

   Shareholder communications 146,290          160,975          2,497             42,821         

   Advertising,trade shows and promotions 39,588           108,673          39,588           35,916         

   Transfer agent and regulatory fees 15,182           59,132           2,911             3,378           

   Travel 39,722           94,067           4,969             33,240         

   General office 82,649           121,378          1,818 23,432         

Net loss for the year 790,218          1,193,430       194,940          321,823        

Other comprehensive loss

Currency translation adjustment (257,546)         26 (167,845) 6,901           

Total comprehensive loss for the year 532,672$        1,193,456$      27,095$          328,724$      

 Twelve months ended January  Three months ended January 

 

 

Among these administrative expenses for the quarter were fees for professional services of $54,936, 
which includes $22,500 in consulting fees charged by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer at a rate of 
$7,500 per month. Other key personnel costs comprised of management fees of $45,000 charged by the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer at a rate of $15,000 per month, and corporate communication fees 
of $22,500 charged by a director at a rate of $7,500 per month reflected in shareholder 
communication. Stock based compensation for the period was $Nil. 

The Company capitalizes all mineral property acquisition and exploration costs until the properties to 
which the costs are related are placed into production, sold or abandoned.   The decision to abandon a 
property is largely determined by exploration results and the amount and timing of the Company’s 
write-offs of capitalized mineral property costs will vary in a fiscal period from one year to the next 
and typically cannot be predicted in advance. 

During the year ended January 31, 2014, mineral property acquisition and exploration costs totalling 
$654,841 inclusive of Currency Translation Adjustments were capitalized to mineral properties.  
Expenditures are detailed in the exploration expenditure table on page 6 below. 
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Dividends 

There are no restrictions that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends on its Common Shares.  
The Issuer has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares and it is not contemplated that the Issuer 
will pay any dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future.  All available cash will be used to 
finance operations and explore mineral properties, until a revenue stream is generated. The Company 
envisages that some of the revenue derived from royalties could in the future be paid out as a 
dividend.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

At January 31, 2014, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $972,232, inclusive of a loan of 
$221,770 which was advanced by Goknet in two amounts on April 24, 2013 and April 29, 2013 for 
working capital purposes. The loan carries interest of 5% per annum and is unsecured. It is repayable 
within 60 days upon demand. Subsequent to the January 31, 2014 the Company announced a private 
placement to raise up to $500,000 to address its short term funding needs until the royalty arbitration 
is finalised. Full details of the financing may be found in the press release dated May 15, 2014. In 
addition key management and directors have reduced and deferred cash compensation until the 
liquidity position improves. 

Expenditure obligations in terms of the acquisition of its interest in the Fahiakoba Concession have 
been met in full by the Company. 

At present, the Company’s operations do not generate cash flow and its financial success is dependent 
on management’s ability to discover economically viable mineral deposits and to realise a revenue 
stream from its proposed royalty acquisition.  The mineral exploration process can take many years and 
is subject to factors that are beyond the Company’s control. 

In order to finance the Company’s exploration programs and to cover general and administrative 
expenses, the Company raises money through equity issues. In addition, the Company intends to 
acquire a royalty as outlined in the “Principle Business and Corporate History” section. It is anticipated 
that the royalty will generate a revenue stream commencing late 2015, and would provide funds for 
exploration and general corporate expenses. 

Many factors influence the Company’s ability to raise funds, including the health of the resource 
market, the climate for mineral exploration investment, the Company’s track record, and the 
experience and calibre of its management.  Actual funding requirements may vary from those planned 
due to a number of factors, including the progress of exploration activities.  Management believes it 
will be able to raise equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes there will be risks 
involved that may be beyond their control. 

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended January 31, 2014 was $242,500 arising from 
the exercise of warrants, and $421,802 from a short term loan and advances. In the corresponding 
period ended January 31, 2013, $2,163,860 was raised consisting of cash from an Initial Public Offering 
of Units at $0.50 per unit, net of share issuance costs, and cash from Warrant exercises.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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Additional Disclosure for Venture Companies without Significant Revenue 
 
 
Exploration expenditures from January 31, 2012 to January 31, 2014: 

Property:

Fahiakoba

Balance at January 31, 2012 282,622$      

    Assaying, testing and analysis 47,576         

    Geology and geophysics 206,794       

    Drilling 1,084,771     

    Field expenses 249,499       

    General and administrative 190,735       

    Currency translation adjustment 7,712           

Balance at January 31, 2013 2,069,709     

    Assaying, testing and analysis 3,695           

    Geology and geophysics 114,906       

    Field expenses 108,456       

    General and administrative 148,039       

    Currency translation adjustment 279,745       

Balance at January 31, 2014 2,724,550$   

 

Outstanding Securities Data 

As at May 28, 2014 there are 22,481,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  There are 2,000,000 
Warrants outstanding, exercisable at $0.70 per Common Share up to February 28, 2015. There are also 
a total of 2,200,000 incentive options granted to directors, officers and consultants of the Company, of 
which 250,000 are exercisable at $0.15 and 1,100,000 are exercisable at $0.75 per Common Share up to 
October 24, 2016; 200,000 are exercisable up to April 11, 2019 at $0.15; 450,000 are exercisable at 
$0.15 up to May 15, 2019, and 200,000 exercisable at $0.15 per Common Share up to April 3, 2017. 

Transactions with Related Parties 

Related Party transactions include transactions with key management personnel and their related 
parties who hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant 
influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. 



 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the year ended January 31, 2014 

 

 
 

7 
 

Key Management Compensation 2014 2013

Directors and officers fees:

Douglas MacQuarrie 180,000$          180,000$         

Jagtar Sandhu 90,000             90,000            

Philip Gibbs 90,000             90,000            

Directors fees:

M. Holcombe 12,000             16,000            

F. Riedl-Riedenstein 12,000             20,000            

H. K. Arhin (ASG Mining Limited - Ghana) 13,412             11,982            

Robert J. Bourque (Asante GH Limited - Barbados) 1,863               1,658              

Roger S. Holford (Asante GH Limited - Barbados) 1,863               1,658              

401,138$          411,298$         

January 31,

 

Executive management and directors have deferred cash compensation until the working capital 
position is improved, and accordingly amounts due to related parties (key management and 
directors) have increased significantly. 

 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Significant accounting policies are detailed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended January 31, 2014, which are available on www.sedar.com and on the Company’s 
website. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company is exposed to a variety of risk factors, of which the most significant are outlined in the 
section ‘Financial Risk Management’ below.  

Financial Risk Management 

The Issuer is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board 
approves and monitors the risk management processes. The type of risk exposure and the way in 
which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Issuer if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Issuer's credit risk is primarily attributable to its liquid 
financial assets, including cash, amounts receivable and balances receivable from related parties. The 
Issuer limits the exposure to credit risk by only investing its cash and cash equivalents with high-
credit quality financial institutions in business and saving accounts, guaranteed investment 
certificates, and in government treasury bills which are available on demand by the Issuer. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuer will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they 
become due. The Issuer ensures, as far as reasonably possible, it will have sufficient capital in 
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order to meet short to medium term business requirements, after taking into account cash flows 
from operations and the Issuer's holdings of cash and cash equivalents. The liquidity risk at this 
time is high due to the working capital deficiency and the current investment climate related to 
the weak gold price and junior mining companies. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Issuer is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the 
degree of volatility of these rates. 

Interest rate risk 

The Issuer is subject to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in cash. The Issuer's policy is 
to invest cash at fixed rates of interest and cash reserves are to be maintained in cash and cash 
equivalents in order to maintain liquidity, while achieving a satisfactory return for shareholders. 
Fluctuations in interest rates when the cash and cash equivalents mature impact interest income 
earned. The Issuer is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

Commodity Price Risk 

While the value of the Issuer's only mineral resource property, Fahiakoba Concession, is related to the 
price of gold, the Issuer currently does not have any operating mines and hence does not have any 
hedging or other commodity based risks in respect of its operational activities. 

Gold prices have historically fluctuated widely and are affected by numerous factors outside of the 
Issuer's control, including, but not limited to, industrial and retail demand, central bank lending, 
forward sales by producers and speculators, levels of worldwide production, short-term changes in 
supply and demand because of speculative hedging activities, and certain other factors related 
specifically to gold. 

Capital Management 

The Issuer's intended policy is to maintain a strong capital base and deal flow so as to maintain investor 
and creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Given the poor equity 
markets over the last year, the Company decided to rely more on debt financing rather than equity in 
order to minimize share dilution. The capital structure of the Issuer consists of cash and equity, 
comprising of issued common shares, share based payment reserve, accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) and deficit. 

There were no changes in the Issuer's approach to capital management during the year. The Issuer is 
not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Fair Value 

The fair value of the Issuer's financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying amount. 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 
value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 
directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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Events Subsequent to the period ended January 31, 2014 

 On March 31, 2014 exploration activities on the Fahiakoba Concession ceased due to a lack of 
available of funding.  The Field Office will be maintained to store drill core and Company 
assets until such time as funding is in place to recommence exploration.  The Accra Office will 
close on June 30th, 2014 upon expiration of the Lease and negotiated grace period per Lease 
terms.  Accra assets will be temporarily stored at the Field office. 

 On April 11, 2014 the Company granted 200,000 stock options to a Director at an exercise price 
of $0.15 and exercisable for a period of 5 years from date of grant. 

 On May 15, 2014 the Company announced that it will use its best efforts to raise up to $500,000 
for working capital by the private placement of up to 6.66 million units of the Company, at the 
price of $0.075 per unit, each unit comprised of one common share and one-half of a callable 
share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant will be exercisable into one common share of the 
Company at a price of $0.15 for a period of two (2) years, with a provision that should the 
shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange at $0.25 or higher for 20 consecutive trading days 
the warrant holder would have 30 days to exercise the warrant or they would expire. In the 
event of an oversubscription, existing shareholders will be given priority and will be filled on a 
pro-rata basis. The record day for the purposes of defining existing shareholders is May 14, 
2014. 

 Also on May 15, 2014 the Company announced that 450,000 outstanding incentive stock options 
held by non-management consultants and advisors to the Company would be reduced in 
exercise price to $0.15 per option share from the current price of $0.75 per option share. 

 On May 15, 2014 the Company granted 450,000 incentive options to Directors and Officers of 
the Company exercisable at a price of $0.15 for five (5) years. 
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This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Asante Gold Corporation, (“Asante” or the “Company” 
or the “Issuer”) provides an analysis of the Company’s performance and financial condition for the three and nine 
month periods ended October 31, 2014. It is prepared as at December 18, 2014 and was approved by the Board of 
Directors on that date. 
 
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements for the nine months ended October 31, 2014 including the related note disclosures.  The Company’s 
unaudited condensed interim financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All dollar figures included therein and in the following discussion and analysis are 
quoted in the functional currency of Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified. Additional information relevant to 
the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or the Company’s website at 
www.asantegold.com. 
 
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements that are based on the Company’s expectations, estimates and 
projections regarding its business and the economic environment in which it operates. These statements speak only 
as of the date on which they are made, are not guarantees of future performance, and involve risks and uncertainties 
that are difficult to control or predict. Examples of some of the specific risks associated with the operations of the 
Company are set out below. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from those expressed in these 
forward-looking statements and readers should not place undue reliance on such statements. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Company’s unaudited condensed 
interim financial statements for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2014 and related notes 
thereto.  The unaudited condensed interim financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. All currency amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars 
unless otherwise stated.  

Principal Business and Corporate History 

Asante Gold Corporation is a mineral exploration company primarily involved in the acquisition and 
assessment of mineral properties in the Republic of Ghana. The Company’s objective is to undertake 
mineral exploration on properties assessed to be of merit and to define mineral resources.  Precious 
metals are targeted with a focus on gold and gold royalties. 

The Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) of 
Accra on June 15, 2011 to acquire the Fahiakoba Concession, in the Ashanti and Central Regions in the 
Republic of Ghana. The Company acquired a 100% interest in the Fahiakoba Concession by paying 
Goknet the sum of US$51,976 (C$50,630) and by agreeing to expend US$1,000,000 over a five year 
period, which commitment has been met in full. The Company also granted Goknet a 3% net smelter 
return royalty on production from the Fahiakoba Concession.  

The Company has applied to have the concession title transferred to ASG Mining Ltd., the Company’s 
100% owned Ghana subsidiary.  

In November 2012 the Company announced its intention to acquire a 1% NSR Royalty in PMI Gold 
Corporation’s (“PMI”) Obotan Project from Goknet. This transaction was subsequently cancelled due to 
a settlement of an arbitration between Goknet and PMI, which in return for certain consideration  
eliminated Goknet’s rights to any royalty interest. 

In October 2014, the Company announced that, subject to TSXV approval, it had entered into a binding 
term sheet with Goknet to form a 50:50 joint venture to further develop the Kubi gold project in 
Ghana. In terms of the agreement the Company must issue Goknet 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s 
common stock and fund the joint venture with US$2 million within six months of closing, and provide 
total funding of US$15 million within two years. The Company is continuing its due diligence towards 
completing the acquisition and obtaining regulatory approval. Given the significance of the transaction 
the Company called a trading halt on its stock, which will resume once due diligence is satisfactorily 
concluded. 

In addition the Company has acquired from NSS Resources Inc. a 2% net smelter returns royalty interest 
in the Seneca 1 to 9 claims which consist of 208 units covering an area of 4,124 hectares in the Harrison 
Lake area of British Columbia, Canada. The NSS Property surrounds four claims that cover the historical 
Seneca Deposit and two claims that cover the Vent Zone. (These six third party claims total 150 
hectares and are referred to as the 'Adjacent Property'. Neither the Seneca Deposit nor the Vent Zone 
are a part of the NSS Property or the NSR royalty). 

Capital stock and financing 

Between May 4, 2011 and January 31, 2012, the Company raised gross proceeds of $23,250 through the 
issuance of 2,325,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.01 per Common Share, $391,750 through the 
issuance of 7,835,000 Units at a price of $0.05 per Unit, and $1,450,250 through the issuance of 
5,801,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.25 per Common Share.    
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On February 28, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering of 4,000,000 Units at $0.50 per 
unit for cumulative gross proceeds of $2,000,000.  The Agent received at closing a cash commission of 
7.5% of the gross proceeds as well as 300,000 Agent Warrants, which is equal to 7.5% of the number of 
Offered Securities sold in the Offering. The fair value of the warrants was calculated at $78,878 using 
the Black-Scholes method as disclosed in Note 7 to the audited financial statements.  In addition, the 
Company issued to the Agent 150,000 Corporate Finance Shares. On November 22, 2012, 400,000 
warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share and on January 7, 2013, a further 1,000,000 
escrowed warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share.  On February 27, 2013 150,000 
escrowed warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share; on March 6, 2013 120,000 escrowed 
warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share; also on March 6, 2013 400,000 warrants were 
exercised at $0.25 per common share; on March 21, 2013 200,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per 
common share; and on April 24, 2013 50,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share.  On 
May 1, 2013 50,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 per common share. The following warrants 
expired unexercised: on February 28, 2013, 294,600 warrants; on March 14, 2013, 16,000 warrants; on 
June 10, 2013, 5,465,000 and on February 27, 2014, 300,000. 

Pursuant to TSX-V requirements, shares and warrants held by insiders prior to the IPO became subject 
to escrow. A total of 5,285,000 shares and 2,700,000 warrants were initially placed into escrow, of 
which 4,492,250 shares have been released and 970,000 warrants exercised to date and 1,430,000 
warrants expired unexercised on June 10, 2013. Currently 792,750 fully paid shares remain in escrow, 
for release on February 28, 2015.  

On August 27, 2014 the Company announced that its private placement to raise up to $550,000 had 
been cancelled. 

Overall performance 

The Company has no operational revenue, and exploration activity is subject to the availability of funds 
raised through financings. Global financial and commodity markets have been volatile, and the 
Company is thus impacted by these generic industry factors which are beyond its control. The Company 
anticipates obtaining additional financing in the future primarily through further debt and equity 
financing. 

The Company has completed its initial exploration program on the Fahiakoba Concession, consisting of 
4,987.5 metres of diamond drilling, ground VLF-EM geophysics and 1,200 auger drill holes. Results are 
considered sufficiently encouraging and further work will be commenced when adequate working 
capital is available. 

Selected Quarterly Information 

The following table summarizes quarterly results for the current and 8 preceding quarters. The 
information contained in this table should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial 
statements.  
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Summary of quarterly results

Period ending:
Revenue 

$

Gain/(Loss) 

before other 

items $

Currency 

translation 

adjustment $

Comprehensive 

Gain/(Loss) $

Net loss per 

share

October 31, 2014 Nil (169,270)      75,934                      (93,336) 0.01$            

July 31, 2014 Nil (210,314)      (31,566)                    (241,880) 0.01$            

April 30, 2014 Nil (185,057)      (45,682)          (230,739)          0.01$            

January 31, 2014 Nil (194,940)      167,845          (27,095)           0.01$            

October 31, 2013 Nil (175,457)      31,989           (143,468)          0.01$            

July 31, 2013 Nil (176,755)      59,233           (117,522)          0.01$            

April 30, 2013 Nil (243,066)      (1,521)            (244,587)          0.01$            

January 31, 2013 Nil (321,823)      (6,901)            (328,724)          0.02$            

October 31, 2012 Nil (227,355)      (2,908)            (230,263)          0.01$             

The January quarter of 2013 reflected costs associated with a transaction to acquire a 1% NSR royalty 
interest from Goknet, which was subsequently cancelled. The quarter ended October 31, 2014 includes 
share based compensation of $44,120. 

Results of Operations 

The Company’s comprehensive loss for the three months ended October 31, 2014 was $93,336 (2013: 
$143,469) or $0.01 per Common Share. The table below presents the key expenditure items for the 
quarter and for the year to date. 

2014 2013 2014 2013

Interest and other income -$            (435)$          -$           -$           

Expenses

   Amortization 473             581             150            184            

   Directors' fees (Note 11) 27,433         27,000         9,550          9,000          

   Foreign exchange gain 2,008          4,406 1,444          4,395          

   Share based compensation (Note 8) 44,120         -             -             -             

   Management and consulting fees (Note 11) 148,100       164,830       29,100        52,830        

   Professional services (Note 11) 135,782       123,248       59,480        35,687        

   Shareholder communications (Note 11) 80,031         143,793        24,431        38,084        

   Advertising,trade shows and promotions 7,613          -             1,730          -             

   Transfer agent and regulatory fees 11,762         12,271         1,233          1,395          

   Travel 13,570         34,753         -             8,751          

   General office 71,570         84,831         41,517        25,132        

   Loss on disposal of assets 22,180         -             635            -             

Net loss for the period 564,643       595,278       169,270       175,458       

Other comprehensive loss/(income)

Currency translation adjustment 1,314          (89,701) (75,934)       (31,989)

Total comprehensive loss for the period 565,957$      505,577$      93,336$       143,469$     

Loss per common share, basic and diluted (Note 13) 0.03$          0.02$          0.01$          0.01$          

              October 31,               October 31, 

 Nine  months ended   Three  months ended  
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Among these administrative expenses for the quarter were fees for professional services of $59,480 
which includes $22,500 in consulting fees charged by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer at a rate of 
$7,500 per month. Other key personnel costs comprised management fees of $37,500 charged by the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer at a rate of $15,000 per month for two and a half months. As of 
October 15, 2014 the CEO has foregone a fee for his services. Corporate communication fees of $22,500 
charged by a director at a rate of $7,500 per month are reflected in shareholder communication.  

The Company capitalizes all mineral property acquisition and exploration costs until the properties to 
which the costs are related are placed into production, sold or abandoned.   The decision to abandon a 
property is largely determined by exploration results and the amount and timing of the Company’s 
write-offs of capitalized mineral property costs will vary in a fiscal period from one year to the next 
and typically cannot be predicted in advance. 

During the three months ended October 31, 2014, mineral property acquisition and exploration costs 
totalling $40,507 were capitalized to mineral properties, as well as a Currency Translation Adjustment 
of $82.038.  Expenditures are detailed in the exploration expenditure table on page 6 below. 

Dividends 

There are no restrictions that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends on its Common Shares.  
The Issuer has not paid any dividends on its Common Shares and it is not contemplated that the Issuer 
will pay any dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future.  All available cash will be used to 
finance operations and explore mineral properties, until a revenue stream is generated.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

At October 31, 2014, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $1,589,309, inclusive of a loan 
of $223,860 which was advanced by Goknet in two amounts on April 24, 2013 and April 29, 2013 for 
working capital purposes which carries interest of 5% per annum and is unsecured. It is repayable 
within 60 days upon demand. In addition key management and directors have deferred cash 
compensation until the liquidity position improves. 

Expenditure obligations in terms of the acquisition of its interest in the Fahiakoba Concession have 
been met in full by the Company. 

At present, the Company’s operations do not generate cash flow and its financial success is dependent 
on management’s ability to discover and develop economically viable mineral deposits and to realise a 
revenue stream from its proposed royalty acquisition.  The mineral exploration process can take many 
years and is subject to factors that are beyond the Company’s control. 

In order to finance the Company’s exploration programs and to cover general and administrative 
expenses, the Company raises money through equity issues. 

Many factors influence the Company’s ability to raise funds, including the health of the resource 
market, the climate for mineral exploration investment, the Company’s track record, and the 
experience and calibre of its management.  Actual funding requirements may vary from those planned 
due to a number of factors, including the progress of exploration activities.  Management believes it 
will be able to raise equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes there will be risks 
involved that may be beyond their control. 

A proposed private placement announced in May 2014 has been cancelled.  
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Companies without Significant Revenue 
 
 
Exploration expenditures from January 31, 2013 to October 31, 2014: 

Property:

Fahiakoba

Balance at January 31, 2013 2,069,709     

    Assaying, testing and analysis 3,695           

    Geology and geophysics 114,906        

    Field expenses 108,456        

    General and administrative (Note 11) 148,039        

    Currency translation adjustment 279,745        

Balance at January 31, 2014 2,724,550$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis -              

    Geology and geophysics 17,570         

    Field expenses 12,796         

    General and administrative (Note 11) 33,577         

    Currency translation adjustment (45,445)

Balance at April 30, 2014 2,743,048$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis -              

    Geology and geophysics 14,720         

    Field expenses 3,491           

    General and administrative (Note 11) 29,630         

    Currency translation adjustment (29,687)        

Balance at July 31, 2014 2,761,202$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis

    Geology and geophysics 8406

    Field expenses 10129

    General and administrative (Note 11) 21972

    Currency translation adjustment 82038

Balance at October 31, 2014 2,883,746$    
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Outstanding Securities Data 

As at December 14, 2014 there are 22,481,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  There are 
2,000,000 Warrants outstanding, exercisable at $0.70 per Common Share up to February 28, 2015. 
There are also a total of 2,000,000 incentive options granted to directors, officers and consultants of 
the Company, of which 250,000 are exercisable at $0.15 and 900,000 are exercisable at $0.75 per 
Common Share up to October 24, 2016; 200,000 are exercisable up to April 3, 2017 at $0.15; 450,000 
are exercisable at $0.15 up to May 15, 2019, and 200,000 exercisable at $0.15 per Common Share up to 
April 11, 2019. 

Transactions with Related Parties 

Related Party transactions include transactions with key management personnel and their related 
parties who hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant 
influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. 

For the nine months ended October 31, 2014 the following transactions occurred: 

Key Management Compensation 2014 2013

Directors and officers fees:

Douglas MacQuarrie 127,500$          135,000$         

Jagtar Sandhu 67,500             67,500            

Philip Gibbs 67,500             67,500            

Directors fees:

M. Holcombe 3,000               9,000              

F. Riedl-Riedenstein 9,000               9,000              

A. Heath 6,742               -                 

H. K. Arhin (ASG Mining Limited - Ghana) 9,523               9,384              

Robert J. Bourque (Asante GH Limited - Barbado 1,863               2,000              

Roger S. Holford (Asante GH Limited - Barbados) 1,863               2,000              

290,765$          301,384$         

October 31,

 

Share based payments for the nine months ended April 30, 2014 had a fair value of $44,120 
(2013:$Nil). 
 
Executive management and directors have deferred cash compensation until the working capital 
position is improved, and accordingly amounts due to related parties including key management 
and directors have increased significantly. As at October 31, 2014 a total of $773,254 was owed 
to key management (2013:$90,000). 
 
 
In addition the following amounts were owed to other related parties in respect of loans and 
advances: 
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2014 2013

Short term loan from Goknet Mining Company Limited, a company of which D 

Macquarrie, CEO, is also a director 223,860$   200,000$   

Advances from Goknet Mining Company Limited, a company of which D 

Macquarrie, CEO, is also a director 212,612    115,000    
Advances from MIA Investments Ltd., a company of which D Macquarrie, CEO, is 

also a director 99,517      -          

535,989$   315,000$   

        October 31,

 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Significant accounting policies are detailed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended January 31, 2014, which are available on www.sedar.com and on the Company’s 
website. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company is exposed to a variety of risk factors, of which the most significant are outlined in the 
section ‘Financial Risk Management’ below.  

Financial Risk Management 

The Issuer is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board 
approves and monitors the risk management processes. The type of risk exposure and the way in 
which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Issuer if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Issuer's credit risk is primarily attributable to its liquid 
financial assets, including cash, amounts receivable and balances receivable from related parties. The 
Issuer limits the exposure to credit risk by only investing its cash and cash equivalents with high-
credit quality financial institutions in business and saving accounts, guaranteed investment 
certificates, and in government treasury bills which are available on demand by the Issuer. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuer will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they 
become due. The Issuer ensures, as far as reasonably possible, it will have sufficient capital in 
order to meet short to medium term business requirements, after taking into account cash flows 
from operations and the Issuer's holdings of cash and cash equivalents. The liquidity risk at this 
time is high due to the working capital deficiency and the current investment climate related to 
the weak gold price and junior mining companies. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Issuer is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the 
degree of volatility of these rates. 
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Interest rate risk 

The Issuer is subject to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in cash. The Issuer's policy is 
to invest cash at fixed rates of interest and cash reserves are to be maintained in cash and cash 
equivalents in order to maintain liquidity, while achieving a satisfactory return for shareholders. 
Fluctuations in interest rates when the cash and cash equivalents mature impact interest income 
earned. The Issuer is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

Commodity Price Risk 

While the value of the Issuer's only mineral resource property, Fahiakoba Concession, is related to the 
price of gold, the Issuer currently does not have any operating mines and hence does not have any 
hedging or other commodity based risks in respect of its operational activities. 

Gold prices have historically fluctuated widely and are affected by numerous factors outside of the 
Issuer's control, including, but not limited to, industrial and retail demand, central bank lending, 
forward sales by producers and speculators, levels of worldwide production, short-term changes in 
supply and demand because of speculative hedging activities, and certain other factors related 
specifically to gold. 

Capital Management 

The Issuer's intended policy is to maintain a strong capital base and deal flow so as to maintain investor 
and creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Given the poor equity 
markets over the last two years, the Company decided to rely on debt financing rather than equity in 
order to minimize share dilution. The capital structure of the Issuer consists of cash and equity, 
comprising of issued common shares, share based payment reserve, accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) and deficit, and contributed surplus. 

There were no changes in the Issuer's approach to capital management during the quarter. The Issuer 
is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Fair Value 

The fair value of the Issuer's financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying amount. 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 
value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either 
directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

 

The Issuer’s securities are currently listed and posted for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange under the 

symbol ASE; and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol 1A9. The Issuer has applied to have 

its common shares listed and posted for trading or quoted on the Canadian Securities Exchange and 

intends to delist its securities from the TSX Venture Exchange.  
 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALZATION  

 

The following table details material changes to the share and loan capital of the Issuer from the date of the 

financial statements for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year-end to the date of this Listing 

Statement.  
 

Designation of Security Number Authorized Outstanding as at date of this Listing 

Statement 

 

Number 

Common Shares Unlimited, no par value 22,481,000 

 

For further details about the Issuer’s issued securities, see Section 10 – “Prior Sales”. 

 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES  

9.1 The Issuer has 2,000,000 share purchase warrants outstanding.  The 2,000,000 warrants were 

issued February 28, 2014, exercisable at a price of $0.70 until February 28, 2014.  These were 

extended to February 28, 2015, then further extended to February 28, 2016 

9.2 The following table summarizes the options of the Issuer outstanding as of the date of the Listing 

Statement: 

Group No. of 

Options 

Securities 

Under 

Option 

Grant 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Exercise 

Price per 

Common 

Share 

Market 

Value of 

the 

Common 

Shares on 

the Grant 

Date 

Market 

Value of 

the 

Common 

Shares as 

of the date 

of this 

Listing 

Statement 
Executive 

Officers 

(2 persons) 

450,000 

 

200,000 

Common 

Shares 

Common 

Shares 

Oct 24, 

2011 

April 11, 

2014 

Oct 24, 

2016 

April 11, 

2019 

$0.75 

 

$0.15 

N/A 

 

$0.085 

N/A 

 

$0.08 

Directors 

and Officers 

(not Executive 

Officers) 

(4 persons) 

450,000 

 

200,000 

 

250,000 

 

Common 

Shares 

Common 

Shares 

Common 

Shares 

Oct 24, 

2011 

April 11, 

2014 

May 15, 

2014 

Oct 24, 

2016 

April 11, 

2019 

May 15, 

2019 

$0.75 

 

$0.15 

 

$0.15 

N/A 

 

$0.07 

 

$0.085 

N/A 

 

$0.08 

 

$0.08 

Consultants 250,000 Common  Oct 24, Oct 24, $0.15
(1) 

$0.085
(2) $0.08 
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 (6 persons)  

200,000 

Shares 

Common 

Shares 

2011 

Apr 3, 

2012 

2016 

Apr 3, 

2017 

 

$0.15
(1) 

 

 

$0.085
(2)

 

 

$0.08 

Total: 2,000,000       

(1) Options  were repriced from $0.75 per share to $0.15 per share on May 1, 2014 

(2) Price is at May 1, 2014, the date of repricing. 
 

All of the options have been granted pursuant to the terms of the stock option plan (the “Stock Option 

Plan”) approved by the Issuer’s directors on September 7, 2011. The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is 

to assist the Issuer in attracting, retaining and motivating directors, officers, employees and consultants 

(collectively, “service providers”) of the Issuer and of its affiliates and to closely align the personal 

interests of such service providers with the interests of the Issuer and its shareholders. The Stock 

Option Plan provides that, subject to the requirements of the Exchange, the aggregate number of 

securities reserved for issuance, set aside and made available for issuance under the Stock Option Plan 

will be 10% of the number of Common Shares of the Issuer issued and outstanding. The Stock 

Option Plan includes the following: 

(a) a condition that options are non-assignable and non-transferable; 

(b) the term of an option cannot exceed five years from the date of grant; 

(c) a condition that no more than 5% of the issued shares of the Issuer may be granted to any one 

individual in any 12 month period; 

(d) a condition that no more than 2% of the issued shares of the Issuer may be granted to any one 

consultant in any 12 month period; 

(e) the options will vest at the discretion of the Issuer’s directors; 

(f) a condition that no more than an aggregate of 2% of the issued shares of the Issuer may be 

granted to an employee conducting investor relations activities in any 12 month period; 

(g) the period in which an optionee’s heirs or administrators can exercise any portion of its 

outstanding options must not exceed one year from the optionee’s death; and 

(h) a provision requiring that, for stock options granted to employees, consultants or management 

company employees, the Issuer represents that the proposed optionee is a bona fide employee, 

consultant or management company employee, as the case may be. 
 

The Stock Option Plan will be administered by the board of directors of the Issuer, which will have full 

and final authority with respect to the granting of all options thereunder. 

 

In addition to the options listed above, the Issuer has 2,000,000 share purchase warrants outstanding.  

Each warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.70 per share.  The 

share purchase warrants were issued on February 28, 2013, exercisable until February 28, 2014.  The 

expiry date of the share purchase warrants was extended to February 28, 2015, and then further extended 

to February 28, 2016. 

 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES  

The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par 

value. 
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10.1 Common Shares 

There are currently 22,481,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date of this Listing 

Statement. There are no special rights or restrictions of any nature attached to any of the Common 

Shares, which all rank equally as to all benefits which might accrue to the holders of the Common 

Shares, including to receive dividends out of moneys of the Issuer properly applicable to the 

payment of dividends if and when declared by the board of directors and to participate ratably in the 

remaining assets of the Issuer in any distribution on a dissolution or winding-up. 

All registered shareholders are entitled to receive a notice of any general meeting to be convened by the 

Issuer. At any general meeting, subject to the restrictions on joint registered owners of Common Shares, 

on a show of hands every shareholder who is present in person and entitled to vote has one vote and on a 

poll, every shareholder has one vote for each Common Share of which that shareholder is the registered 

owner and may exercise such vote either in person or by proxy. 

 

10.2 – 10.6 Debt Securities, Other Securities, Modification of Terms and Other Attributes 
 

These sections do not apply to the Issuer. 

 

10.7 Prior Sales  

During the 12 months preceding and including the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer has not issued 

any Shares. 

 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

The following table provides information with respect to the Issuer’s trading history on the TSX Venture 

Exchange from November 1, 2012 to the date of this Listing Statement: 

 

Period 

Price Range ($) 

Volume Traded Low High 

April 2015 to date 0.085 0.12 25,000 

March 2015 0.06 0.095 167,000 

February 2015 0.055 0.105 102,000 

January 2015 n/a n/a Nil 

December 2014 n/a n/a Nil 

November 2014 n/a n/a Nil 

August 2014 – October 

2014 

0.06 0.95 243,950 

May 2014 – July 2014 0.055 0.095 310,300 

February 2014 – April 

2014 

0.07 0.12 448,400 

November 2013 – January 

2014 

0.08 0.165 375,298 

August 2013 – October 

2013 

0.08 0.18 634,100 

May 2013 – July 2013 0.14 0.22 363,640 

February 2013 – April 

2013 

0.165 0.28 977,250 

November 2012 – January 

2013 

0.20 0.29 1,409,703 
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11. ESCROWED SECURITIES 

 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer has no shares in escrow. 

 

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

 

The Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value (the 

“Shares”), of which 22,481,000 shares were issued and outstanding as at April 16, 2015. The Issuer has 

only one class of shares. 

To the knowledge of the Directors and executive officers of the Issuer, no person beneficially owns, 

controls or directs, directly or indirectly, shares carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all 

shares of the Issuer, except as follows: 

Name 

No. of Shares Beneficially Owned, 

Controlled or Directed, Directly or 

Indirectly 

Percentage of 

Outstanding Shares 

Douglas MacQuarrie 5,333,300 common shares
(1)

 23.72% 

(1) Of these shares 4,170,500 are held indirectly in the name of MIA Investments Ltd., a private company wholly owned 

by the MacQuarrie Family Trust and 383,500 are held indirectly in the name of Roberta MacQuarrie. 

 

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

 

The Directors of the Issuer are elected at each annual general meeting and hold office until the next 

annual general meeting or until their successors are appointed. 

 

13.1 – 13.3 The Issuer is required to have an audit committee.  Members of this committee are as 

set out below. 

 

 

 

Name, Jurisdiction of 

Residence and Position  

 

Principal Occupation or 

Employment and, if not a 

Previously Elected Director, 

Occupation During the Past 5 

Years 

 

 

Previous 

Service  

as a Director 

Number of Common 

Shares Beneficially 

Owned, Controlled or 

Directed, Directly or 

Indirectly
 (2)

 

Douglas MacQuarrie 

Richmond, BC, Canada 

President, CEO and 

Director 

President and Chief Executive 

Officer of the Issuer; President, 

MIA Investments Ltd. since May 

1995.  

Since May 4, 

2011 

5,333,300 

Common 

Shares
(3)

 

Jagtar Sandhu 
(1)

 

Surrey, BC, Canada 

Director 

President, JNS Capital Corp. 

since July 7, 2007; President, 

Nava Resources Inc. July 2005 to 

December, 2013. 

Since May 18, 

2011 

1,400,000 

Common Shares 

Florian Riedl-

Riedenstein
(1)

 

Innermanzing, Austria 

Director 

Former investment banker. Self-

employed since 1992. 

Since June 9, 

2011 

1,449,000 

Common Shares 
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Name, Jurisdiction of 

Residence and Position  

 

Principal Occupation or 

Employment and, if not a 

Previously Elected Director, 

Occupation During the Past 5 

Years 

 

 

Previous 

Service  

as a Director 

Number of Common 

Shares Beneficially 

Owned, Controlled or 

Directed, Directly or 

Indirectly
 (2)

 

Alex Heath
(1)

 

Vancouver, BC, Canada 

Director 

Associate, Analyst and VP in the 

Investment Banking Department 

of Salman Partners Inc. 2005 to 

2013.  Financial Analysis 

Manager at Seaspan Corp. 

November, 2013 to present. 

Since April 9, 

2014 

Nil 

(1) Member of the audit committee. 

(2) Shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised, as of the date of this Listing 

Statement, based upon information furnished to the Issuer by individual Directors.  Unless otherwise indicated, such shares 

are held directly. 

(3) Of these shares, 4,170,500 are held indirectly in the name of MIA Investments Ltd., a private company wholly owned by the 

MacQuarrie Family Trust and 383,500 are held indirectly in the name of Roberta MacQuarrie. 

 

13.4 Board Committees 

 

The Issuer has one committee, the Audit Committee who’s members are Jagtar Sandhu, Florian Riedl-

Riedenstein and Alex Heath. 

 

13.5 See table 13.1 – 13.3 above. 

 

13.6 To the knowledge of the Issuer, no director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding 

a sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer:  

 

 (a) is, as at the date of the listing statement, or has been, within 10 years before the date of the 

Listing Statement, a director, chief executive officer (“CEO”) or chief financial officer (“CFO”) 

of any company (including the Issuer) that: 

 

(i) was the subject, while the proposed Director was acting in the capacity as Director, CEO 

or CFO of such company, of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 

relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect 

for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or 

 

(ii) was subject to a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company 

access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of 

more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after the proposed Director ceased to be a 

Director, CEO or CFO but which resulted from an event that occurred while the proposed 

Director was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO of such company; or 

 

 (b) is, as at the date of this listing statement, or has been within 10 years before the date of the listing 

statement, a Director or executive officer of any company (including the Issuer) that, while that 

person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 

became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 

was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 

receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 



 

 

 

 
 
 
  

71 
 

 

 (c) has, within the 10 years before the date of this listing statement, become bankrupt, made a 

proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or 

instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 

manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed Director; or 

 

 (d) has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation 

or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities  

regulatory authority; or 

 

 (e) has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would 

likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a 

proposed Director. 

 

13.7 Penalties or Sanctions 

 

 See 13.6 above. 

 

13.8 No Disclosure 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 

 

 See 13.6 above. 

 

13.10 The following Directors of the Issuer hold Directorships in other reporting issuers as set out 

below: 

Name of Director Name of Other Reporting Issuer 

Douglas MacQuarrie NSS Resources Inc. 

Jagtar Sandhu NSS Resources Inc. 

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein Cresval Capital Corp. 

Alex Heath Roughrider Exploration Limited 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

The directors of the Issuer are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 

interest of the Issuer and to disclose any interests which they may have in any project or opportunity of 

the Issuer. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict 

will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. In determining whether or not the Issuer 

will participate in any project or opportunity, that director will primarily consider the degree of risk to 

which the Issuer may be exposed and its financial position at that time. 

 

To the best of our knowledge, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest among the 

Issuer and its promoters, directors, officers or other members of management as a result of their outside 

business interests except that certain of the directors, officers, promoters and other members of 

management serve as directors, officers, promoters and members of management of other public 

companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties as a director, officer, 

promoter or member of management of such other companies. 
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Douglas MacQuarrie is the CEO and a director of the Issuer and is the Managing Director of Goknet.  MIA 

Investments Ltd. (“MIA”), a company owned by the MacQuarrie Trust, owns 21.5% of the shares of 

Goknet.  The trustees of the MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and Roberta MacQuarrie.  

MIA and Douglas and Roberta MacQuarrie collectively own 5,333,300 (23.72%) of the Company.  Goknet 

currently owns 2,040,000 shares (9.07%) of the Company.  All negotiations with respect to the Definitive 

Option Agreement between the Company and Goknet have been between the non-conflicted directors of 

the respective companies. 

 

Management 

 

Douglas MacQuarrie. President, Chief Executive Officer, Director. Mr. MacQuarrie has a Combined 

Honours degree in geology and geophysics and is a registered Professional Geoscientist. Mr. 

MacQuarrie has worked continuously in the mineral exploration industry since his graduation in 

1975. He has been a consultant, director, senior officer and Chief Executive Officer of several public 

companies involved in gold exploration throughout North America and for the past 2 2  years in West 

Africa. Most recently, Mr. MacQuarrie was the President and Chief Executive Officer of PMI Gold 

Corporation, a TSX listed exploration company from May, 2003 to January, 2011. Mr. MacQuarrie has 

been the President of MIA Investments Ltd. a private company wholly-owned by the MacQuarrie Family 

Trust, from July, 1995 to present. 

 

As the Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, Mr. MacQuarrie is responsible for the day-to-day operations, 

outside contractors and service providers, acquisitions and project development, and of the financial 

operations of the Issuer in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer and with outside accounting, tax 

and auditing firms. Mr. MacQuarrie anticipates devoting approximately 90% of his working time for the 

benefit of the Issuer. Mr. MacQuarrie is not an employee but an independent consultant of the Issuer 

through his corporation, MIA Investments Ltd.  See “Executive Compensation”. He has not entered into a 

non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Philip Gibbs. Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Gibbs has extensive knowledge of the financial aspects of 

exchange listed mining and mineral exploration companies operating in Africa and South America. 

Mr. Gibbs is currently Chief Financial Officer of KILO Goldmines Ltd., a gold exploration company 

operating in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, from March, 2010 to present, and Macusani 

Yellowcake Inc., a uranium exploration company operating in Peru from March, 2010 to present, and was 

formerly the Chief Financial Officer of PMI Gold Corporation, an exploration company active in Ghana, 

West Africa, from March, 2008 to June, 2011, and was the controller of A &P Canada, a grocery retailer 

from July, 2004 to October, 2007. Mr. Gibbs has a B. Compt from the University of South Africa and an 

MBA from the University of Durban Westville, South Africa, and is a Chartered Management Accountant 

(UK). 

 

As the Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer, Mr. Gibbs is responsible for coordination of the financial 

operations of the Issuer in conjunction with the President and with outside accounting, tax and auditing 

firms. Mr. Gibbs anticipates devoting approximately 40% of his working time for the benefit of the 

Issuer. Mr. Gibbs is not an employee but is an independent consultant of the Issuer. See “Executive 

Compensation”.  He has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Jagtar Sandhu. Director. Mr. Sandhu is the President of JNS Capital Corp., a corporate 

development and advisory firm from January 7, 2007 to present. Mr. Sandhu has over 14 years’ 

experience with public companies trading on the TSX Venture Exchange and has extensive knowledge 

of corporate development and investor relations to public companies. Mr. Sandhu received his 

Economics degree from Simon Fraser University in 1991. 
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As a director of the Issuer, Mr. Sandhu will advise the officers and the Board of Directors with regard to 

the corporate development of the Issuer. Mr. Sandhu anticipates devoting approximately 50% of his 

working time for the benefit of the Issuer. Mr. Sandhu is not an employee but is an independent 

consultant. He has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Alex Heath. Director.  Mr. Heath is a graduate of the UBC/Sauder School of Business. Recent experience 

includes 8 years with Salman Partners Inc. in their Investment Banking Department as an analyst, 

Associate and VP. In that capacity, he provided equity financing and financial advisory services to 

corporate and individual clients including public and private equity offerings, valuations, fairness 

opinions, and in merger and acquisition advisory work. He was the Lead banker on numerous financings 

and complex M&A transactions 

 

As a director of the Issuer, Mr. Heath will be responsible for advising the officers and directors 

regarding corporate banking and investments as well as joint venture strategies and will be the chairman 

of the Audit Committee.  Mr. Heath will devote the time necessary  to  fulfill  his  function. Mr. Heath 

is not an employee or independent consultant of the Issuer.  He has not entered into a non-competition or a 

non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein. Director. Mr. Riedl-Riedenstein is a director of Cresval Capital Corp, a 

mining exploration company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange from May, 2004 to present. Mr. 

Riedl-Riedenstein was previously a director of Levon Resources Ltd., a mining exploration company 

listed on the TSX Venture Exchange from April, 1995 to May, 2010, a director of Coral Gold 

Resources from March, 1994 to July, 2006, and a director of Bralorne Gold Mines Ltd., a producing 

gold mining company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange from November, 1994 to June, 2009. Mr. 

Riedl-Riedenstein has 30 years corporate experience as a director and officer of Canadian public 

companies. Formerly Mr. Riedl-Riedenstein was an investment banker in Vienna, Austria and New York. 

He currently resides in Vienna, Austria. 

 

As a director of the Issuer, Mr. Riedl-Riedenstein will be responsible for European corporate 

development. Mr. Riedl-Riedenstein anticipates devoting approximately 25% of his working time for the 

benefit of the Issuer.  Mr. Riedl-Riedenstein is not an employee or independent consultant of the Issuer.  

He has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Janet Horbulyk. Corporate Secretary. Ms. Horbulyk has been the Corporate Secretary of Scorpio 

Gold Corporation, a junior mining company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange since June 2009, and 

previously was Corporate Secretary for Scorpio Mining Corporation, a producing mine company listed on 

the TSX Venture Exchange from October, 2002 until March, 2011, and Medallion Resources Ltd. a 

junior mining company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange from February 1994 until September 

2010. Ms. Horbulyk also was secretary for PMI Gold Corporation from September 2005 until June, 

2010 and Euromax Resources Ltd., from October 2004 until November, 2010, both are junior mining 

companies listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. Ms. Horbulyk has 30 years’ experience in public 

company administration and regulatory matters. She has in-depth experience with the evolving 

regulatory framework for public companies and documentation for financing and filings for companies 

listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. 

 

As the Corporate Secretary of the Issuer, Ms. Horbulyk is responsible for coordinating the Issuer’s legal 

liaison, corporate filings and regulatory matters. Ms. Horbulyk anticipates devoting approximately 20% 

of her working time for the benefit of the Issuer. Ms. Horbulyk is not an employee but is an independent 

consultant of the Issuer.  She has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with 

the Issuer. 
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14. CAPITALIZATION 

 
NOTE TO CSE:  FURTHER TO A CONVERSATION WITH ROB THERIAULT, PLEASE FIND 

ATTACHED TO THIS LISTING STATEMENT THE ISSUERS REGISTERED SHAREHOLDER 

LIST, CURRENT TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS, RECENT NOBO LIST DATED NOVEMBER 2014, AS 

WELL AS THE CONFIRMATION OF MAILING TO SHAREHOLDERS FOR THE ANNUAL 

GENERAL MEETING HELD DEC 15, 2014, WHICH CONFIRMS IT WAS MAILED TO 249 

SHAREHOLDERS. 

14.1 The following chart indicates each class of securities to be listed:  

 

Issued Capital 

 Number of 

Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 

Securities 

(fully-

diluted) 

%of Issued 

(non-

diluted) 

% of 

Issued  

(fully diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A)  22,481,000  26,481,000 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or 

employees of the Issuer or 

Related Person of the Issuer, or 

by persons or companies who 

beneficially own or control, 

directly or indirectly, more 

than a 5% voting position in 

the Issuer (or who would 

beneficially own or control, 

directly or indirectly, more 

than a 5% voting position in 

the Issuer upon exercise or 

conversion of other securities 

held) (B) 

8,282,300 10,232,300 36.84% 38.64% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 14,198,700 16,248,700 63.16% 61.36% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

    

Number of outstanding securities 

subject to resale restrictions, 

including restrictions imposed by 

pooling or other arrangements or 

in a shareholder agreement and 

securities held by control block 

holders (C)  

5,333,300  5,983,300 23.72% 22.59% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 17,147,700 20,497,700 76.62% 77.40% 

 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 

For the purposes of this report, “public security holders” are persons other than persons enumerated in 

section (B) of the previous chart. Registered holders listed only. The table below is also as of April 16 

2015. 
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Class of Security:  

Common Shares 

 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities     

     

100 – 499 securities     

     

500 – 999 securities     

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities     

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities     

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities     

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4,000 

     

5,000 or more  securities  28  14,194,700 

     

Total  29  14,198,700 

 

 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 

shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the 

Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is 

sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line 

item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an 

intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate 

position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
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Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities     

     

100 – 499 securities     

     

500 – 999 securities  1  500 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities     

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities     

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities     

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4000 

     

5,000 or more  securities  56  22,476,500 

     

Unable to confirm        

  58  22,481,000 

 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated 

in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

 
Class of Security 

 
    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

     

1 – 99 securities     

     

100 – 499 securities     

     

500 – 999 securities     

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities     

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities     

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities     

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities     

     

5,000 or more  securities  4  14,218,700 

  4  14,218,000 
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13.2 Securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of listed securities 

 

Description of Security 

(include conversion /  exercise 

terms, including conversion / 

exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities 

outstanding 

Number of listed securities 

issuable upon conversion / 

exercise 

Stock purchase warrants 

exercisable at $0.70 until 

February 28, 2016 

2,000,000 2,000,000 

Stock options expire 5 years 

from granting, exercisable from 

$0.15 to $0.75. See Section 9 – 

“Options to Purchase 

Securities”. 

2,000,000 2,000,000 

 

13.3 Listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 13.2. 

 

Description of Security 

(include conversion /  exercise 

terms, including conversion / 

exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities 

outstanding 

Number of listed securities 

issuable upon conversion / 

exercise 

Securities reserved for issuance 

on closing of the Definitive 

Option Agreement with Goknet 

Mining Company Limited – 

Kubi Gold Project 

 2,000,000 

Securities reserved for issuance 

on closing of the Definitive 

Option Agreement with Goknet 

Mining Company Limited – 

Kubi Gold Project, Option 1 to 

increase to 75% 

 10,000,000 

Securities reserved for issuance 

on closing of the Definitive 

Option Agreement with Goknet 

Mining Company Limited – 

Kubi Gold Project, Option 2 to 

increase to 100% 

 5,000,000 

 

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Issuer’s compensation philosophy for its Named Executive Officers (“NEO’s”) is designed to attract 

well qualified individuals in what is essentially an international market by paying competitive base 

management fees plus short and long term incentive compensation in the form of stock options or other 

suitable long term incentives.  The Board of Directors meets to discuss and determine executive 

compensation without reference to formal objectives, criteria or analysis.  In making its determinations 

regarding the various elements of executive compensation, the Board of Directors does not benchmark its 

executive compensation program, but from time to time does review compensation practices of 
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companies of similar size and stage of development to ensure the compensation paid is competitive within 

the Issuer’s industry and geographic location while taking into account the financial and other resources 

of the Issuer. 

The duties and responsibilities of the President and CEO are typical of those of a business entity of the 

Issuer’s size in a similar business and include direct reporting responsibility to the Board, overseeing the 

activities of all other executive and management consultants, representing the Issuer, providing leadership 

and responsibility for achieving corporate goals and implementing corporate policies and initiatives. 

Elements of Compensation 

The Issuer’s executive compensation policy consists of an annual base salary and long term incentives in 

the form of stock options granted under the Issuer’s Stock Option Plan. 

The base salaries paid to officers of the Issuer are intended to provide fixed levels of competitive pay that 

reflect each officer’s primary duties and responsibilities and the level of skill and experience required to 

successfully perform their role.  The Issuer intends to pay base salaries to officers that are competitive 

with those for similar positions in the mining industry to attract and retain executive talent in the market 

in which the Issuer competes for talent.  Base salaries of officers are reviewed annually by the Board of 

Directors. 

The incentive component of the Issuer’s compensation program is the potential longer term reward 

provided through the grant of stock options.  The Issuer’s Stock Option Plan is intended to attract, retain 

and motivate officers and Directors of the Issuer in key positions, and to align the interests of those 

individuals with those of the Issuer’s shareholders.  The Stock Option Plan provides such individuals with 

an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Issuer’s value growth through the exercise of stock 

options.  Options are granted at the discretion of the Board of Directors, which considers factors such as 

how other junior exploration companies grant options and the potential value that each optionee is 

contributing to the Issuer.  The number of options granted to an individual is based on such 

considerations.  Stock options are granted at an exercise price of not less than the prevailing market price 

of the Issuer’s common shares at the time of the grant, and for a term of exercise not exceeding ten years. 

The Issuer has not currently identified specific performance goals or benchmarks as such relate to 

executive compensation, but from time to time does review compensation practices of companies of 

similar size and stage of development to ensure the compensation paid is competitive within the Issuer’s 

industry.  The stage of the Issuer’s development and the small size of its specialized management team 

allow frequent communication and constant management decisions in the interest of developing 

shareholder value as a primary goal.  As the Issuer progresses toward a revenue-producing entity, and 

performance goals are more apt to be delegated, particular performance goals will become more complex 

and measurable, and included in the compensation structure accordingly. 

Compensation Policies and Risk Management 

The Board of Directors considers the implications of the risks associated with the Issuer’s compensation 

policies and practices when determining rewards for its officers.  The Board of Directors intends to 

review at least once annually the risks, if any, associated with the Issuer’s compensation policies and 

practices at such time. 

Executive compensation is comprised of short-term compensation in the form of a base salary and long-

term ownership through the Issuer’s Stock Option Plan.  This structure ensures that a significant portion 

of executive compensation (stock options) is both long-term and “at risk” and, accordingly, is directly 

linked to the achievement of business results and the creation of long term shareholder value.  As the 

benefits of such compensation, if any, are not realized by officers until a significant period of time has 



 

 

 

 
 
 
  

79 
 

passed, the ability of officers to take inappropriate or excessive risks that are beneficial to their 

compensation at the expense of the Issuer and the shareholders is extremely limited.  Furthermore, the 

short-term component of executive compensation (base salary) represents a relatively small part of the 

total compensation.  As a result, it is unlikely an officer would take inappropriate or excessive risks at the 

expense of the Issuer or the shareholders that would be beneficial to their short-term compensation when 

their long-term compensation might be put at risk from their actions. 

Due to the small size of the Issuer and the current level of the Issuer’s activity, the Board of Directors is 

able to closely monitor and consider any risks which may be associated with the Issuer’s compensation 

policies and practices.  Risks, if any, may be identified and mitigated through regular Board meetings 

during which financial and other information of the Issuer are reviewed.  No risks have been identified 

arising from the Issuer’s compensation policies and practices that are reasonably likely to have a material 

adverse effect on the Issuer. 

Hedging of Economic Risks in the Issuer’s Securities 

The Issuer has not adopted a policy prohibiting Directors or officers from purchasing financial 

instruments that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of the Issuer’s securities 

granted as compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by Directors or officers.  However, the Issuer is 

not aware of any Directors or officers having entered into this type of transaction. 

Option-Based Awards 

The Issuer’s Stock Option Plan has been and will be used to provide share purchase options which are 

granted in consideration of the level of responsibility of the executive as well as his or her impact or 

contribution to the longer-term operating performance of the Issuer.  In determining the number of 

options to be granted to the executive officers, the Board takes into account the number of options, if any, 

previously granted to each executive officer, and the exercise price of any outstanding options to ensure 

that such grants are in accordance with the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange, and closely align the 

interests of the executive officers with the interests of shareholders. The Board of Directors as a whole 

has the responsibility to administer the compensation policies related to the executive management of the 

Issuer, including option-based awards. 

Compensation Governance 

Options are granted at the discretion of the Board of Directors, which considers factors such as how other 

junior exploration companies grant options and the potential value that each optionee is contributing to 

the Issuer.  The number of options granted to an individual is based on such considerations. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table (presented in accordance with National Instrument Form 51-102F6 (“Statement of 

Executive Compensation”) which came into force on December 31, 2008 (the “Form 51-102F6”) sets 

forth all annual and long term compensation for services in all capacities to the Issuer for the most 

recently completed financial year of the Issuer ending on or after January 31, 2014 (to the extent required 

by Form 51-102F6) in respect of each of the individuals comprised of each CEO and the CFO who acted 

in such capacity for all or any portion of the most recently completed financial year, and each of the three 

most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a 

similar capacity, (other than the CEO and the CFO), as at January 31, 2014 whose total compensation 

was, individually, more than $150,000 for the financial year and any individual who would have satisfied 

these criteria but for the fact that individual was neither an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting in a 

similar capacity, at the end of the most recently completed financial year (collectively, the “Named 

Executive Officers” or “NEOs”). 
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NEO Name 

and 

Principal 

Position Year 

Salary 

($) 

Share-

Based 

Awards 

($) 

Option-

Based 

Awards 

($) 
(1)

 

Non-Equity 

Incentive Plan 

Compensation 

($) 

Pension 

Value 

($) 

All Other 

Compensation 

($) 

Total 

Compensation 

($) 

Annual 

Incentive 

Plans 

Long-

term 

Incentive 

Plans 

Douglas 

MacQuarrie 

CEO 

2014 

2013 

2012 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

103,200 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

180,000
(2)

 

180,000
(2)

 

120,000 

180,000 

180,000 

223,200 

Philip 

Gibbs 

CFO 

2014 

2013 

2012 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

51,600 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

90,000
(3)

 

90,000
(3) 

38,345 

90,000 

90,000 

89,945 

(1) The Issuer used the Black-Scholes pricing model as the methodology to calculate the grant date fair value, and relied on the 

following the key assumptions and estimates for each calculation: under the following assumptions: (i) risk free interest rate 

of 1.11%; (ii) expected dividend yield of  Nil%; (iii) expected volatility of 100%; and (iv) an expected term of five years.  

The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to estimate the fair value as it is the most accepted methodology. 
(2) Fees were paid or accrued to MIA Investment Ltd. for providing the services of Douglas MacQuarrie as President and CEO 

of the Issuer.  (also refer to “Termination and Change of Control Benefits” below). 
(3) Fees were paid or accrued to 1765271 Ontario Ltd., for providing the services of Philip Gibbs as CFO of the Issuer. (also 

refer to “Termination and Change of Control Benefits” below). 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The following table sets out all the option-based and share-based awards outstanding as at January 31, 

2014 (the end of the most recently completed financial year of the Issuer) for each NEO: 

 

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

(#) 

Option 

Exercise 

Price 

($) 

Option 

Expirati

on Date 

Value of 

Unexercis

ed In-The-

Money 

Options
 (1)

 

($) 

Number of 

Shares Or 

Units Of 

Shares 

That Have 

Not Vested 

(#) 

Market or 

Payout Value 

Of Share-

Based 

Awards That 

Have Not 

Vested 

($) 

Market or 

payout 

value of 

vested 

share-

based 

awards not 

paid out or 

distributed 

($) 

Douglas 

MacQuarrie 

CEO 

300,000 

 

0.75 

 

October 

24, 2016 

Nil 
(1) 

 

Nil 
 

Nil 

 

Nil 

 

Philips Gibbs 

CFO 

150,000
 

0.75 October 

24, 2016 

Nil 
(1)

 Nil 
 

Nil Nil 

(1)
 The value of unexercised in-the-money options is calculated based on the difference between the market value of the 

Issuer’s common shares as at January 31, 2014 and the exercise price of the options.  The closing price of the Issuer’s shares 

on the TSX Venture Exchange on January 31, 2014 was $0.11 per share. 



 

 

 

 
 
 
  

81 
 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year  

Name 

Option-Based Awards 

 - Value Vested 

During The Year 

($
)
 

Share-Based Awards 

- Value Vested  

During The Year 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 

Plan Compensation - 

Value Earned During 

The Year  

($) 

Douglas MacQuarrie, CEO Nil Nil Nil 

Philip Gibbs, CFO Nil Nil Nil 

 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The Issuer does not have any incentive plans, pursuant to which compensation that depends on achieving 

certain performance goals or similar conditions within a specified period is awarded, earned, paid or 

payable to the NEOs. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not have a pension plan that provides for payments or benefits to the NEOs at, following, 

or in connection with retirement. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

The Issuer has no compensatory plan, contract or agreement with any NEO, except as follows. 

The Issuer entered into a consulting agreement dated June 1, 2011 with MIA Investments Ltd., pursuant 

to the terms of which the Issuer agreed to pay an annual management fee of $180,000 to MIA 

Investments Ltd. (“MIA”).  MIA provides the services of Douglas MacQuarrie in the capacity as Chief 

Executive Officer and President of the Issuer.  MIA is a private company wholly-owned by the 

MacQuarrie Family Trust.  The trustees of the MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and 

Roberta MacQuarrie.  Douglas MacQuarrie is the President and a director of MIA.  In the event the 

consulting agreement is terminated without cause or in the event of a change of control or a change in 

responsibilities and the agreement is terminated, one year’s remuneration ($180,000) is payable to MIA. 

The Issuer entered into a consulting agreement dated August 2, 2011 with 1765271 Ontario Ltd., pursuant 

to the terms of which the Issuer agreed to pay a fee of $90,000 per annum to 1765271 Ontario Ltd.  

1765271 Ontario Ltd., provides the services of Philip Gibbs in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer of 

the Issuer.  1765271 Ontario Ltd., is a private company wholly-owned by Philip Gibbs.  In the event the 

consulting agreement is terminated without cause or in the event of a change of control or a change in 

responsibilities and the agreement is terminated, six month’s remuneration ($45,000) is payable to 

1765271 Ontario Ltd. 

Director Compensation 

The following table sets forth all amounts of compensation provided to the Directors, who are each not 

also an NEO, for the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year: 
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Director 

Name 

Fees 

Earned 

($) 

Share-

Based 

Award

s 

($) 

Option-

Based 

Awards
(1)

 

($) 

Non-Equity 

Incentive 

Plan 

Compensatio

n 

($) 

Pension 

Value 

($) 

All Other 

Compensatio

n 

($) 

Total 

($) 

Jagtar Sandhu Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A 90,000
(2)

 90,000 

Mark Holcombe
(3)

 12,000 N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A 12,000 

Florian Riedl-

Riedenstein 
12,000 N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A 12,000 

(1) The Issuer used the Black-Scholes pricing model as the methodology to calculate the grant date fair value, and relied on the 

following the key assumptions and estimates for each calculation: under the following assumptions: (i) risk free interest rate 

of 1.11%; (ii) expected dividend yield of Nil%; (iii) expected volatility of 100%; and (iv) an expected term of five years.  
The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to estimate the fair value as it is the most accepted methodology. 

(2) Fees were paid to JNS Capital Corp., a private company of which 50% of the shares are owned by Jagtar Sandhu for 

providing Corporate Communications services to the Issuer. 
(3) Mark Holcombe resigned as a director on March 20, 2014. 
(4) Alex Heath was elected a Director on April 9, 2014 

  

The Issuer has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are compensated by 

the Issuer for their services in their capacity as Directors, or for committee participation, involvement in 

special assignments or for services as consultant or expert during the most recently completed financial 

year or subsequently, up to and including the date of this Listing Statement. 

The Issuer has a Stock Option Plan for the granting of incentive stock options to the officers, employees 

and Directors.  The purpose of granting such options is to assist the Issuer in compensating, attracting, 

retaining and motivating the Directors of the Issuer and to closely align the personal interests of such 

persons to that of the shareholders. 

Incentive Plan Awards - Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

 Option-Based Awards Share-Based Awards 

Director Name 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

(#) 

Option 

Exercise 

Price 

($) 

Option 

Expiration 

Date 

Value of 

Unexercis

ed In-The-

Money 

Options
 (1)

 

($) 

Number of 

Shares Or 

Units Of 

Shares That 

Have Not 

Vested 

(#) 

Market or 

Payout 

Value Of 

Share-Based 

Awards That 

Have Not 

Vested 

($) 

Jagtar Sandhu 200,000 0.75 October 

24, 2016 
Nil Nil Nil 

Mark Holcombe
(2)

 200,000 0.75 October 

24, 2016 

Nil Nil Nil 

Florian Riedl-

Riedenstein 

200,000 0.75 October 

24, 2016 

Nil Nil Nil 

(1)
 The value of unexercised in-the-money options is calculated based on the difference between the market value of the 

Issuer’s common shares as at January 31, 2014 and the exercise price of the options.  The closing price of the Issuer’s shares 

on the TSX Venture Exchange on January 31, 2014 was $0.11 per share. 
(2) Mark Holcombe resigned as a director on March 20, 2014 and these stock options expired in June 2014.  
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Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

Director Name 

Option-Based 

Awards - Value 

Vested  

During The Year 

($) 

Share-Based 

Awards -  

Value Vested  

During The Year 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan 

Compensation - Value Earned  

During The Year  

($) 

Jagtar Sandhu Nil N/A N/A 

Mark Holcombe
(1)

 Nil N/A N/A 

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein Nil N/A N/A 
(1) 

Mark Holcombe resigned as a director on March 20, 2014.  

The Issuer does not have any incentive plans, pursuant to which compensation that depends on achieving 

certain performance goals or similar conditions within a specified period is awarded, earned, paid or 

payable to the Directors. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not currently provide any pension plan benefits to its executive officers, directors, or 

employees. 

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

No director or executive officer of the Issuer, or associate or affiliate of any such director or officer, is or 

has been indebted to the Issuer since the date of incorporation.  No director or executive officer of the 

Issuer, or associate or affiliate of any such director or officer, or has been indebted to the Issuer since the 

beginning of the last completed financial year of the Issuer. 
 

17. RISK FACTORS 
 

Funding Risk 

 

Upon listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange, the Issuer will not have sufficient financial 

resources to undertake the recommended exploration program in respect of the properties and 

Licences.  The Issuer will also not have sufficient funds to exercise the Option Agreement to acquire 

the 50% interest in Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited.  The Issuer will require additional funds to 

exercise the Option Agreement and to explore and develop the Licenses and to acquire additional 

properties.  In the event the Issuer is unable to raise sufficient funds (US$2,000,000 within four 

months of closing and a total of US$15,000,000 within two years of closing) unless the terms of the 

Option Agreement are renegotiated, the Issuer will acquire no interest in Kubi Gold (Barbados) 

Limited. 

 

Political Stability in West Africa 

The Issuer conducts exploration activities in West Africa. 

The Issuer’s property in Ghana may be subject to the effects of political changes war and civil conflict, 

changes in government policy, lack of law enforcement and labour unrest and the creation of new laws. 

These changes (which may include new or modified taxes or other government levies as well as other 

legislation) may impact the profitability and viability of its property. The effect of unrest and instability 

on political, social or economic conditions in Ghana could result in the impairment of exploration 
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operations.  Any changes are beyond the control of the Issuer and may adversely affect its business. 

In addition, local tribal authorities in West Africa exercise significant influence with respect to local land 

use, labour, and local security. From time to time, government has intervened in the export of 

mineral concentrates in response to concerns about the validity of export rights and payment of duties. 

No assurances can be given that the co-operation of such authorities, if sought by the Issuer, will be 

obtained, and if obtained, maintained. 

In addition, in the event of a dispute arising from foreign operations, the Issuer may be subject to the 

exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the 

jurisdiction of Canadian courts. The Issuer also may be hindered or prevented from enforcing its rights 

with respect of a governmental instrumentality because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity. It is not 

possible for the Issuer to accurately predict such developments or changes in laws or policy or to what 

extent any such development or changes may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s operations. 

The Government of Ghana also recently announced that it will be engaging companies to address the 

issue of dividend payment, exemptions and the mining sector fiscal regime, generally. As a result of 

these discussions, the Ghanaian government could amend the Mining Act (Ghana) or other regulations 

resulting in a material adverse impact on the Issuer including increases in operating costs, capital 

expenditures or abandonment or delays in development of mining properties. 

Increase in Ownership Interest by the Government of Ghana 

The Government of Ghana has the right to increase its current free carried 10% interest in the Issuer’s 

p r o p e r t y  or in a subsidiary company of the Issuer formed to hold title to p r o p e r t y , for a 

consideration agreed upon by the parties or by arbitration and has a right to pre-emption to purchase all 

minerals produced by the Issuer or its Ghana operating subsidiary, that will operate a mine in Ghana, if 

and when incorporated. If the Government of Ghana were to exercise any of its rights, the Issuer’s 

results of operations in further period could be adversely impacted. 

The Government of Ghana currently has a 10% free carried interest in all mining leases in Ghana. The 

Government of Ghana also has: (a) the right to acquire an additional interest in property for a price to be 

determined by agreement or arbitration; (b) the right to acquire a special share (as defined in the Mining 

Act (Ghana)) in property at any time for such consideration as the Government of Ghana may 

determine; and (c) a right of pre-emption to purchase all minerals raised, won or obtained in Ghana. 

While the Issuer is not aware of the Government of Ghana having ever exercised such right of pre- 

emption, the Issuer cannot assure investors that the Government of Ghana would not seek to exercise one 

or more of these rights which, if exercised, could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s results of 

operations in future periods.  If the Government of Ghana should exercise its right to either acquire the 

additional interest in property or its right to acquire the special share, any profit that might otherwise be 

reported by the Issuer’s mining interests/operations would be proportionally reduced in the same 

percentage as the minority interest attributable to the Government of Ghana that subsidiary would be 

increased. If the Government of Ghana should exercise its right to purchase all gold and other minerals 

produced f r o m  p r o p e r t y , the price it would pay may be lower than the price the Issuer could 

sell the gold or other minerals for in transactions with third parties and it could result in a reduction in 

any revenues the Issuer might otherwise report from property or operations under the Issuer’s control. 

Mandatory Relinquishment of Tenement Area 

The mining laws of Ghana require that upon each renewal of a prospecting licence the holder thereof 

must surrender at least 50% of the area covered thereby (subject to a minimum balance of 125 blocks). 

The Fahiakoba Concession covers an area of 22.06 sq km and, as a result, is not subject to the shed-off. 
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Permits and Regulatory Approvals 

The Issuer may not be able to obtain, renew or continue to comply with all of the permits necessary to 

develop the Kubi  Mining Leases  and the  Dunkwa Gyimigya ,  Gyimigya  and Fahiakoba 

Concessions (the “Licenses”) which would force the Issuer to discontinue exploration and development 

on the respective mining lease or concession. 

Pursuant to Ghanaian law, in the event that the Issuer discovers economically mineral mineralization, it 

must obtain various approvals, licenses or permits pertaining to environmental protection and use of water 

resources in connection with the development, if any, of the L i c e n s e s . In addition to requiring 

permits for the development of its Licenses, the Issuer may need to obtain other permits and approvals 

during the life of the L i c e n s e s . Obtaining, renewing and continuing to comply with the necessary 

governmental permits and approvals can be a complex and time-consuming process. The failure to 

obtain or renew the necessary permits or licenses or continue to meet their requirements could delay 

future development and could increase the costs related to such activities. 

Sovereign Risk 

The Issuer’s underlying business interests are located and carried out in a foreign jurisdiction, in particular 

in Ghana. As a result, the Issuer is subject to significant political and other uncertainties, including but 

not limited to, changes in politics or the personnel administering them, nationalisation or expropriation of 

property, cancellation or modification of contractual rights, foreign exchange restrictions, currency 

fluctuations, royalty and tax increases and other risks arising out of governmental sovereignty over the 

areas in which the Issuer’s operations are conducted. 

Title Matters 
 

While the Issuer has performed its own due diligence with respect to title to the Licenses , this 

should not be construed as a guarantee of title. The Licenses  may be subject to prior unregistered 

agreements of transfer or land claims, and title may be affected by undetected defects. 
 

Transfer of Title 
 

Title to the Fahiakoba Concession is currently recorded in the name of Goknet. Goknet has signed the 

Trust Agreement pursuant to the terms of which it has acknowledged it holds the Fahiakoba Concession 

on behalf of the Issuer, and it has agreed to act in good faith to transfer recorded title to the Issuer upon 

the Issuer incorporating the appropriate subsidiary companies. The Issuer has obtained the necessary 

approval for the transfer from regulatory authorities in the Republic of Ghana 

 

Loss of Licence 

Interests in tenements in Ghana are governed under the Mining Act (Ghana) by the Ministry of Lands, 

Foresty and Mines and are evidenced by the granting of licences or leases. Each licence or lease is for a 

specific term and carries with it annual expenditure and reporting commitments, as well as other 

conditions requiring compliance. 

Consequently, the Issuer could lose title to or its interest in the Licenses if licence conditions are not met 

or if insufficient funds are available to meet expenditure commitments. 

Artisanal Mining 

The artisanal mining sector in Ghana may interfere with and potentially cause delays to the Issuer’s 

mineral exploration activities. 
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The Issuer is subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could materially adversely 

affect its financial position. 

The Issuer’s primary currency for operations is the United States dollar and, to a lesser extent, the “Cedi” 

the Ghanaian currency. The Issuer maintains most of its working capital in Canadian dollars. The Issuer 

converts its Canadian funds to foreign currencies as certain payment obligations become due. 

Accordingly, the Issuer is subject to fluctuations in the rates of currency exchange between the Canadian 

dollar and the United States dollar and these fluctuations, which are beyond its control, could materially 

affect the Issuer’s financial position and results of operations. A significant portion of the operating costs 

of the Licenses  are in Ghana  Cedis. The Issuer obtains services and materials and supplies from 

providers in West Africa. The costs of goods and services could increase or decrease due to the changes 

in the value of the Canadian dollar, United States dollar or the Cedi or other currencies. Consequently, 

exploration and development of the Licenses could be more costly than anticipated. 

The Issuer is subject to the effects that historically high inflation rate may have on its results. 

The Issuer’s main mineral interests are located in Ghana, which has historically experienced relatively 

high rates of inflation. High inflation rates in Ghana could cause the prices of materials obtained within 

Ghana to be higher. As the Issuer maintains its funds in Canadian currency, the effect due to Ghanaian 

currency fluctuations is minimal. 

General Economic Conditions 
 

Changes in both Ghanaian and global economic conditions may affect the financial performance of the 

Issuer. These factors over which the Issuer has no control include general market, political and economic 

conditions, including inflation rates, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, changes in market 

valuations of listed stocks in general and gold, structural changes to the global mining industry, supply 

and demand conditions for gold, and fluctuations in the gold price. 
 

In addition, factors such as political movements, stock market trends, commodity prices, industrial 

disruption, environmental and adverse weather impacts, taxation changes and legislative or regulatory 

changes, may all have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s operating costs, profit margins and share price. 

These factors are beyond the control of the Issuer and the Issuer cannot, to any degree of certainty, predict 

how they will impact on the Issuer.  Some of these factors are discussed further below. 
 

Exploration and Development 
 

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties which are 

explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 
 

The Issuer’s property does not presently contain any commercial ore. Should any ore reserves exist, 

substantial expenditures will be required to confirm ore reserves which are sufficient to commercially 

mine its current property, and to obtain the required environmental approvals and permitting required to 

commence commercial operations. A NI 43-101 Mineral Resource estimate has been prepared for the 

Kubi Main deposit on the Kubi Mining Leases, however there can be no assurance that the mineral 

resource can be commercially mined or that the metallurgical processing will produce economically 

viable saleable products. The decision as to whether a property contains a commercial mineral deposit 

and should be brought into production will depend upon the results of exploration programs and/or pre-

feasibility, feasibility studies, and the recommendations of duly qualified engineers and/or geologists, all 

of which involves significant expense. This decision will involve consideration and evaluation of 

several significant factors including, but not limited to: (1) costs of bringing a property into 

production, including exploration and development work, preparation of production pre-feasibility and 
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feasibility studies and construction of production facilities; (2) availability and costs of financing; (3) 

ongoing costs of production; (4) market prices for the minerals to be produced; (5) environmental 

compliance regulations and restraints (including potential environmental liabilities associated with 

historical exploration activities); and (6) political climate and/or governmental regulation and control. 
 

The ability of the Issuer to sell, and profit from the sale of any eventual production from any of the 

Issuer’s properties will be subject to the prevailing conditions in the marketplace at the time of sale. 

Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Issuer and therefore represent a market risk which 

could impact the long term viability of the Issuer and its operations. 
 

Equipment and Availability 

The Issuer’s ability to undertake exploration activities is dependent upon its ability to source and acquire 

appropriate equipment. Equipment is not always available and the market for equipment experiences 

fluctuations in supply and demand. If the Issuer is unable to source appropriate equipment economically 

or at all then this would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial position. 

Securities of the Issuer 
 

The Issuer plans to focus on exploration of its property, but to further such activities and to acquire 

additional properties will require additional funds and it is likely that, to obtain the necessary funds, the 

Issuer will have to sell additional securities including, but not limited to, its Common Shares or some 

form of convertible securities, the effect of which would result in a substantial dilution of the present 

equity interests of the Issuer’s shareholders. 

The Issuer’s ability to effectively implement its business and operations plans in the future, to take 

advantage of opportunities for acquisitions, joint ventures or other business opportunities and to meet any 

unanticipated liabilities or expenses which the Issuer may incur may depend in part on its ability to raise 

additional funds. The Issuer may seek to raise further funds through equity or debt financing, joint 

ventures, production sharing arrangements or other means. Failure to obtain sufficient financing for the 

Issuer’s activities and future projects may result in delay and indefinite postponement of exploration, 

development or production on the Issuer’s properties or even loss of a property interest.  There can be no 

assurance that additional financing will be available when needed or, if available, the terms of the 

financing might not be favourable to the Issuer and might involve substantial dilution to shareholders. 

Government Regulation 

The Issuer’s future operations will be regulated by the national, state and local authorities in Ghana. 

Numerous governmental permits, approvals and licences will be required for the Issuer’s future 

operations. The costs, liabilities and regulations applicable to the Issuer or to comply with changes to 

these laws and regulations or the manner in which they are applied may be substantial and time- 

consuming and may delay the commencement or continuation of exploration, mining or production 

activities. 

Failure to comply with these laws or regulations or to obtain or renew the permits, approvals and licences 

required may have a material adverse effect on the results of the operations and financial condition of the 

Issuer. 

Competition 
 

Significant and increasing competition exists for mining opportunities internationally.  There are a 

number of large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and far greater financial and 

technical resources than the Issuer. The Issuer may be unable to acquire additional attractive mining 
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properties on terms it considers acceptable and there can be no assurance that the Issuer’s exploration and 

acquisition programs will yield any new reserves or result in any commercial mining operation. 
 

Conflicts of Interest 
 

Goknet was the seller of the Fahiakoba Concession to the Issuer and holds a 3% net smelter return royalty 

on the Fahiakoba Concession. Goknet is the owner of KGBL and if the Issuer exercises its options fully, 

Goknet will become a significant shareholder in the Issuer and maintain a 2% net smelter return royalty 

on production from the Kubi mining leases. Goknet is non arm’s length to the Issuer. Douglas 

MacQuarrie, the President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Issuer, is a shareholder and 

director of Goknet. MIA Investments Ltd., a company owned by the MacQuarrie Family Trust, owns 

21.5% of the shares of Goknet. The trustees of the MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and 

Roberta MacQuarrie. Roberta MacQuarrie owns 0.06% of the shares of Goknet. Any material decisions 

affecting the relationship between the Issuer and Goknet have and will be made by the independent 

directors of the Issuer, and Douglas MacQuarrie will abstain from voting on the issue. 

 

Certain directors and officers of the Issuer are, and may continue to be, involved in the mining and 

mineral exploration industry through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships or 

joint ventures which are potential competitors of the Issuer. Situations may arise in connection with 

potential acquisitions in investments where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict 

with the interests of the Issuer. Directors and officers of the Issuer with conflicts of interest will be 

subject to and will follow the procedures set out in applicable corporate and securities legislation, 

regulation, rules and policies. 
 

Key Personnel 
 

The Issuer’s future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued service and performance of its 

senior management. The experience and ability of these individuals will be a factor contributing to the 

Issuer’s success and growth. The loss of the services of some or all of these individuals could have a 

material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business prospects. The Issuer has not obtained key man insurance 

with respect to any of its senior management. 
 

No History of Earnings 
 

The Issuer has no history of earnings, and there is no assurance that its mineral property will generate 

earnings, operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future. The Issuer expects to incur 

losses and negative operating cash flow for the foreseeable future as it conducts its exploration activities 

on the Fahiakoba Concession.   The Issuer has not paid dividends in the past and has no plans to pay 

dividends for the foreseeable future. The future dividend policy of the Issuer will be determined by its 

directors. 
 

Potential Profitability Depends Upon Factors Beyond the Control of the Issuer 
 

The potential profitability of mineral properties is dependent upon many factors beyond the Issuer’s 

control. For instance, world prices of and markets for gold are unpredictable, highly volatile, potentially 

subject to governmental fixing, pegging and or controls and respond to changes in domestic, international, 

political, social and economic environments. Another factor is that rates of recovery of mined ore may 

vary from the rate experienced in tests and a reduction in the recovery rate will adversely affect 

profitability and, possibly, the economic viability of a property. Profitability also depends on the costs of 

operations, including costs of labour, equipment, electricity, environmental compliance or other 

production inputs. Such costs will fluctuate in ways the Issuer cannot predict and are beyond the Issuer’s 
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control, and such fluctuations will impact on profitability and may eliminate profitability altogether. 

Additionally, due to worldwide economic uncertainty, the availability and cost of funds for development 

and other costs have become increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to project. These changes and 

events may materially affect the financial performance of the Issuer. 
 

Operating Hazards and Risks 
 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, certain risks, and in 

particular, unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions including rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, 

flooding and earthquakes, may occur. It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks and the 

Issuer may decide not to insure against such risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons. Should 

such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in increasing costs 

and a decline in the value of the securities of the Issuer. 
 

The Issuer’s activities are subject to environmental laws and regulations that may increase the Issuer’s 

costs of doing business and may restrict its operations. 
 

All of the Issuer’s exploration activities in Ghana are subject to regulation by governmental agencies 

under various environmental laws. To the extent the Issuer conducts exploration activities or undertakes 

new exploration or future mining activities in other foreign countries, the Issuer will also be subject to 

environmental laws and regulations in those jurisdictions. These laws address emissions into the air, 

discharges into water, management of waste, management of hazardous substances, protection of natural 

resources, antiquities and endangered species, and reclamation of lands disturbed by mining operations. 

Environmental legislation in many countries is evolving and the trend has been towards stricter standards 

and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental 

assessments of proposed projects and increasing responsibility for companies and their officers, directors 

and employees. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may require significant capital 

outlays and may cause material changes or delays in the Issuer’s intended activities. The Issuer cannot 

assure investors that future changes in environmental regulations will not adversely affect the Issuer’s 

business, and it is possible that future changes in these laws or regulations could have a significant 

adverse impact on some portion of the Issuer’s business, causing the Issuer to re-evaluate those activities 

at that time. 
 

Uninsurable Risks 
 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, several risks and, in 

particular, unexpected or unusual geological or operating conditions, may occur. It is not always possible 

to fully insure against such risks, and the Issuer may decide not to take out insurance against such risks as 

a result of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise they could reduce or eliminate 

any future profitability and result in an increase in costs and a decline in value of the securities of the 

Issuer. 

 

The Issuer is not insured against most environmental risks. Insurance against environmental risks 

(including potential liability for pollution or other hazards as a result of the disposal of waste products 

occurring from exploration and production) has not been generally available to companies within the 

industry. The Issuer periodically evaluates the cost and coverage of the insurance against certain 

environmental risks that is available to determine if it would be appropriate to obtain such insurance. 

Without such insurance, and if the Issuer becomes subject to environmental liabilities, the payment of 

such liabilities would reduce or eliminate its available funds or could exceed the funds the Issuer has to 

pay such liabilities and result in bankruptcy. Should the Issuer be unable to fund fully the remedial cost 
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of an environmental problem it might be required to enter into interim compliance measures pending 

completion of the required remedy. 

Litigation Risk 

Litigation risks to the Issuer may include, but are not limited to, contesting development or regulatory 

approvals, traditional title claims, land tenure disputes, environmental claims, and occupational health and 

safety claims. 

Force Majeure 

The Issuer’s projects now or in the future may be adversely affected by risks outside the control of the 

Issuer, including the price of gold on world markets, labour unrest, civil disorder, war, subversive 

activities or sabotage, fires, floods, explosions or other catastrophes, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. 

Investment Speculative 

The above list of risk factors should not be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by the Issuer or by 

investors in the Issuer. The above factors, and others not specifically referred to above, may in the future 

materially affect the financial performance of the Issuer and the value of its securities. 

Potential investors should consider that an investment in the Issuer is speculative and should consult their 

professional advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Issuer. 

Forward Looking Information  

Certain information set out in this Listing Statement includes or is based upon expectations, estimates, 

projections or other “forward looking information”. Such forward looking information includes projections 

or estimates made by the Issuer about its future business operations. While such forward looking 

statements and the assumptions underlying them are made in good faith and reflect the Issuer’s current 

judgment regarding the direction of their business, actual results will almost certainly vary (sometimes 

materially) from any estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions or other type of performance 

suggested here.  

Market Risk for Securities  

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Common Shares will be established and 

sustained after listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange. Upon listing, the market price for the Issuer’s 

Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations. Factors such as commodity prices, government regulation, 

interest rates, share price movements of peer companies and competitors, as well as overall market 

movements, may have a significant impact on the market price of the Issuer Shares. The stock market has 

from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which have often been unrelated to 

the operating performance of particular companies.  

 

18. PROMOTERS 

 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, and for the two years immediately preceding the date of this 

Listing Statement the promoters of the Issuer are considered to be the persons listed below, who have held 

positions indicated since inception. 
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Name of Promoter 

 

Number of Common Shares Percentage % 

Douglas MacQuarrie 

President, CEO and Director 

5,333,300 common shares
(1)

 23.72% 

(1) Of these shares 4,170,500 are held indirectly in the name of MIA Investments Ltd., a private company wholly owned 

by the MacQuarrie Family Trust and 383,500 are held indirectly in the name of Roberta MacQuarrie. 

Mr. MacQuarrie is the President and a director of MIA Investments Ltd., and the Managing Director of 

Goknet. The Issuer granted Goknet a 3% net smelter return royalty on the Fahiakoba Concession. 

MIA Investments Ltd. owns 21.5% of the shares of Goknet. 

 

There is nothing of value, including money, property, contracts, options or rights of any kind received or 

to be received by the promoter(s) directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from any subsidiary of the 

Issuer, nor any assets, services or other consideration received or to be received by the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer, other than as noted in this Listing Statement except the compensation to be 

issued under “Executive Compensation”. 

 

Douglas MacQuarrie is the CEO and a director of the Issuer and is the Managing Director of Goknet.  MIA 

Investments Ltd. (“MIA”), a company owned by the MacQuarrie Trust, owns 21.5% of the shares of 

Goknet.  The trustees of the MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and Roberta MacQuarrie.  

MIA and Douglas and Roberta MacQuarrie collectively own 5,333,300 (23.72%) of the Company.  Goknet 

currently owns 2,040,000 shares (9.07%) of the Company.  All negotiations with respect to the Definitive 

Option Agreement between the Company and Goknet have been between the non-conflicted directors of 

the two companies. 

 

No promoter, while acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of 

any person or company, within ten (10) years before the date of this Listing Statement, was: 

 

(a) subject to an order that was issued while the promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief 

executive officer or chief financial officer, or  

.  

(b) subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased to be a director, chief executive 

officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while the 

promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, 

except as follows:  

 

For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, “order” means: 

 

(i) a cease trade order, 

 

(ii) an order similar to a cease trade order, or 

 

(iii) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to any exemption under securities 

legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

 

No promoter referred to above, within 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject 

to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 

manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter. 
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No promoter has been subject to: 

 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 

legislation or by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into a 

settlement agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority, or  

.  

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be 

considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.  

.  

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

There are no legal proceedings that the Issuer is or was a party to, or to its knowledge that any of its 

property interests is or was the subject of, and no such legal proceedings are known by the Issuer to be 

contemplated. 
 

Regulatory Actions 
 

There are no legal proceedings the Issuer is or was a party to, or that any of its property is or was the 

subject of, since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year for which financial 

statements of the Issuer are included in the Listing Statement, nor any such legal proceedings Issuer 

knows to be contemplated. 
 

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS  

 

Except as set out above in section 6 above and immediately below, the directors, senior officers and 

principal shareholders of the Issuer or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing have had no material 

interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions in which the Issuer has participated within the three year 

period prior to the date of this Listing Statement, or will have any material interest in any proposed 

transaction, which has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer. 

 

Interest of Informed Persons In Material Transactions 

The Issuer entered into a binding term sheet with Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) on 

September 29, 2014, and effective February 28th, 2015 it entered into a Definitive Option  Agreement 

pursuant to the terms of which the Issuer agreed to fund US$15,000,000 of development costs to earn a 

50% interest in the Kubi Project situated in Ghana, and was granted two additional options, in stages, to 

earn up to a 100% interest in the Kubi Project, subject to a 2% Net Smelter Return (“NSR”) and other 

consideration.  The Issuer’s interest in the Kubi Project will initially be the acquisition of 50% of the 

outstanding shares of Kubi Gold (Barbados) Limited (“KGBL”), which is 100% owned by Goknet and 

holds all of the interest in the Kubi Project. On closing, 50% of the KGBL shares will be transferred to 

the Issuer or to its wholly-owned subsidiary. 

The Option Agreement, which is subject to the completion of financing, due diligence and regulatory 

approvals, provides that the Issuer will fund an initial US$15,000,000 for exploration and development of 

the property over a two year period, with US$2,000,000 being funded within four months of closing.  

Funds will be provided to KGBL, the operating company.  The recorded ownership of the shares of 

KGBL will be held by the Issuer and Goknet as to 50% each.  At closing, the Issuer will also issue 

2,000,000 shares to Goknet. 
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In the event the Issuer does not fund the US$15,000,000 within the two year period, or that the agreement 

is extended, the agreement will terminate and the Issuer will have no further interest in KGBL or in the 

Kubi Project. 

Upon acquiring the initial 50% interest, the Issuer will be granted an option to acquire an additional 25% 

interest in KGBL, exercisable for a period of one year.  The Issuer may exercise the initial option by 

either: 

(a) Issuing Goknet 10,000,000 shares of the Issuer, or 

(b) A cash payment equal to the greater of US$10,000,000 or the U.S. dollar equivalent of the value 

of 8,000 troy ounce of gold at the time of closing the option as valued on the Shanghai or other 

agreed upon gold exchange. 

Upon exercise of the first option, the Issuer will be granted a second option to acquire an additional 25% 

interest in KGBL (for a 100% total interest) for a period of one year.  The Issuer may exercise the option 

by issuing 5,000,000 shares in its capital to Goknet.  The Issuer would also grant Goknet a 2% NSR, with 

advance annual NSR payments of $50,000 U.S., which would be deductible against future NSR 

payments.  The NPP Royalty (hereinafter defined) and government royalties (now at 5% NSR) would 

remain. 

In the event the first or second options are not exercised, the Kubi Project would be operated jointly by 

the Issuer and Goknet, with the Issuer being the initial operator. 

The Kubi Project currently is subject a 3% net proceeds of production royalty (“NPP Royalty”) to Royal 

Gold, Inc., of Denver, Colorado.   

Douglas MacQuarrie is the CEO and a director of the Issuer and is the Managing Director of Goknet.  

MIA Investments Ltd. (“MIA”), a company owned by the MacQuarrie Family Trust, owns 21.5% of the 

shares of Goknet.  The trustees of the MacQuarrie Family Trust are Douglas MacQuarrie and Roberta 

MacQuarrie.  MIA and Douglas and Roberta MacQuarrie collectively own 5,333,300 (23.72%) of the 

Issuer.  Goknet currently owns 2,040,000 shares (9.07%) of the Issuer. All negotiations with respect to the 

binding term sheet and the Definitive Option Agreement between the Issuer and Goknet have been 

between the non-conflicted directors of the respective companies. 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 
 

The auditors of the Issuer are the firm of MacKay Crowe LLP, Chartered Accountants, of 1100 – 

1177 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4T5. 
 

The Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Common Shares of the Issuer is Computershare Investor 

Services Inc., 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9. 
 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 

entered into by the Issuer within two years before the date of the Listing Statement: 

 
1. Finders Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2014 between NSS Resources Inc. and the Issuer, with 

respect to a 2% NSR royalty interest in NSS Resources Seneca Property, British Columbia. 
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2. Definitive Option Agreement dated February 28, 2015 between the Issuer and Goknet Mining 

Company Limited to earn up to 100% of Goknets’ Kubi Gold Project in the Republic of Ghana. 

 

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

 

The persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by such 

person or company and who is named in this Listing Statement as having prepared or certified a part of 

this Listing Statement or a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement, are as 

follows. 

 

The audited financial statements of the Issuer included in this Listing Statement have been included in 

reliance upon the report of Crowe MacKay LLP, Chartered Accountants, and upon the authority of such 

firm as experts in accounting and auditing and their audit report is included herein.  Crowe MacKay LLP 

have advised that they are independent with respect to the Issuer within the meaning of the Rules of 

Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia; and 

 

Based on information provided by the relevant persons, none of those persons or companies or any 

director, officer, employee or partner thereof has received or will receive any direct or indirect interest in 

property or the property of any associate or affiliate of us, nor has any beneficial ownership, direct or 

indirect, in any securities issued by us. None of those persons is or is expected to be elected, appointed, or 

employed as a director or employee of the Issuer. 

 

The information on the Kubi Gold Project is primarily summarized from the report titled “NI 43-101 

Technical Report Kubi Gold Project, Ashanti Region, Ghana, West Africa” dated October 20, 2014 

prepared by Simon Meadows Smith, MIMMM and Joe Amanor, MAusIMM CP (Geo). Mr. Smith is a 

Qualified Person. A copy of this report can be found on the Issuer’s disclosure page on www.sedar.com . 

Mr. Smith does not have any registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities or other 

property of the Issuer or any of the Issuer’s associates or affiliates as at the date of this Listing Statement, 

did not have any such interests at the time of the preparation of his report on the Kubi Gold Project and is 

not expected to receive any such interests in the future. 

 

The information on the Fahiakoba Concession is partially summarized from the report titled “Technical 

Report on the Fahiakoba Gold Project, Ghana, West Africa” dated October 24, 2011, as amended January 

25, 2012, prepared by Donald G. Allen, MASc. and PEng (BC). Mr. Allen is a Qualified Person. A copy 

of this report can be found on the Issuer’s disclosure page on www.sedar.com . Mr. Allen does not have 

any registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Issuer or 

any of the Issuer’s associates or affiliates as at the date of this Listing Statement, did not have any such 

interests at the time of the preparation of his report on the Fahiakoba Concession and is not expected to 

receive any such interests in the future. 

 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

 

There are no other material facts other than as disclosed therein. 

 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The annual audited financial statements for the years ended January 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 and the 

interim statements for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2014 of the Issuer are attached below.  

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 
 

 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Asante Gold Corporation, hereby applies 

for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange. The foregoing contains full, true, and 

plain disclosure of all material information relating to Asante Gold Corporation. It contains no untrue 

statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 

necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances 

in which it was made. 

 

Dated at the City of Vancouver, British Columbia, this 16th day of April, 2015. 

 

 

 

“Douglas MacQuarrie”    “Jagtar Sandhu”    

Douglas MacQuarrie     Jagtar Sandhu 

Promoter, President, CEO and Director  Director    

 

 

 

“Florian Riedl-Riedenstein”   “Alex Heath”     

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein   Alex Heath 

Director     Director    
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Schedule A 

Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer for the Fiscal Year End of January 31, 2014, January 31, 

2013 and January 31, 2012 and Interim Financial Statements of the Three and Nine Month Period 

Ended October 31, 2014 
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 Independent Auditor's Report 

 To the Shareholders of  
 Asante Gold Corporation 

 We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Asante Gold Corporation and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at January 31, 2013 and 
January 31, 2012, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss/income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the years  then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

 Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated  Financial Statements 
 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 Auditor's Responsibility 
 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  

 Opinion 
 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Asante Gold Corporation and its subsidiaries as at January 31, 2013 and January 31, 2012 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  

 Emphasis of matter 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which 
describes the material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of Asante Gold Corporation 
to continue as a going concern.  

 "MacKay LLP" 

 Chartered Accountants 
 Vancouver, British Columbia  
 May 28, 2013 



 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

2 
 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
January 31, 2013 January  31, 2012

Assets

Current assets

Cash 28,550$              756,374$                    

Short term investments 46,000               -                            

Receivables 30,054               46,729                       

Prepaid expenses and deposits 89,175               87,172                       

193,779              890,275                      

Non-current assets

Fixed assets (Note 5) 87,864               2,498                         

Deferred financing cost -                    31,013                       

Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6) 2,069,709           282,622                      

Total assets 2,351,352$          1,206,408$                  

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 11) 229,057$            71,504$                      

Total current liabilities 229,057              71,504                       

Shareholders' equity

Share capital (Note 7) 3,872,629           1,818,660                   

Reserve for share based payments 684,278              557,400                      

Cumulative translation reserve (26)                    -                            

Accumulated deficit (2,434,586)          (1,241,156)                  

Total shareholders' equity 2,122,295           1,134,904                   

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 2,351,352$          1,206,408$                  

Events after the reporting date (Note 14)

"Douglas MacQuarrie" & "Jagtar Sandhu"

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS/INCOME

Twelve 

months ended      

January   31

**Period ended 

January 31

2013 2012

Interest and other income -$            -$               

Expenses

   Amortization 676             9                   

   Directors' fees (Note 11) 47,982         12,000            

   Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 6,900           593                

   Stock based compensation (Note 8) 48,000         557,400          

   Management and consulting fees (Note 11) 247,619        186,012          

   Professional services (Note 11) 298,028        205,360          

   Shareholder communications (Note 11) 160,975        115,780          

   Trade shows and promotions 108,673        -                

   Transfer agent and regulatory fees 59,132         24,823            

   Travel 94,067         55,946            

   General office 121,378        83,233            

Net loss for the period 1,193,430     1,241,156        

Other comprehensive loss

Currency translation adjustment 26               -                

Total comprehensive loss for the period 1,193,456$    1,241,156$      

Loss per common share, basic and diluted (Note 13) 0.06$           0.10$             

**Audit period for first financial year May 4, 2011 to January 31, 2012

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share                

capital

Accumulated 

deficit

Reserve for 

share based 

payments

Reserve for 

warrants

Cumulative 

translation 

reserve Total

Balance at May 4, 2011 -$                -$             -$             -$             -$           -$          

Loss for the period -                 (1,241,156)     -               -               -            (1,241,156)  

Reserve for share based compensation -                 -               557,400         -               -            557,400      

Share capital issued 1,865,250         -               -               -               -            1,865,250   

Share issuance costs (46,590)            -               -               -               -            (46,590)      

Balance at January 31, 2012 1,818,660$       (1,241,156)$    557,400$       -$             -$           1,134,904$  

Loss for the period -                 (1,193,430)     -               -               -            (1,193,430)  

Reserve for share based compensation -                 -               48,000          -               -            48,000       

Share capital issued in respect of IPO 2,075,000         -               -               -               -            2,075,000   

Warrants exercised 350,000           -               -               -               -            350,000      

Agents warrants issued -                 -               -               78,878          -            78,878       

Share issuance costs (371,031)          -               -               -               -            (371,031)     

Foreign currency translation adjustment -                 -               -               -               (26)            (26)            

Balance at January 31, 2013 3,872,629$       (2,434,586)$    605,400$       78,878$         (26)$           2,122,295$  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (1,193,430)$     (1,241,156)$     

Items not affecting cash:

       Amortization 676                9                  

       Stock based compensation 48,000            557,400          

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:

Prepaid expenses and deposits (2,003)            (87,172)          

Receivables 16,675            (46,729)          

Trade and other payables (1,094)            71,504           

Total cash (outflows) from operating activities (1,131,176)       (746,144)         

Cash flows from investing activities

Short term investments (46,000)           -                

Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets -                (50,630)          

Investment in exploration and evaluation assets (1,628,466)       (231,992)         

Fixed assets (86,042)           (2,507)            

Total cash (outflows) from investing activities (1,760,508)       (285,129)         

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issuance 2,350,000        1,818,660       

Share issuance costs (186,140)         -                

Deferred financing costs -                (31,013)          

Total cash inflows from financing activities 2,163,860        1,787,647       

Total increase (decrease) in cash during the period (727,824)         756,374          

Cash at beginning of period 756,374          -                

Cash at end of period 28,550$          756,374$        

2013 2012

Interest paid -$               -$              

Income taxes paid -$               -$              

- Non- cash share issuance costs amounted to $153,878

- Included in E & E assets is $158,647 in trade and other payables

- Included in E & E assets is $7,043 in amortization of fixed assets

January 31

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 
Asante Gold Corporation’s business activity is the exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Ghana, West Africa. 
Asante Gold Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on May 4, 2011, 
and has continued as a company under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange on February 28, 2012 under the symbol “ASE” and is in the process of exploring its mineral properties. 
 
The address of the Company's corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 206, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6C 2T5 Canada. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

a) Statement of Compliance 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance and compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  The financial statements were authorized for 
issue by the Board of Directors on May 28, 2013. 
 

b) Basis of Measurement 
 

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency. The 
functional currency of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries is the United States dollar. 
 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 
 

c) Going Concern of Operations 
 

The Company has not generated revenue from operations. The Company incurred a comprehensive loss of $1,193,456 
during the period ended January 31, 2013 and as of that date the Company’s deficit was $2,434,586. The Company 
intends to raise further financing through private placements.  

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes the realization of assets 
and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.   As the Company is in the 
exploration stage, the recoverability of the costs incurred to date on exploration properties is dependent upon the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete the exploration and development of its properties and upon future profitable production or proceeds from 
the disposition of the properties and deferred exploration expenditures. The Company will periodically have to raise 
funds to continue operations and, although it has been successful thus far in doing so, there is no assurance it will be 
able to do so in the future.  These material uncertainties raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, these financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and 
classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business. 

 
d) Basis of Consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a) Foreign Currency Transactions 
 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars. Foreign currency accounts are translated into 
Canadian dollars as follows: 
 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated 
into Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the year-end date, unsettled 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the year-
end date and the related translation differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on 
the retranslation of monetary available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 
in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale financial 
assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial instrument. 
 
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the presentation 
currency are translated as follows: 
- assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date; and 
- income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period. 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve and are recognized in the profit or loss in the period in which the operation is disposed 
of. 
 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars by using 
the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into Canadian dollars by 
using the exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences are 
recognized in net income or other comprehensive loss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying non-
monetary asset or liability has been recognized. 
 

b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Currently the Company holds only cash. 
 

c) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

 

Pre-exploration Costs 
 

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures 
include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation 
on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur. 
 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. When a project is deemed to no longer have 
commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project 
are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive loss/income. 
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3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the 
property is classified as ‘mines under construction’. Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment 
before the assets are transferred to development properties.   
 

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration 
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs. 
 

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 
 
d) Fixed assets 

 

On initial recognition, fixed assets are valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly attributable cost of 
acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the estimated present 
value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is recognized 
within provisions. 

 

Fixed assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the exception of land which is not depreciated. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives 
of the assets on the following basis and rates per annum: 

 

Building 25 years on a straight line basis 
Vehicles 5 years on a straight line basis 
Furniture and fixtures 5 years on a straight line basis 
Equipment 5 years on a straight line basis 
Computer equipment 3 years on a straight line basis 

 

The cost of replacing part of an item of fixed assets is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of fixed 
assets are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal, when held for sale or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in income 
or loss for the period. 

The Company conducts an annual assessment of the residual balances, useful lives and depreciation methods being 
used for fixed assets and any changes arising from the assessment are applied by the Company prospectively. 

Where an item of fixed assets comprises major components with different useful lives, the components are 
accounted for as separate items. Expenditures incurred to replace a component of an item that is accounted for 
separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditures are capitalized. 
 

e) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 

Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are undertaken at least annually at the 
financial year-end. Other non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment 
tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly. 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out 
on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets to which the asset belongs for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.  The 
Company has one cash-generating unit for which impairment testing is performed. 
 
An impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss, except to the extent the impairment loss reverses gains 
previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income. 
 

f) Financial Instruments 
 

Financial Assets 
 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. 
All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  The Company's accounting 
policy for each category is as follows: 
 

Financial assets ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ (“FVTPL”) 
 

FVTPL assets are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs, and subsequent gains or losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Loans and Receivables 
 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a 
borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  They are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is 
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 
 
Available-For-Sale Investments  
 

Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial 
asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any 
amount previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no 
quoted market price in an active market and fair value cannot be readily determined, available-for-sale investments 
are carried at cost. 
 

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on a trade date basis. On sale or 
impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss. 

 
Held-to-Maturity Investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Impairment on Financial Assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or the group of financial assets.  
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which the liability was 
incurred, and comprise of trade payables and accrued liabilities. These liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest expense over the period to 
repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. Interest 
expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and premiums payable on redemption, as well as any 
interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding. 
 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
period which are unpaid. Trade payable amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 

Financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ (“FVTPL”) 
 

FVTPL liabilities are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs, and subsequent gains or losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
 

g) Provisions 
 
Rehabilitation Provision 
 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused 
by its exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated costs of legal 
and constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is 
incurred. The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the 
affected exploration sites. 
 

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and 
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the 
carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in 
present value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 
 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the 
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which they occur. 
 

Other Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past 
transactions, including legal or constructive obligations.  The provision is measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 
 

h) Income Taxes 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive loss/income. 
 
Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss 
for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current income taxes 
are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its 
tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
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3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is 
restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deferred tax asset can be utilized.  At the end of each reporting period the Company reassesses unrecognized 
deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 

i) Share Capital 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares, options and warrants are 
classified as equity instruments. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

Earnings / Loss per Share 
 

Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant period.  
 

Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common 
shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted. 
 

j) Share-based Payments 
 

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are 
taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, 
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 
eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options 
granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting 
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or 
where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 
 

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 
options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of 
comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period. 
 

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services 
received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income, unless they are related to the issuance of shares.  Amounts 
related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. 
 

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, 
the fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes valuation model. The expected life used in the model is 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and 
behavioural considerations. 
 
All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in reserve for share based payment, until exercised. Upon 
exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in reserve for share based payment is credited to 
share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 
 

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting 
and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of 
the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an 
equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured 
at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
k) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective 

 

The following pronouncements and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013 unless otherwise stated. Adopting these standards is expected to have minimal or no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement applies to classification and measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities as defined in IAS 39. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2015 with early adoption permitted. 

 

IFRS 10 – Consolidation replaces SIC-12 Consolidation—Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.  

 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint 
venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas 
joint operations, the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of 
the joint operation. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled 
Entities—Non- monetary Contributions by Venturers.  

 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other 
entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, and special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. 
The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces additional disclosures addressing the 
nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities.  

 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement is a comprehensive standard that defines fair value, requires disclosure about 
fair value measurement and provides a framework for measuring fair value when it is required or permitted 
within the IFRS standards.  

 

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statement addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 
associates in non-consolidated financial statements. 

 

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and 
to address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13.  

 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements amendment requires components of other comprehensive 
income (OCI) to be separately presented between those that may be reclassified to income and those that will 
not. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. 

 

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting 
rules. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual 
experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive income or 
loss in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and future periods, 
if the change affects both.  
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Estimates have been applied in the following areas: 

a) Rehabilitation Provisions 
 

No rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s activity to date. Based upon the prevailing 
economic environment, assumptions will be made which management believes are reasonable upon which to 
estimate the future liability. These estimates will take into account any material changes to the assumptions that 
occur when reviewed regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current 
regulatory requirements. Significant changes in estimates of contamination, restoration standards and techniques 
will result in changes to provisions from period to period. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future 
market prices for the rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs 
are actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be higher or lower 
than currently provided for. 

b) Share-based Payment Transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and 
conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model 
including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. 
The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in 
Note 8. 

 
The areas in which the Company has exercised  critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
c) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures requires judgment 
in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after an expenditure has been capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the 
recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off to the profit or loss in the period the 
new information becomes available. 
 

d) Title to Mineral Property Interests 
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers 
and title may be affected by undetected defects or may be impacted by changes in government regulations. 
 

e) Income Taxes 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s 
current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the 
Company records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax 
provision. In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the 
extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. However, utilization of 
the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are 
recouped. 
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5. FIXED ASSETS 

 

Field tools & 

equipment

Office furniture 

& equipment Vehicles Total

Cost

Balance, May 4, 2011 -$            -$               -$        -$        

Additions -             2,507              -          2,507      

Currency translation adjustment -             -                 -          -         

Balance, January 31, 2012 -             2,507              -          2,507      

Additions 18,228         -                 74,227     92,455     

Currency translation adjustment (22)             -                 632         610         

Balance, January 31, 2013 18,206$       2,507$            74,859$    95,572$   

Amortization

Balance, May 4, 2011 -$            -$               -$        -$        

Amortization for the period -             9                   -          9            

Currency translation -             -                 -          -         

Balance, January 31, 2012 -             9                   -          9            

Amortization for the year 2,237          456                4,948       7,641      

Currency translation adjustment 18              -                 40           58          

Balance, January 31, 2013 2,255$         465$               4,988$     7,708$     

Carrying amounts

at January 31, 2012 -$            2,498$            -$        2,498$     

at January 31, 2013 15,951$       2,042$            69,871$    87,864$   
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 
Property:

Fahiakoba

Balance at May 4, 2011 -$            

    Property acquisition 50,630         

    Assaying, testing and analysis 18,249         

    Geology and geophysics 102,289        

    Drilling 45,669         

    General and administrative 65,785         

Balance at January 31, 2012 282,622        

    Property acquisition -              

    Assaying, testing and analysis 47,576         

    Geology and geophysics 206,794        

    Drilling 1,084,771     

    Field expenses 249,499        

    General and administrative 190,735        

    Currency translation 7,712           

Balance at January 31, 2013 2,069,709$    
 

 
 

 

On June 15, 2011, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”) to 

acquire the Fahiakoba Concession, in the Ashanti and Central Regions in the Republic of Ghana, whereby the Company 

acquired a 100% interest in the Fahiakoba Concession (subject to a royalty interest) by paying Goknet the sum of 

US$51,976 (C$50,630) (paid July 12, 2011) and by agreeing to expend US$1,000,000 over a five year period, which has 

been fulfilled.  In the event that the Company sells its interest in the Fahiakoba Concession within two years from June 

15, 2011, it must pay Goknet a sum, in cash, equal to 10% of the sale price.  The Company also granted Goknet a 3% net 

smelter return royalty on production from the Fahiakoba Concession. 

 
To date,  assessment of exploration and evaluation assets has not resulted in any impairment of  the Company’s 
properties. 
 
 

7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 
a) Common Shares  

 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 
The holders of common shares will be entitled to receive dividends which may be declared from time to time, and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares are ranked equally with regards to the 
Company's residual assets. 
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

The following is a summary of changes in common share capital from incorporation to January 31, 2013:  

Number of 

shares Issue Price Amount

Balance at May 4, 2011 -                -         -$             

Shares issued via private placement 2,325,000       0.01$      23,250          

Shares issued via private placement 7,835,000       0.05$      391,750         

Shares issued via private placement 5,608,000       0.25$      1,402,000      

Shares issued via private placement 193,000          0.25$      48,250          

Share issue costs -                -         (46,590)         

Balance at January 31, 2012 15,961,000      1,818,660$     

Shares issued via IPO 4,150,000       0.50$      2,075,000      

Share issue costs -                -         (371,031)        

Warrants exercised 1,400,000       0.25$      350,000         

Balance at October 31, 2012 21,511,000      3,872,629$     

 
From incorporation to  January 31, 2013 the following stock transactions occurred: 

On June 10, 2011, pursuant to a non-brokered private placement, the Company issued 2,325,000 shares at a per 

share value of $0.01 for gross proceeds of $23,250.  The fair value of the 2,325,000 common shares was determined 

to be $116,250 and therefore $93,000 of stock based compensation was expensed during the period ended January 

31, 2012.  $nil finders’ fees were paid; and $nil warrants were issued as finders’ fees. 

On June 10, 2011, pursuant to a non-brokered private placement, the Company issued 7,835,000 units at a per unit 

value of $0.05 for gross proceeds of $391,750.  Each unit is comprised of one share and one share purchase warrant 

exercisable for two years at $0.25.  $nil finders’ fees were paid, and nil warrants were issued as finders’ fees.  

On August 31, 2011, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for total gross proceeds of $1,402,000 
consisting of 5,608,000 shares; 294,600 brokers’ warrants exercisable at $0.25 and expiring February 28, 2013 were 
issued in connection with this private placement.  Finders’ fees totaled $44,190. 

On September 14, 2011, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for total proceeds of $48,250 
consisting of 193,000 shares; 16,000 brokers’ warrants exercisable at $0.25 and expiring March 14, 2013 were issued 
in connection with this private placement. Finder’s fees totaled $2,400. 

On October 24, 2011, the Company granted 1,350,000 options exercisable at $0.75 for a period of 5 years. 

On February 28, 2012, upon completion of the Company’s IPO, a total of 4,000,000 units were issued at a per unit 
value of $0.50 for gross proceeds of $2,000,000.  Each unit is comprised of one share and one half of one share 
purchase warrant. Each full warrant is exercisable for two years at $0.70.  Additionally issued were 150,000 broker 
compensation shares and 300,000 brokers’ warrants exercisable at $0.50.  Finders’ Fees, Brokers Compensation 
Shares and share issuance costs totaled $400,207, which included $371,031 deducted from equity and $29,176 
recognised as expense in the current year. 

On November 22, 2012, 400,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25 and on January 7, 2013 a further 1,000,000 
warrants were exercised at $0.25. 

Pursuant to TSX-V requirements, shares and warrants held by insiders prior to the IPO became subject to escrow. A 
total of 5,285,000 shares and 2,700,000 warrants were initially placed into escrow, of which 1,321,250 shares and  
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

675,000 warrants have been released to date. Currently 3,963,750 shares and 2,025,000 warrants remain in escrow 
as at January 31, 2013. The next release from escrow takes place on February 28, 2013. 

b) Share Purchase Warrants  

The following is a summary of warrants issued and exercised to January 31, 2013 together with warrants 
outstanding and exercise conditions: 

 

Number of Warrants

Balance at May 4, 2011 -                          

Issue of warrants                   8,145,600 

Exercised warrants                            -   

Balance January 31, 2012 8,145,600                

Issue of warrants                   2,300,000 

Exercised warrants (1,400,000)                 

Balance January 31, 2013 9,045,600                
 

 

Number of warrants Exercise price

Expiry 

date

                   6,435,000  $                 0.25 10-Jun-13

                      294,600  $                 0.25 28-Feb-13

                       16,000  $                 0.25 14-Mar-13

                   2,000,000  $                 0.70 28-Feb-14

                      300,000  $                 0.50 28-Feb-14

9,045,600                  
 

Pursuant to the initial public offering on February 28, 2012, 300,000 broker warrants were issued at a fair value of 
$0.26. The fair value of each warrant was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
with the following assumptions: 

 
             Number of warrants 300,000 
             Estimated life 2 years 
             Share price at date of grant $0.50 
             Option exercise price $0.50 
             Risk free interest rate 1.12% 

 Estimated annual volatility 100% 
 Option fair value $0.26 
 

c) Nature and Purpose of Equity and Reserves 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s statement of financial position reflect ‘Reserves for Share Based 
Payments’.  ‘Reserves for Share Based Payments’ is used to recognize the value of shares, stock option grants and 
share warrants prior to exercise. ‘Accumulated Deficit’ is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from 
earnings from period to period. 
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8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

a) Option Plan Details 
 
The Company has an incentive Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) under which non-transferable options to purchase 
common shares of the Company may be granted to directors, officers, employees or service providers of the 
Company. The terms of the Plan provide that the Directors have the right to grant options to acquire common 
shares of the Company at not less than the closing market price of the shares on the day preceding the grant less 
any discount allowable under TSX rules, at terms of up to five years.  No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option, and the options granted are not dependent on any performance-based criteria. 
In accordance with the Plan, options vest immediately upon grant; with the exception of personnel working in 
Investor Relations whose options vest at 25% upon grant and 25% every three months thereafter until all options are 
fully vested. 
 

Granted Exercised Forfeited

10/24/11 10/24/16 0.75$                     -      1,350,000             -             -   1,350,000   1,350,000              -   

balance as at January 31, 2012                -               -               -             -   1,350,000   1,350,000              -   

04/03/12 04/03/17 0.75$                     -        200,000             -             -   200,000     200,000                -   

balance as at January 31, 2013       1,350,000      200,000             -             -      1,550,000     1,550,000           -   

 $          0.75 0.75$         $         -    $        -   0.75$        0.75$          $        -   

Vested and 

Exercisable
Unvested

Weighted Average Exercise Price

Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price

Opening 

Balance

During the Period Closing 

Balance

 
 
i) During the year ended January 31, 2013, 200,000 options were granted with a fair value of $0.24 per 

option.  The fair value of each option granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

             Number of options 200,000 
             Estimated life 5 years 
             Share price at date of grant $0.37 
             Option exercise price $0.75 
             Risk free interest rate 1.11% 
             Estimated annual volatility 100% 
             Option fair value $0.24 
             Fair value of compensation granted during period $48,000 
 
ii) During the period ended January 31, 2012, 1,350,000 options were granted with a fair value of $0.34 per 

option.  The fair value of each option granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

             Number of options 1,350,000 
             Estimated life 5 years 
             Share price at date of grant $0.50 
             Option exercise price $0.75 
             Risk free interest rate 1.11% 

 Estimated annual volatility 100% 
 Option fair value $0.34 
 Fair value of compensation granted during period $464,400 
 
 
Due to the comparatively recent listing and therefore limited duration of trading in the Company’s stock, 
volatility has been estimated on the basis of comparable TSX-V listed entities in the gold sector. 
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Disclosures: 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, receivables and trade and other 
payables. Cash, short term investments and receivables have been classified as loans and receivables. Trade and 
other payables have been classified as other financial liabilities.  

The carrying values of the above approximate their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments.  All financial instruments carried at fair value at January 31, 2013 were determined using Level 1 
inputs. 
 

(b) Financial instrument risk exposure and risk management: 
 

(i) Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  With very limited receivables and cash on deposit with sound financial institutions, it is 
management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from the financial 
instruments. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.   As 

at January 31, 2013, the Company had current liabilities totaling $229,057 (2012: $71,504) and cash of $28,550 

(2012: $756,374). Exploration expenditures are largely denominated in United States dollars, and consequently 

any adverse movement in the Canadian dollar exchange rate against the United States dollar will have a negative 

impact on liquidity.   

 
(iii) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Company’s income.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters. 
 
The Company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks. 
 

(iv) Currency risk: 
The Company is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree of 
volatility of these rates.  At January 31, 2013, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following 
financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies: 

 

 

 US                  

Dollars 

Ghana      

Cedis

Cash 7,258$          15,493₡      

Receivables -            8,120          

Trade and other payables 151,340      12,581        

(144,082)$    11,032₡    

CAD foreign exchange rate at January 31, 2013 0.9973          0.5248        

CAD equivalent (143,693)$      5,790$        
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
A 10% increase in the Canadian (CAD) dollar against the foreign currency at January 31, 2013 would result in an 
increase (decrease) to net income in the amounts shown below, assuming that all other variables remain 
constant. 
 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, interest rates, remain constant: 
 

 US                  

Dollars 

Ghana      

Cedis

Change in CAD 14,369$         (579)$          
 

 
 
(v) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  The Company has no interest bearing debt as of January 31, 2013.  
A change of 100 basis points in the interest rates would not be material to the financial statements. 

 

(vi) Other risk: 
As substantially all of the Company’s exploration activities are conducted in Ghana, the Company is subject to 
different considerations and other risks not typically associated with companies operating in North America. 
These risks relate primarily to those typically associated with developing nations, and include a greater political 
risk, changes in government’s ownership interest, sovereign risk, less developed infrastructure, and greater 
currency and inflation volatility.   
 

(c) Capital management  

The Company includes cash and equity, comprising of issued common shares, share based payment reserve, 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and deficit, in the definition of capital.  The Company’s 
objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management and consultants to sustain future development of the business. 

The Company’s properties are in the exploration stage and as such the Company is dependent upon external 
financings to fund activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds required.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach is 
reasonable given the relative size of the Company. There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital 
management during the year ended January 31, 2013. The Company is not subject to any external covenants. 

 

10. INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense is recognized based on management’s best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax 

rate for the full financial year applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period.  
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10. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 
 

 

As at January 31, 2013, the effective tax rate of income tax varies from the statutory rate as follows: 

 
  

2013 2012 

  Statutory tax rates 
 

25.00% 25.00% 

  Expected income tax expense at statutory rates 
 

$  (298,358) $  (327,355) 

  Permanent differences  12,652 147,014 

  Effect of tax rate change 
 

- 9,402 

  Tax benefits not realized 
 

285,706 170,939 

  
$                   - $                  - 

     

Nature of temporary differences 
Exploration and evaluation assets  

2013 2012 

      $        (1,585)      $                  - 

Fixed assets 
 

         1,756      2  

Share issuance costs 
 

44,217 9,318 
Unused tax losses carried forward 

 
470,439 173,266 

Deferred income taxes 
 

514,827 182,586 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

 
(514,827) (182,586) 

Deferred income taxes 
 

     $                 - $                  - 

 

The carrying value of the mineral properties exceeds its tax value by $7,024 (2012: $(9)).   

 

At January 31, 2013, subject to confirmation by Canadian income tax authorities, the Company has approximately 

$1,881,756 (2011: $ 693,065) in Canadian non-capital tax losses available for carry-forward to reduce future years’ 

taxable income, expiring as follows: 

 

2031 $      693,065  

2032 1,188,691  

 

$   1,881,756  

 

The potential benefits of these carry-forward non-capital losses, capital losses and deductible temporary differences 

has not been recognized in these consolidated financial statements as it is not considered probable that sufficient 

future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  

 

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s related party transactions during the period: 
 
a) Management Fees 

Management fees of $180,000 (2012: $120,000) incurred in connection with day-to-day management and general 

corporate matters were paid to a consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At January 31, 2013, $nil 

(2012: $nil) was owing to this consulting firm.  

 
Corporate communication fees of $90,000 (2012: $60,000) incurred in connection with the general corporate matters 
were paid to a consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At January 31, 2013, $nil (2012: $15,883) was 
owing to this consulting firm. 
 
Professional services of $90,000 (2012:$38,345) charged by a consulting firm owned by an officer of the Company. At 
January 31, 2013, $nil (2012: $nil) was owing to this consulting firm. 
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
As at January 31, 2013, included in trade and other payables was $8,794 (2012: $nil) in expense reimbursements 
owing to a director of the company.  
 
As at January 31, 2013, included in trade and other payables was $17,968 (2012: $nil) in directors fees owing to 
directors of the company.  
 
Project management expenses of $36,374 (2012:$60,550) and vehicle purchase of $24,248 (2012: $nil) were charged 
by a company with a common director of the Company. 
 
Rent of $4,500 (2012: $nil) was charged to a company with a common director of the Company. 

 
b) Key Management Compensation 

Key management personnel are engaged as consultants and are recorded in notes above. 

 

Key Management Compensation 2013 2012

Directors and officers fees:

Douglas MacQuarrie 180,000$          120,000$         

Jagtar Sandhu 90,000             60,000            

Philip Gibbs 90,000             38,345            

Directors fees:

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein 16,000             6,000              

Mark Holcombe 20,000             6,000              

Roger Holford (ASG Barbados)* 1,658               -                 

Robert Bourque (ASG Barbados)* 1,658               -                 

Herman Arhin (ASG Mining) 11,982             -                 

411,298$          230,345$         

* Professional services

Share based payments:
Founders Shares 

Options            

(Note 8)

Douglas MacQuarrie 46,000$            103,200$         

Jagtar Sandhu 26,000             68,800            

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein 12,000             68,800            

Mark Holcombe 5,000               68,800            

Philip Gibbs -                  51,600            

89,000$            361,200$         

January 31, 2012

Stock based compensation
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

During the year ended January 31, 2013, no share based payments were made to related parties.  

 
These transactions have been entered into in the normal course of operations and are recorded at their exchange 
amounts, which is the consideration agreed upon by the related parties.  Amounts due to and from related parties 
have no fixed terms of repayment, are unsecured, and are non-interest bearing. 
 

12. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
 
 
The Company is organized into business units based on mineral properties and has one reportable operating segment, 
being that of acquisition and exploration and evaluation activities. 
 

13. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

Weighted Averge Number of Common Shares

January 31, 

2013

January 31, 

2012

Issued common shares 21,511,000         15,961,000       

Weighted average number of common shares (basic and diluted) 19,935,110         12,305,504       

Loss per common share, basic and diluted 0.06$                0.10$              
 

The net effect of applying the treasury-stock method to the weighted average number of common shares had an anti-
dilutive effect for the year ended January 31, 2013. 
 
 

14. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE 
 

As disclosed in its press release available on www.sedar.com, the Company announced on November 12, 2012 that it 
has reached agreement with Goknet Mining Company Limited, of Accra, Ghana, (“Goknet”) to purchase a 1% NSR 
royalty held by Goknet on PMI Gold Corporation’s Obotan Gold Project in Ghana (the “Royalty”).  
 
Preparations for the finalization of the royalty purchase are in an advanced stage. Plans announced in November to 
raise further funds through a private placement in conjunction with the royalty acquisition were deferred per an 
announcement on March 21, 2013 due to the availability of funds generated through the exercise of warrants. 
Subsequent to January 31, 2013 a total of 970,000 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.25 per warrant for total 
proceeds of $242,500. 
 
On February 28, 2013, a total of 294,600 broker warrants priced at $0.25 expired, and on March 14, 2013, a further 
16,000 broker warrants priced at $0.25 expired. 
 
In May 2013, the Company received a loan of $200,000 from Goknet Mining Company Limited to be used for working 
capital purposes.  
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of
Asante Gold Corporation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Asante Gold Corporation, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at January 31, 2012, and the statements of comprehensive loss/income, 

changes in equity, and cash flows for the period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 

our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 

control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Asante 

Gold Corporation as at January 31, 2012, and its financial performance, its operations and its cash flows for 

the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements which describes the 

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of Asante Gold Corporation to continue 

as a going concern. 

“MacKay LLP”

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia 

May 8, 2012

1100 – 1177 West Hastings Street

Vancouver, BC  V6E 4T5

Tel:  (604) 687-4511

Fax: (604) 687-5805

Toll Free: 1-800-351-0426

www.mackay.ca

CHARTERED

ACCOUNTANTS
MacKay LLP
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
January  31,               

2012

Assets

Current Assets

Cash (Note 5) 756,374$           

Receivables 46,729              

Prepaid expenses and deposits 87,172              

890,275             

Non-current Assets

Fixed assets 2,498                

Deferred financing cost (Note 14) 31,013              

Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6) 282,622             

Total assets 1,206,408$         

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 71,504$             

Total current liabilities 71,504              

Total liabilities 71,504              

Shareholders'equity

Share capital (Note 7) 1,818,660          

Reserve for share based payments 557,400             

Accumulated deficit (1,241,156)         

Total shareholders' equity 1,134,904          

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,206,408$         

Events after the reporting period (Note 14)

  "Douglas MacQuarrie"                       "Jagtar Sandhu"

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS/INCOME
January 31,               

2012

Interest and other income -$                   

Expenses

   Amortization 9                     

   Directors' fees (note 11) 12,000              

   Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 593                  

   Share based compensation (Note 8) 557,400            

   Management and consulting fees (Note 11) 186,012            

   Professional services 205,360            

   Shareholder communications (Note 11) 115,780            

   Transfer agent and regulatory fees 24,823              

   Travel 55,946              

   General office 83,233              1,241,156            

Net loss 1,241,156            

Loss after income tax 1,241,156            

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the period 1,241,156$           

Loss per common share, basic and diluted (Note 13) 0.10$                  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share                

capital Deficit

Reserve for 

share based 

payments Total

Balance at May 4, 2011 -$               -$               -$               -$               

Loss for the period (1,241,156)       (1,241,156)       

Reserve for share based compensation -                557,400          557,400          

Share capital issued (Note 7) 1,865,250        -                -                1,865,250        

Share issuance costs (46,590)           -                (46,590)           

Balance at January 31, 2012 1,818,660$      (1,241,156)$     557,400$         1,134,904$      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
January 31,               

2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (1,241,156)$         

Items not affecting cash:

       Amortization 9                      

       Share based compensation 557,400              

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:

Prepaid expenses (87,172)              

Receivables (46,729)              

Trade and other payables 71,504               

Total cash inflows from operating activities (746,144)             

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets (50,630)              

Investment in exploration and evaluation assets (231,992)             

Property and equipment (2,507)                

Total cash (outflows) from investing activities (285,129)             

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issuance,net of share issue costs 1,818,660           

Deferred financing costs (31,013)              

Total cash inflows from financing activities 1,787,647           

Total increase in cash during the period 756,374              

Cash at beginning of period (Note 5) -                    

Cash at end of period (Note 5) 756,374$            

Interest paid -$                  

Income taxes paid -$                  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Asante Gold Corporation’s business activity is the exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Ghana, West Africa. 
Asante Gold Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on May 4, 2011, 
and has continued as a company under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange on February 28, 2012 under the symbol “ASE” and is in the process of exploring its mineral properties.

The address of the Company's corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 206, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6C 2T5 Canada.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance and compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  The financial statements were authorized for issue by the 
Board of Directors on May 8, 2012.

b) Basis of Measurement

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

c) Going Concern of Operations

The Company has not generated revenue from operations. The Company incurred a net loss of $1,241,156 during the 
period ended January 31, 2012 and, as of that date the Company’s deficit was $1,241,156. Subsequent to the period 
end, the Company raised further funds via an Initial Public Offering. The Company intends to raise further financing 
through private placements. 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes the realization of assets 
and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.   As the Company is in the 
exploration stage, the recoverability of the costs incurred to date on exploration properties is dependent upon the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete the exploration and development of its properties and upon future profitable production or proceeds from 
the disposition of the properties and deferred exploration expenditures. The Company will periodically have to raise 
funds to continue operations and, although it has been successful thus far in doing so, there is no assurance it will be 
able to do so in the future.  These material uncertainties raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, these financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and 
classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated 
into Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the period-end date, unsettled 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the 
period-end date and the related translation differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses 
arising on the retranslation of monetary available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of 
the change in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale 
financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial instrument.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Foreign Currency Transactions (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars by using 
the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into Canadian dollars by 
using the exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences are 
recognized in net income or other comprehensive loss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying non-
monetary asset or liability has been recognized.

b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Currently the Company holds only cash.

c) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures

Pre-exploration Costs

Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures 
include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation 
on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur.

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount.  When a project is deemed to no longer have 
commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project 
are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive loss/income.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the 
property is classified as ‘mines under construction’. Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment 
before the assets are transferred to development properties.  

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration 
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs.

Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets.

d) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are undertaken at least annually at the 
financial year-end. Other non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment 
tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out 
on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.  The 
Company has one cash-generating unit for which impairment testing is performed.  An impairment loss is charged to 
the profit or loss, except to the extent reverses gains previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
e) Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified into the following categories based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. 
All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  The Company's accounting 
policy for each category is as follows:

Financial assets ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ (FVTPL)

FVTPL assets are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs, and subsequent gain or loss is recognized 
in profit and loss.

Loans and Receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a 
borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  They are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is 
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in the profit or loss when the loans 
and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

Available-For-Sale Investments 

Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial 
asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any 
amount previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no 
quoted market price in an active market and fair value cannot be readily determined, available-for-sale investments 
are carried at cost.

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on a trade date basis. On sale or 
impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss.

Held to Maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost.

Impairment on Financial Assets

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or the group of financial assets. 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which the liability was 
incurred, and comprise of trade payables and accrued liabilities. These liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument and subsequently carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest expense over the period to 
repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the statement of financial position. Interest 
expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and premiums payable on redemption, as well as any 
interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
period which are unpaid. Trade payable amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f) Provisions

Rehabilitation Provision

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused 
by its exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated costs of legal 
and constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is 
incurred. The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the 
affected exploration sites.

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and 
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the 
carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in 
present value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks.

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the 
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which they occur.

Other Provisions

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past 
transactions, including legal or constructive obligations.  The provision is measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.

g) Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive loss/income.

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss 
for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current income taxes 
are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its 
tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is 
restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deferred tax asset can be utilized.  At the end of each reporting period the Company reassesses unrecognized 
deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

h) Share Capital

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares and warrants are classified as 
equity instruments.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
h) Share Capital (continued)

Earnings / Loss per Share

Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant period. 

Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common 
shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted.

i) Share-based Payments

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are 
taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, 
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 
eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options 
granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting 
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or 
where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 
options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of 
comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services 
received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income, unless they are related to the issuance of shares.  Amounts 
related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital.

When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, 

the fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes valuation model. The expected life used in the model is 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and 

behavioural considerations.

All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in reserve for share based payment, until exercised. Upon 
exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in reserve for share based payment is credited to 
share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid.

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting 
and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of 
the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an 
equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured 
at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense.
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for 
accounting periods beginning after August 1, 2011 or later periods.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

j) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective

The following pronouncements and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013 unless otherwise stated. Adopting these standards is expected to have minimal or no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement applies to classification and measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities as defined in IAS 39. It is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 with 
early adoption permitted. 

IFRS 10 – Consolidation replaces SIC-12 Consolidation—Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or 
joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas joint 
operations, the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint 
operation. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities,
such as joint arrangements, associates, and special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard 
carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces additional disclosures addressing the nature of, and risks 
associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement is a comprehensive standard that defines fair value, requires disclosure about fair 
value measurement and provides a framework for measuring fair value when it is required or permitted within the 
IFRS standards. 

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statement addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates 
in non-consolidated financial statements 

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to 
address the changes in IFRS 10 – 13. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements amendment requires components of other comprehensive income 
(―OCI‖) to be separately presented between those that may be reclassified to income and those that will not. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. 

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting rules. 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual 
experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive income in 
the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and future periods, if the 
change affects both.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the condensed interim financial 
statements within the next financial year are discussed below:

i) Rehabilitation Provisions

No rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s activity to date. Ongoing assumptions, based 
on the current economic environment, will be made on a basis which management believes are reasonable upon 
which to estimate the future liability. These estimates will take into account any material changes to the 
assumptions that occur when reviewed regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on 
current regulatory requirements. Significant changes in estimates of contamination, restoration standards and 
techniques will result in changes to provisions from period to period. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately 
depend on future market prices for the rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the 
rehabilitation costs are actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be 
higher or lower than currently provided for.

ii) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment in 
determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information 
becomes available. If, after an expenditure is capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the 
recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off in the profit or loss in the period the 
new information becomes available.

iii) Title to Mineral Property Interests

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers 
and title may be affected by undetected defects.

iv) Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s 
current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the 
Company records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax 
provision. In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the 
extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. However, utilization of 
the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are 
recouped.

v) Share-based Payment Transactions

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the 
grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 8.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars

For the period ended January 31, 2012

13

5. CASH

Cash at banks and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Property:

Fahiakoba Total

Balance at May 4, 2011 -$             -$             

    Property acquisition 50,630          50,630          

    Assaying, testing and analysis 18,249          18,249          

    Geology and geophysics 102,289         102,289         

    Drilling 45,669          45,669          

    General and administrative 65,785          65,785          

    Write-off of unsuccessful exploration expenditure -               -               

Balance at January 31, 2012 282,622$       282,622$       

On June 15, 2011, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with Goknet Mining Company Limited (“Goknet”)

to acquire the Fahiakoba Concession, in the Ashanti and Central Regions in the Republic of Ghana, whereby the Company

acquired a 100% interest in the Fahiakoba Concession (subject to a royalty interest) by paying Goknet the sum of 

US$51,976 (C$50,630) (paid July 12, 2011) and by agreeing to expend US$1,000,000 over a five year period.  In the event 

that the Company sells its interest in the Fahiakoba Concession within two years from June 15, 2011, it must pay Goknet 

a sum, in cash, equal to 10% of the sale price.  The Company also granted Goknet a 3% net smelter return royalty on 

production from the Fahiakoba Concession.

The impairment assessment of exploration and evaluation assets resulted in no amounts being written off the Company’s 
properties.

7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a) Common Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.

The holders of common shares will be entitled to receive dividends which will be declared from time to time, and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares are ranked equally with regards to the 
Company's residual assets.
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

The following is a summary of changes in common share capital from incorporation to January 31, 2012:

Number of shares Issue Price Amount

Balance at May 4, 2011 -                    -$                  

Shares issued via private placement 2,325,000           0.01$                 23,250               

Shares issued via private placement 7,835,000           0.05$                 391,750              

Shares issued via private placement 5,608,000           0.25$                 1,402,000           

Shares issued via private placement 193,000              0.25$                 48,250               

Share issue costs (46,590)              

Balance at January 31, 2012 15,961,000          1,818,660$          

During the period ended January 31, 2012, the following stock transactions occurred:

On June 10, 2011 pursuant to a non-brokered private placement, the Company issued 2,325,000 shares at a per 

share value of $0.01 for gross proceeds of $23,250.  The fair value of the 2,325,000 common shares was determined 

to be $116,250 and therefore $93,000 of share based compensation was expensed during the period ended January 

31, 2012.  $nil finder’s fees were paid; and $nil warrants were issued as finder’s fees.

On June 10, 2011 pursuant to a non-brokered private placement, the Company issued 7,835,000 units at a per unit 
value of $0.05 for gross proceeds of $391,750.  Each unit is comprised of one share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable for two years at $0.25.  $nil finders’ fees were paid, and nil warrants were issued as finders’ fees.  The 
warrants are exercisable for two years at a price of $0.25.

On August 31, 2011 the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for total gross proceeds of $1,402,000 
consisting of 5,608,000 shares; 294,600 brokers’ warrants exercisable at $0.25 and expiring February 28, 2013 were 
issued in connection with this private placement.  Finder’s fees totaled $44,190.

On September 14, 2011 the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for total proceeds of $48,250 
consisting of 193,000 shares; 16,000 brokers’ warrants exercisable at $0.25 and expiring March 14, 2013 were issued 
in connection with this private placement. Finder’s fees totaled $2,400.

On October 24, 2011 the Company granted 1,350,000 options exercisable at $0.75 for a period of 5 years.

A total of 5,385,000 shares and 2,900,000 warrants held by insiders are subject to escrow and will be released in 
accordance with TSX-Venture requirements as relates to the Company’s IPO.

b) Share-based Payments  

The following is a summary of changes in share based payments from May 4, 2011 to January 31, 2012:

January 31, 

2012

May 4,             

2011

Founders Shares 93,000$         -$             

Share Options 464,400         -               

Total Contributed Surplus 557,400$       -$             
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

c) Share Purchase Warrants 

The following is a summary of changes in warrants from May 4, 2011 to January 31, 2012:

Number of 

Warrants

Balance at May 4, 2011 -                 

Issue of warrants           8,145,600 

Exercised warrants                     -   

Balance January 31, 2012 8,145,600        

As at January 31, 2012, the Company had outstanding warrants as follows:

Number of 

warrants

Exercise 

price
Expiry

           7,835,000  $        0.25 10-Jun-13

              294,600  $        0.25 28-Feb-13

               16,000  $        0.25 14-Mar-13

d) Nature and Purpose of Equity and Reserves

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s statement of financial position reflect ‘Reserves for Share Based 

Payments’.  ‘Reserves for Share Based Payments’ is used to recognize the value of shares, stock option grants and 

share warrants prior to exercise. ‘Accumulated Deficit’ is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from 

earnings from period to period.

8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

a) Option Plan Details

The Company has an incentive Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) under which non-transferable options to purchase 
common shares of the Company may be granted to directors, officers, employees or service providers of the 
Company. The terms of the Plan provide that the Directors have the right to grant options to acquire common 
shares of the Company at not less than the closing market price of the shares on the day preceding the grant less 
any discount allowable under TSX rules, at terms of up to five years.  No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option, and the options granted are not dependent on any performance-based criteria. 
In accordance with the Plan, options vest immediately upon grant; with the exception of personnel working in 
Investor Relations whose options vest at 25% upon grant and 25% every three months thereafter until all options are 
fully vested.

Granted Exercised Forfeited

24/10/2011 24/10/2016 0.75$                -    1,350,000            -              -   1,350,000    1,350,000                -   

             -    1,350,000            -              -        1,350,000     1,350,000              -   

 $           -   0.75$       $        -    $        -   -$           -$           $           -   

Vested and 

Exercisable
Unvested

Weighted Average Exercise 

Price

Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price

Opening 

Balance

During the Period Closing 

Balance
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8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

During the period ended January 31, 2012, 1,350,000 options were granted with a fair value of $0.34 per option.  
The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Number of options 1,350,000

Estimated life 5 years

Share price at date of grant $0.50

Option exercise price $0.75

Risk free interest rate 1.11%

Estimated annual volatility 100%

Option fair value $0.34

Fair value of compensation granted during period $464,400

b) Fair Value Options Issued to Employees

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the 
option.

Options Issued to Non-Employees

Options issued to non-employees, are measured based on the fair value of the goods or services received, at the 
date of receiving those goods or services. If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated 
reliably, the options are measured by determining the fair value of the options granted, using a valuation model. 

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), 
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Disclosures:

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and due to related 
parties.

The carrying values of cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties approximate their 
respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  All financial instruments carried at fair 
value at January 31, 2012 were determined using Level 1 inputs.

(b) Financial instrument risk exposure and risk management:

(i) Credit risk:
Credit risk is the unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  With very limited receivables and cash on deposit with sound financial institutions, it is 
management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from the financial 
instruments.
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(ii) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The 

Company’s liquidity improved significantly during the year.  As at January 31, 2012, the Company had current 

liabilities totaling $71,504 and cash reserves of $756,374.

(iii) Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Company’s income.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters.

The Company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks.

(iv) Currency risk:
The Company is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree of 
volatility of these rates.  At January 31, 2012, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following 
financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies:

 US                  

Dollars 

Cash 28,590         

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 114           

28,476       

CAD foreign exchange rate 1.00381        

A 10% change in the Canadian (CAD) dollar against the foreign currency at January 31, 2012 would result in an 
increase (decrease) to net income in the amounts shown below.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, interest rates, remain constant:

Change

US Dollars 2,848$         

(v) Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  The Company has no interest bearing debt as of January 31, 2012.  
A change of 100 basis points in the interest rates would not be material to the financial statements.

(vi) Other risk:
As substantially all of the Company’s exploration activities are conducted in Ghana, the Company is subject to 
different considerations and other risks not typically associated with companies operating in North America.
These risks relate primarily to those typically associated with developing nations, and include a greater political 
risk, changes in government’s ownership interest, sovereign risk, less developed infrastructure, and greater 
currency and inflation volatility.  

(c) Capital management 

The Company includes cash and equity, comprising of issued common shares, share based payment reserve, 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and deficit, in the definition of capital.  The Company’s 
objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management and consultants to sustain future development of the business.

The Company’s properties are in the exploration stage and as such the Company is dependent upon external 
financings to fund activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds required. 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach is 
reasonable given the relative size of the Company. The Company is not subject to any external covenants.

10. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense is recognized based on management’s best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax 
rate for the full financial year applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period. The difference between tax 
expense for the period and the expected income taxes based on the statutory tax rate will be calculated and disclosed
as comparable periods are established.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The nature and tax effect of the temporary differences giving rise to the future income tax assets and liabilities will be 
reported as comparable periods are established.

As at January 31, 2012, the Company has estimated non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of 
approximately $700,000 that may be carried forward to reduce taxable income derived in future years. 

Tax Losses

The potential benefits of these carry-forward non-capital losses, capital losses and deductible temporary differences 
has not been recognized in these financial statements as it is not considered probable that sufficient future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summary of the Company’s related party transactions during the period:

a)Management Fees

Management fees of $120,000 incurred in connection with day-to-day management and general corporate matters

were paid to a consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At January 31, 2012, $nil was owing to this 

consulting firm.

Corporate communication fees of $60,000 incurred in connection with the general corporate matters were paid to a 
consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At January 31, 2012, $15,883 was owing to this consulting firm.

Consulting fees of $38,345 charged by an officer of the Company.

Deferred acquisition/exploration costs and expenses of $60,550 charged by a firm with a common director of the 
Company.
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

b)Key Management Compensation

Key management personnel are engaged as consultants and are recorded in notes above.

Key Management Compensation

January 31,                      

2012

Directors and officers fees:

Douglas MacQuarrie 120,000$                  

Jagtar Sandhu 60,000                     

Philip Gibbs 38,345                     

Directors fees:

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein 6,000                      

 Mark Holcombe 6,000                      

230,345$                  

Share based payments:

Founders Shares             

(note 7)

OPTIONS (Stock Based 

Compensation)            

(note 8)

Douglas MacQuarrie 46,000$                   103,200$                  

Jagtar Sandhu 26,000$                   68,800$                   

Florian Riedl-Riedenstein 12,000$                   68,800$                   

Mark Holcombe 5,000$                     68,800$                   

Philip Gibbs -$                        51,600$                   

89,000$                   361,200$                  

c) Property Acquisition

Fees of $50,630 for the acquisition of the Fahiakoba property were paid to a firm with a common director of the 
Company.  At January 31, 2012, $Nil was owed to the firm.

These transactions have been entered into in the normal course of operations and are recorded at their exchange 
amounts, which is the consideration agreed upon by the related parties. Amounts due to and from related parties 
have no fixed terms of repayment, are unsecured, and are non-interest bearing.

12. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Company is organized into business units based on mineral properties and has one reportable operating segment, 
being that of acquisition and exploration and evaluation activities.
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

Weighted Averge Number of Common Shares

January 31, 

2012

Issued common shares 15,961,000      

Weighted average number of common shares (basic and diluted) 12,305,504      

14. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the period the Company closed an IPO prospectus (February 28, 2012) with the British Columbia and Alberta 
Securities Commissions raising $2,000,000 by the issuance of 4,000,000 units at $0.50 per unit.  Pursuant to the Agency 
Agreement the Company paid the Agent a commission equal to 7.5% of the proceeds, and issued warrants equal to 7.5% of the 
offered units exercisable at $0.50 for 2 periods of 2 years.  The Company also issued 150,000 Corporate Finance Shares and
reimbursed the Agent for legal fees towards which a retainer of $14,000 has been paid.

On February 28th, the Company announced a contract with Burwash Drilling 2009 Ghana Limited with respect to a minimum 
5,000 metres of diamond drilling to commence as soon as practicable on the Fahiakoba concession. Initial drill targets will be 
the deep seated structures outlined by the pre-IPO work programs. 

On March 12, 2012, the Company announced commencement of the contracted 5,000 metre diamond drilling program on the 
Fahiakoba concession in Ghana. 

On April 3, 2012 the Company announced the appointment of W. E. Jonah, LLB/BA (Hons), (also known as Nana Prah 

Agyensaim VI) and Alan McKerron, M.A.Hons; consultants, to its Advisory Board, effective immediately.  The Company granted 

stock options to the consultants to purchase up to 200,000 common shares at a price of $0.75 per share for a five year period.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
October 31, 

2014

January 31, 

2014

Assets

Current Assets

Cash 12,945$         14,058$              

Receivables 9,387            10,742               

Prepaid expenses and deposits 11,793          12,965               

34,125          37,765               

Non-current Assets

Fixed assets (Note 5) 18,476          79,805               

Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6) 2,883,746      2,724,550           

Total Assets 2,936,348$     2,842,120$          

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 402,706$       239,536$            

Due to related parties (Note 10) 734,676         348,659              

Short term loans (Note 10) 486,050         421,802              

Total Liabilities 1,623,434      1,009,997           

Equity

Share capital (Note 7) 4,115,129      4,115,129           

Reserve for share based payments (Note 8) 649,520         605,400              

Reserve for warrants (Note 7) -               78,878               

Cumulative translation reserve 258,834         257,520              

Contributed surplus 78,878          -                    

Accumulated deficit (3,789,447)     (3,224,804)          

Total Equity 1,312,914      1,832,123           

Total Liabilities and Equity 2,936,348$     2,842,120$          

"Douglas MacQuarrie & Jagtar Sandhu"

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS/INCOME

2014 2013 2014 2013

Interest and other income -$            (435)$          -$           -$           

Expenses

   Amortization 473             581             150            184            

   Directors' fees (Note 10) 27,433         27,000         9,550          9,000          

   Foreign exchange gain 2,008          4,406 1,444          4,395          

   Share based compensation (Note 8) 44,120         -             -             -             

   Management and consulting fees (Note 10) 148,100       164,830       44,100        52,830        

   Professional services (Note 10) 135,782       123,248       59,480        35,687        

   Shareholder communications (Note 10) 80,031         143,793        24,431        38,084        

   Advertising,trade shows and promotions 7,613          -             1,730          -             

   Transfer agent and regulatory fees 11,762         12,271         1,233          1,395          

   Travel 13,570         34,753         -             8,751          

   General office 71,570         84,831         26,517        25,132        

   Loss on disposal of assets 22,180         -             635            -             

Net loss for the period 564,643       595,278       169,270       175,458       

Other comprehensive loss/(income)

Currency translation adjustment 1,314          (89,701) (75,934)       (31,989)

Total comprehensive loss for the period 565,957$      505,577$      93,336$       143,469$     

Loss per common share, basic and diluted (Note 12) 0.03$          0.02$          0.01$          0.01$          

              October 31,               October 31, 

 Nine  months ended   Three  months ended  

 
 
        The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 

capital

Accumulated 

Deficit

Reserve for 

share based 

payments

Reserve for 

warrants

Contributed 

surplus

Cumulative 

translation 

reserve Total

Balance - January 31, 2014 4,115,129$       (3,224,804)$    605,400$       78,878$         -$             257,520$     1,832,123$  

Loss for the period -                 (564,643)        -               -               -               -            (564,643)     

Share based payments -               44,120          -               -               -            44,120       

Warrants expired -                 -               -               (78,878)         78,878          -            -            

Foreign currency translation adjustment -                 -               -               -               1,314         1,314         

Balance - October 31, 2014 4,115,129$       (3,789,447)$    649,520$       -$             78,878$         258,834$     1,312,914$  

Share 

capital

Accumulated 

Deficit

Reserve for 

share based 

payments

Reserve for 

warrants

Contributed 

surplus

Cumulative 

translation 

reserve Total

Balance - January 31, 2013 3,872,629$       (2,434,586)$    605,400$       78,878$         -$             (26)$           2,122,295$  

Loss for the period -                 (595,278)        -               -               -               -            (595,278)     

Share based payments -                 -               -               -               -               -            -            

Warrants exercised 242,500           -               -               -               -               -            242,500      

Foreign currency translation adjustment -                 -               -               -               -               89,701        89,701       

Balance - October 31, 2013 4,115,129$       (3,029,864)$    605,400$       78,878$         -$             89,675$      1,859,218$  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (564,643)$              (595,278)$              

Items not affecting cash:

       Amortization 473                      581                      

Foreign exchange gain 2,008                    -                       

       Share based payments 44,120                  -                       

Loss on dispsal of assets 22,180                  -                       

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:

Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,172                    69,445                  

Receivables 1,355                    18,683                  

Trade and other payables 163,170                 115,786                 

Due to related parties 386,017                 -                       

Total cash (outflows) from operating activities 55,853                  (390,783)                

Cash flows from investing activities

Short term investments -                       46,000                  

Investment in exploration and evaluation assets (160,347)                (237,120)                

Fixed assets -                       -                       

Total cash (outflows) from investing activities (160,347)                (191,120)                

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds exercise of warrants -                       242,500                 

Proceeds sale of assets 39,132                  -                       

Short term loans 64,248                  315,000                 

Total cash inflows from financing activities 103,380                 557,500                 

Total increase (decrease) in cash during the period (1,113)                   (24,403)                 

Cash at beginning of the period 14,058                  28,550                  

Cash at end of period 12,945$                 4,147$                  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2014 2013

Interest paid -$                     -$                     

Income taxes paid -$                     -$                     

- Inc luded in Exploration and Evaluation assets is $145,221 in trade and other payables (2013:$318,065)

- Inc luded in Exploration and Evaluation assets is $4,662 in amortization of fixed assets (2013:$8,681)

Nine months ended October 31, 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

Asante Gold Corporation’s business activity is the exploration and evaluation of mineral properties in Ghana, West Africa. 
Asante Gold Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on May 4, 2011, 
and has continued as a company under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The Company listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange on February 28, 2012 under the symbol “ASE” and is in the process of exploring its mineral properties. 

The Company has also acquired a 2% net smelter returns royalty ('NSR') interest in the SENECA 1 to 9 claims, Harrison 
Lake area, British Columbia, CANADA (the 'NSS Property).  The NSS Property consists of 208 units covering an area of 
4,124 hectares, and surrounds four claims that cover the historical Seneca Deposit and two claims that cover the Vent 
Zone. (Neither the Seneca Deposit nor the Vent Zone are a part of the NSS Property or the NSR royalty). 

On October 14th , 2014, the company announced the signing of a binding term sheet with Goknet Mining Limited of Accra, 
Ghana (“Goknet”) re the entering into a joint venture to develop their Kubi Gold project. The agreement was subject to 
the Company completing due diligence and TSX Venture Exchange approval, both of which are ongoing. 

The address of the Company's corporate office and principal place of business is Suite 206, 595 Howe Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6C 2T5 Canada. 
 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
a) Statement of Compliance 
 

The Company's condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, 
Interim Financial Reporting ("IAS 34"). The IAS 34 condensed interim consolidated financial statements do not include 
all of the information required for annual financial statements. These condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended January 31, 2014 which were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB").   
 
The significant accounting policies applied in the Company's condensed interim consolidated financial statements are 
based on IFRS effective as of December 18, 2014, the date the Audit Committee approved the statements. Any 
subsequent changes to IFRS that are given effect in the Company's annual consolidated financial statements for the 
year ending January 31, 2015 could result in restatement of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
 

b) Basis of Measurement 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial instruments 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale which are presented at their 
fair value. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on using the accrual basis of accounting, 
except for cash flow information.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is 
also the Company’s functional currency. The functional currency of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries is the 
United States dollar. The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 
 

c) Going Concern of Operations 
 
The Company has not generated revenue from operations. The Company incurred a comprehensive loss of $ 565,957 
during the nine month period ended October 31, 2014 (2013:$505,577)  and, as of that date the Company had a 
working capital deficit of $1,589,309 and an accumulated deficit of $3,789,447. The Company intends to raise 
further financing through debt and equity private placements.  

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes the realization of assets 
and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. As the Company is in the 
exploration stage, the recoverability of the costs incurred to date on exploration properties is dependent upon the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete the exploration and development of its properties and upon future profitable production or proceeds from 
the disposition of the properties and deferred exploration expenditures. The Company will have to raise funds to 
continue operations and, although it has been successful thus far, there is no assurance it will be  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

able to do so in the future.  These material uncertainties raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and 
classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business. 

 
d) Basis of Consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
 

 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a) Foreign Currency Transactions 
 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars. Foreign currency accounts are translated into 
Canadian dollars as follows: 
 
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is translated 
into Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the year-end date, unsettled 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the year-
end date and the related translation differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on 
the retranslation of monetary available-for-sale financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 
in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary available-for-sale financial 
assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial instrument. 
 
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the presentation 
currency are translated as follows: 
- assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date; and 
- income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period. 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve and are recognized in the profit/loss in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into Canadian dollars by using 
the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction and are not subsequently restated.  Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value or a revalued amount are translated into Canadian dollars by 
using the exchange rate in effect at the date the value is determined and the related translation differences are 
recognized in net income or other comprehensive loss consistent with where the gain or loss on the underlying non-
monetary asset or liability has been recognized. 
 

b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with financial institutions and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Currently the Company holds only cash. 
 

c) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 
 
Pre-exploration Costs 
 
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures 
include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation 
on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation 
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. When a project is deemed to no longer have 
commercially viable prospects to the Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project 
are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to the statement of comprehensive loss/income. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the 
property is classified as ‘mines under construction’. Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment 
before the assets are transferred to development properties.   
 
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration 
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs. 
 
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets. 

 
d) Fixed assets 

On initial recognition, fixed assets are valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly attributable cost of 
acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the estimated present 
value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is recognized 
within provisions. 

Fixed assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, less any accumulated impairment 
losses, with the exception of land which is not depreciated. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives 
of the assets on the following basis and rates per annum: 

 
Building 25 years on a straight line basis 
Vehicles 5 years on a straight line basis 
Furniture and fixtures 5 years on a straight line basis 
Equipment 5 years on a straight line basis 
Computer equipment 3 years on a straight line basis 

 
The cost of replacing part of an item of fixed assets is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-
day servicing of fixed assets are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal, when held for sale or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the 
asset, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset, is recognized in income or loss for the period. 

 
The Company conducts an annual assessment of the residual balances, useful lives and depreciation methods 
being used for f i xed  as sets  and any changes arising from the assessment are applied by the Company 
prospectively. 

 
Where an item of fixed assets comprises major components with different useful lives, the components are 
accounted for as separate items. Expenditures incurred to replace a component of an item of fixed assets, 
plant and equipment that is accounted for separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditures, 
are capitalized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

e) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 
Impairment tests on intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives are undertaken at least annually at the 
financial year-end. Other non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are subject to impairment 
tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 
Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell, the asset is written down accordingly. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out 
on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets to which the asset belongs for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.  The 
Company has one cash-generating unit for which impairment testing is performed. 
 
An impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss, except to the extent the impairment loss reverses gains 
previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income. 
 

f) Financial Instruments 
 

Financial Assets 
 

Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured, based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired, as 
presented below . All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.  
 
 Asset    Classification   Subsequent Measurement  
   
Cash and cash equivalents   FVTPL    Fair value through profit or loss 
Short term investments    FVTPL    fair value through profit or loss 
Receivables    Loans and receivables  Amortised cost 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
 

FVTPL assets are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs, and subsequent gains or losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Loans and Receivables 
 

These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a 
borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand.  They are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently 
carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is 
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 
 
Available-For-Sale Investments  
 

Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss/income. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial 
asset (which constitutes objective evidence of impairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any 
amount previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income, is recognized in profit or loss.  If there is no 
quoted market price in an active market and fair value cannot be readily determined, available-for-sale investments 
are carried at cost. 
 

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on a trade date basis. On sale or 
impairment, the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive loss/income is reclassified from 
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income to profit or loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Held-to-Maturity Investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Impairment on Financial Assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or the group of financial assets.  
 
Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which the liability was 
incurred, and comprise of trade and other payables, due to related parties and short term loans. These liabilities are 
initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the instrument 
and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  This ensures that any interest 
expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried on the statement 
of financial position. Interest expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and premiums payable on 
redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding. 
 
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
period which are unpaid. Trade and other payable amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) 
 

FVTPL liabilities are initially measured at fair value without transaction costs, and subsequent gains or losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 

g) Provisions 
 
Rehabilitation Provision 
 
The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused 
by its exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated costs of legal 
and constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is 
incurred. The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the 
affected exploration sites. 
 
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and 
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the 
carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in 
present value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 
 
Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the 
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which they occur. 
 
Other Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past 
transactions, including legal or constructive obligations.  The provision is measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

h) Income Taxes 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive loss/income. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss 
for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.  Current income taxes 
are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its 
tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
 
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is 
restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deferred tax asset can be utilized.  At the end of each reporting period the Company reassesses unrecognized 
deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 

i) Share Capital 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares, options and warrants are 
classified as equity instruments. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Valuation of Warrants 
 
The Company has adopted the residual value method with respect to the valuation of warrants issued as part of a 
private placement unit. The residual value method allocates the net proceeds to the common shares up to their fair 
value, as determined by the current quoted trading price on the announcement date, and the balance, if any, to the 
attached warrants. 
 
Earnings / Loss per Share 
 
Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant period.  
 
Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares 
by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common 
shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted. 
 

j) Share-based Payments 
 
Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are 
taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, 
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 
eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options 
granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting 
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or 
where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 
options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of 
comprehensive loss/income over the remaining vesting period. 
 
Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services 
received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income, unless they are related to the issuance of shares.  Amounts 
related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. 
 
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably estimated, 
the fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes valuation model. The expected life used in the model is 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and 
behavioural considerations. 
 
All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in reserve for share based payments, until exercised. Upon 
exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in reserve for share based payments is credited 
to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 
 
Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting 
and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of 
the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an 
equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured 
at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense. 
 

k) Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective 

 
The International Accounting Standards Board has issued new and amended standards and interpretations which have 
not yet been adopted by the Company. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the 
new and amended standards and interpretations will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any 
of the new requirements. The following is a brief summary of the new and amended standards and interpretations: 
  
IFRS 9 – ‘Financial Instruments’ 

The application date of this standard has been extended and the final date of application has not been determined.  
This standard introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets, using a single approach to 
determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value. To be classified and measured at 
amortized cost, assets must satisfy the business model test for managing the financial assets and have certain 
contractual cash flow characteristics. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair 
value. This standard allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity 
instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income, with dividends as a return on these 
investments being recognized in profit or loss. In addition, those equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income would no longer have to apply any impairment requirements nor would there be any 
‘recycling’ of gains or losses through profit or loss on disposal. The accounting for financial liabilities continues to be 
classified and measured in accordance with IAS 39, with one exception, being that the portion of a change of fair 
value relating to the entity’s own credit risk is to be presented in other comprehensive income unless it would 
create an accounting mismatch. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 
 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, 
actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in comprehensive 
income or loss in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and 
future periods, if the change affects both.  

 
Estimates have been applied in the following areas: 

a) Rehabilitation Provisions 
 
No rehabilitation provisions have been created based on the Company’s activity to date. Based upon the prevailing 
economic environment, assumptions will be made which management believes are reasonable upon which to 
estimate the future liability. These estimates will take into account any material changes to the assumptions that 
occur when reviewed regularly by management. Estimates are reviewed annually and are based on current 
regulatory requirements. Significant changes in estimates of contamination, restoration standards and techniques 
will result in changes to provisions from period to period. Actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend on future 
market prices for the rehabilitation costs which will reflect the market condition at the time the rehabilitation costs 
are actually incurred.  The final cost of the currently recognized rehabilitation provisions may be higher or lower 
than currently provided for. 

 

b) Share-based Payment Transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and 
conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model 
including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. 
The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in 
Note 8. 
 

The areas in which the Company has exercised  critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
a) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures 

 
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures requires judgment 
in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which may be based on 
assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information  
 
becomes available. If, after an expenditure has been capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the 
recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written off to the profit or loss in the period the 
new information becomes available. 
 

b) Title to Mineral Property Interests 
 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers 
and title may be affected by undetected defects. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

c) Income Taxes 
 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The Company recognizes liabilities and contingencies for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Company’s 
current understanding of the tax law. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the 
Company records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax 
provision. In addition, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward to the 
extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. However, utilization of 
the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are 
recouped. 
 

5. FIXED ASSETS 
Field tools & 

equipment

Office furniture & 

equipment Vehicles Total

Cost

Balance, January 31, 2013 18,206         2,507                 74,859       95,572       

    Additions -              -                    -           -           

    Currency translation adjustment 1,927           -                    9,037        10,964       

Balance, January 31, 2014 20,133$        2,507$               83,896$     106,536$    

    Additions -              -                    -           -           

    Disposals -              -                    (26,653) (26,653)

    Currency translation adjustment (200) -                    (3,758) (3,958)

Balance, April 30, 2014 19,933$        2,507$               53,485$     75,925       

    Additions -              -                    -           -           

    Disposals (18,346) -                    (19,756) (38,102)

    Currency translation adjustment (1,587) -                    (2,740) (4,327)

Balance, July 31, 2014 -$            2,507$               30,989$     33,496       

    Additions -              -                    -           -           

    Disposals -              -                    -           -           

    Currency translation adjustment -              -                    847           847           

Balance, October 31, 2014 -$            2,507$               31,836$     34,343$     

Amortization

Balance, January 31, 2013 2,255           465                   4,988        7,708        

    Additions 3,065           379                   13,488       16,932       

    Currency translation adjustment 452             -                    1,639        2,091        

Balance, January 31, 2014 5,772$         844$                  20,115$     26,731$     

    Additions 629             165                   3,248        4,042        

    Disposals -              -                    (8,113) (8,113)

    Currency translation adjustment (72) -                    (1,332) (1,404)

Balance, April 30, 2014 6,329$         1,009$               13,918$     21,256$     

    Additions -              157                   -           157           

    Disposals (6,113) -                    (6,113)

    Currency translation adjustment (216) -                    (716) (932)

Balance, July 31, 2014 -$            1,166$               13,202$     14,368$     

    Additions -              150                   1,071        1,221        

    Disposals -              -                    -           -           

    Currency translation adjustment -              -                    278 278           

Balance, October 31, 2014 -$            1,316$               14,551$     15,867$     

Carrying amounts

at January 31, 2014 14,361$        1,663$               63,781$     79,805$     

at October 31, 2014 -$            1,191$               17,285$     18,476$     
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

Property:

Fahiakoba

Balance at January 31, 2013 2,069,709     

    Assaying, testing and analysis 3,695           

    Geology and geophysics 114,906        

    Field expenses 108,456        

    General and administrative (Note 11) 148,039        

    Currency translation adjustment 279,745        

Balance at January 31, 2014 2,724,550$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis -              

    Geology and geophysics 17,570         

    Field expenses 12,796         

    General and administrative (Note 11) 33,577         

    Currency translation adjustment (45,445)

Balance at April 30, 2014 2,743,048$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis -              

    Geology and geophysics 14,720         

    Field expenses 3,491           

    General and administrative (Note 11) 29,630         

    Currency translation adjustment (29,687)        

Balance at July 31, 2014 2,761,202$    

    Assaying, testing and analysis

    Geology and geophysics 8406

    Field expenses 10129

    General and administrative (Note 11) 21972

    Currency translation adjustment 82038

Balance at October 31, 2014 2,883,746$    

 

On June 15, 2011, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Goknet to acquire the Fahiakoba Concession, in 
the Ashanti and Central Regions in the Republic of Ghana, whereby the Company acquired a 100% interest in the 
Fahiakoba Concession (subject to a royalty interest) by paying Goknet the sum of US$51,976 (C$50,630) (paid October 12, 
2011) and by agreeing to expend US$1,000,000 over a five year period. The agreement requiring a payment to Goknet of 
10% of the proceeds of a sale of the Fahiakoba Concession if occurring by June 15, 2011 has expired. The Company also 
granted Goknet a 3% net smelter return royalty on production from the Fahiakoba Concession. 
 
To date,  assessment of exploration and evaluation assets has not resulted in any impairment of  the Company’s 
properties. 
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES  
 

a) Common Shares  
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 
The holders of common shares will be entitled to receive dividends which will be declared from time to time, and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares are ranked equally with regards to the 
Company's residual assets. 
 

The following is a summary of changes in common share capital from January 31, 2013 to October 31, 2014: 

 

Number of 

shares Issue Price Amount

Balance at January 31, 2013 21,511,000      3,872,629$     

Warrants exercised 970,000          0.25$      242,500         

Balance at January 31, 2014 and October 

31,2014 22,481,000      4,115,129$     
 

 
 
 
From January 31, 2013 to October 31, 2014 the following stock transactions occurred: 

On February 27, 2013 150,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25; on March 6, 2013 520,000 warrants were exercised 
at $0.25; on March 21, 2013 200,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25; and on April 24, 2013 a further 50,000 
warrants were exercised at $0.25. 

On February 28, 2013 294,600 warrants expired unexercised and on March 14, 2013 a further 16,000 warrants 
expired. On May 2, 2013 50,000 warrants were exercised at $0.25; on June 10, 2013 5,465,000 warrants expired 
unexercised. 

Pursuant to TSX-V requirements, shares and warrants held by insiders prior to the IPO on February 28, 2012 became 
subject to escrow. A total of 5,285,000 shares and 2,700,000 warrants were initially placed into escrow, of which 
4,492,250 shares and 1,080,000 warrants have been released to date and the remaining warrants expired on June 
10, 2013. Currently 792,750 shares remain in escrow as at October 31, 2014. The next and final release of shares 
from escrow takes place on February 28, 2015 (note 13). 

 

b) Share Purchase Warrants  

The expiry date of 2,000,000 warrants originally due to expire on February 28, 2014 has been extended by one year 
to February 28, 2015. 
 
The following is a summary of warrants issued and exercised  from January 31, 2013 to October 31, 2014 together 
with warrants outstanding and exercise conditions: 
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7. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

 
Number of Warrants

Balance January 31, 2013 9,045,600                              

Expired warrants (5,775,600)                             

Exercised warrants (970,000)                               

Balance January 31, 2014 2,300,000                            

Expired warrants (300,000)                               

Balance October 31, 2014 2,000,000                            
 

 
 

Number of warrants
Exercise price

Expiry 

date

                          2,000,000  $                                  0.70 28-Feb-15

2,000,000                        
 

 
 

c) Nature and Purpose of Equity and Reserves 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s statement of financial position reflect ‘Reserves for Share Based 
Payments’.  ‘Reserves for Share Based Payments’ is used to recognize the value of shares, stock option grants and 
share warrants prior to exercise. ‘Accumulated Deficit’ is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from profit 
or loss from period to period. 

 

8. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
a) Option Plan Details 

 
The Company has an incentive Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) under which non-transferable options to purchase 
common shares of the Company may be granted to directors, officers, employees or service providers of the 
Company. The terms of the Plan provide that the Directors have the right to grant options to acquire common 
shares of the Company at not less than the closing market price of the shares on the day preceding the grant less 
any discount allowable under TSX rules, at terms of up to five years.  No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option, and the options granted are not dependent on any performance-based criteria. 
In accordance with the Plan, options vest immediately upon grant; with the exception of personnel working in 
Investor Relations whose options vest 25% every three months until all options are fully vested. 
 
On May 1, 2014 the Company re-priced 450,000 options previously awarded to non-insiders and consultants from 
$0.75 to $0.15.  
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8. Share Based Payments (CONTINUED) 
 
The following is a summary of options issued since January 31, 2013: 
 

` Number of OptionsExercise Price Expiry

Balance January 31, 2013 and 2014 1,550,000              

Issue of options 200,000                 0.15 11‐Apr‐19

Balance April 30, 2014 1,750,000              

Issue of options 450,000                 0.15 15‐May‐19

Expiry of options (200,000)                

Balance October 31, 2014 2,000,000             
 

 
 
Options outstanding as at October 31, 2014 are as follows: 

10/24/11 10/24/16 0.75$                                   900,000 900,000                - 

10/24/11 10/24/16 0.15$                                   250,000 250,000                - 

4/03/12 4/03/17 0.15$                                   200,000 200,000                - 

4/11/14 4/11/19 0.15$                                   200,000 200,000                - 

5/01/14 5/01/19 0.15$                                   450,000 450,000                - 

           2,000,000     2,000,000           - 

0.42$          $        - 

Vested and 

Exercisable
Unvested

Balance as at July 31, 2014

Weighted Average Exercise Price

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price Balance

 
 
 
i) On April 11, 2014, 200,000 options were granted with a fair value of $0.05 per option.  The fair value of 

each option granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 
the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

             Number of options 200,000 
             Estimated life 5 years 
             Share price at date of grant $0.07 
             Option exercise price $0.15 
             Risk free interest rate 1.16% 
             Estimated annual volatility 107% 
             Option fair value $0.05 
             Fair value of compensation granted during period $9,560 
 
ii) On May 1, 2014, 450,000 options were granted with a fair value of $0.077 per option.  The fair value of 

each option granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with 
the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

             Number of options 450,000 
             Estimated life 5 years 
             Share price at date of grant $0.085 
             Option exercise price $0.15 
             Risk free interest rate 1.16% 
             Estimated annual volatility 159% 
             Option fair value $0.077 
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             Fair value of compensation granted during period $34,560 
 

 

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Disclosures: 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, short term investments, receivables, trade and other payables, 
due to related parties, and short term loans payable. 
 

The carrying values of the above approximate their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments.  All financial instruments carried at fair value at October 31,  2014 were determined using Level 1 
inputs. 
 

(b) Financial instrument risk exposure and risk management: 
 

(i) Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.  With very limited receivables and cash on deposit with sound financial institutions, it is 
management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from the financial 
instruments. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk: 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.   As 
at October 31, 2014, the Company had current liabilities totaling $1,623,434 (2013:$717,813) and cash of $12,945 
(2013: $4,146). Exploration expenditures are largely denominated in United States dollars, and consequently any 
adverse movement in the Canadian dollar exchange rate against the United States dollar will have a negative 
impact on liquidity.   
 

(iii) Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Company’s income.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters. 
 
The Company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks. 

(iv) Currency risk: 
The Company is exposed to financial risk arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree of 
volatility of these rates.  At October 31, 2014, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following 
financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies: 
 

 US 

Dollars 

Ghana 

Cedis Euros

Cash 220              5,895           

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 431,704      198,979        1,228          

(431,483)     (193,084)    (1,228)       

CAD foreign exchange rate 1.11926       0.33389 1.41122

CAD equivalent (482,942)$      (64,469)$       (1,732)$       
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
A 10% increase in the Canadian (CAD) dollar against the foreign currency at October 31 30, 2014 would result in 
an increase (decrease) to net income in the amounts shown below, assuming that all other variables remain 
constant. 
 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, interest rates, remain constant: 
 

 US 

Dollars 

Ghana 

Cedis Euros

Change (43,148)$        (19,308)$       (123)$          
 

 
 
 
 
(v) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  The Company has $217,440 of interest bearing debt as of October 
31, 2014.  A change of 100 basis points in the interest rates would not be material to the financial statements. 

 

(vi) Other risk: 
As substantially all of the Company’s exploration activities are conducted in Ghana, the Company is subject to 
different considerations and other risks not typically associated with companies operating in North America. 
These risks relate primarily to those typically associated with developing nations, and include a greater political 
risk, changes in government’s ownership interest, sovereign risk, less developed infrastructure, and greater 
currency and inflation volatility.   
 

(c) Capital management  

The Company includes cash and equity, comprising of issued common shares, reserve for share based payments, 
and accumulated deficit, in the definition of capital.  The Company’s objective when managing capital is to 
maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management and consultants to sustain future development of the business. 

The Company’s properties are in the exploration stage and as such the Company is dependent upon external 
financings to fund activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds required.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach is 
reasonable given the relative size of the Company. There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital 
management during the nine months  ended October 31, 2014. The Company is not subject to any external 
covenants. 
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10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s related party transactions during the period: 
 
a) Management Fees 

Management fees of $127,500 (2013:$135,000) incurred in connection with day-to-day management and general 
corporate matters were paid to a consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At October 31, 2014, 
$271,500 (2013: $90,375) was owing to this consulting firm. 
 
Corporate communication fees of $67,500 (2013: $67,500) incurred in connection with the general corporate matters 
were paid to a consulting firm owned by a director of the Company. At October 31, 2014, $139,687 (2013: $45,188) 
was owing to this consulting firm. 
 
Professional services of $67,500 (2013:$67,500) charged by a consulting firm owned by an officer of the Company. At 
October 31, 2014, $142,312 (2013:$40,613) was owing to this consulting firm. 
 
Rent of $4,500 (2013:4,500) was charged to a company with a common director of the Company. 
 
As at October 31, 2014, included in due to related parties was $51,730 (2013:$Nil) in expense reimbursements owing 
to directors and officers of the company. 
 
As at October 31, 2104, included in due to related parties was $68,503 (2013:$Nil) in directors fees owing to 
directors of the company. 
 
 

b) Key Management Compensation 

Key management personnel are engaged as consultants and are recorded in notes above. 

Key Management Compensation 2014 2013

Directors and officers fees:

Douglas MacQuarrie 127,500$          135,000$         

Jagtar Sandhu 67,500             67,500            

Philip Gibbs 67,500             67,500            

Directors fees:

M. Holcombe 3,000               9,000              

F. Riedl-Riedenstein 9,000               9,000              

A. Heath 6,742               -                 

H. K. Arhin (ASG Mining Limited - Ghana) 9,523               9,384              

Robert J. Bourque (Asante GH Limited - Barbado 1,863               2,000              

Roger S. Holford (Asante GH Limited - Barbados) 1,863               2,000              

290,765$          301,384$         

October 31,
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Note: M. Holcombe resigned as a Director March 20, 2014 and A. Heath was appointed on April 9, 2014. 

During the nine months ended October 31, 2014,  share based payments to related parties had a fair value of 
$44,120. 

 

 

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

c) Short term loans 
 
As at October 31, 2014, $436,472(2013 $315,000) was owing to Goknet Mining Company Limited in respect of loans 
and advances. 
 
As at October 31, 2014 $99,517 (2013: $Nil) was owing to MIA Investments Ltd. in respect of advances.  
 
These transactions have been entered into in the normal course of operations and are recorded at their exchange 
amounts, which is the consideration agreed upon by the related parties. 
  
Amounts due to and from related parties have no fixed terms of repayment, are unsecured, and are non-interest 
bearing. 
 
Short term loans are payable within 60 days of demand notice, are unsecured and bear interest at 5% per annum. 
Advances have no fixed terms of repayment, are unsecured and are non-interest bearing. 
 
 

11. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
 

The Company is organized into business units based on mineral properties and has one reportable operating segment, 
being that of acquisition and exploration and evaluation activities. 

 
 

12. LOSS PER SHARE 

Weighted Averge Number of Common Shares

October 31, 

2014

October 31, 

2013

Issued common shares 22,481,000       22,481,000      

Weighted average number of common shares (basic and diluted) 22,481,000       22,334,004      

Loss per common share, basic and diluted 0.03$              0.02$             
 

The net effect of applying the treasury-stock method to the weighted average number of common shares had an 
anti-dilutive effect for the nine months ended October 31, 2014 and 2013. 
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